

Nordic Council of Ministers

A review of the Nordic implementation of the UNFCCC Gender Action Plan

Contents

Preface	4	
Executive Summary		
Recommendations		
Resumé	9	
1. Abbreviations	10	
2. Introduction	11	
2.1 Scope, methods, and limitations	12	
3. Background	14	
3.1 Gender mainstreaming	16	
3.2 International and Nordic commitments for gender mainstreaming	19	
3.3 Structure of the review	22	
4. Implementing the UNFCCC GAP	24	
4.1 Priority area A: Capacity Building, knowledge management and communication	24	
4.2 Priority area B: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership	47	
4.3 Priority area C: Coherence	58	
4.4 Priority area D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation	76	
4.5 Priority area E: Monitoring and reporting	104	
5. Gaps and barriers	111	
5.1 Priority Area A: Capacity Building, knowledge management and communication	111	

5.2 Priority area B: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership	113
5.3 Priority area C: Coherence	114
5.4 Priority area D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation	116
5.5 Priority area E: Monitoring and reporting	117
6. Best practices	118
6.1 National level	118
6.2 Local and municipal level	120
6.3 Civil society	121
7. Conclusions	122
8. Recommendations	127
8.1 The Nordic Co-operation	127
8.2 National governmental level	128
8.3 Regional and local levels	129
9. List of references	130
10. Appendix	151
10.1 Appendix A – Methodology and limitations	151
10.2 Appendix B – The UNFCCC GAP	157
10.3 Appendix C - List of stakeholders contacted and consulted	159
About this publication	164

This publication is also available online in a web-accessible version at: https://pub.norden.org/temanord2024-521

Preface

At COP25 (2019), the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and its Parties adopted the five-year Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender (LWPG) along with a Gender Action Plan (GAP). The UNFCCC GAP outlines five priority areas aiming at advancing knowledge and understanding of gender responsive climate action, including activities for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement. The UNFCCC GAP covers the efforts of participating Parties, the secretariat, various United Nations bodies, and stakeholders at all levels, with the overarching goal of ensuring women's complete, equal, and meaningful involvement in the UNFCCC process.

At the UN Commission on the Status of Women (CSW66) in 2022, the Nordic Ministers for Gender Equality made a commitment to promote international cooperation, alliance, and advocacy on the interconnections between climate action and gender equality, as well as strengthening gender mainstreaming in climate policies. The Nordic Vision for 2030 is to become the most sustainable and integrated region in the world. For gender equality, an important part of this is a more integrated approach to gender mainstreaming.

Prior to the culmination of the Enhanced LWPG at COP29 in 2024, the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP will be evaluated at the SBI 61 in November 2024. As this evaluation approaches, an opportunity arises for countries to exchange experiences and contribute to a potential new GAP. Thus, the purpose of the review at hand is to assess the current state of gender mainstreaming within Nordic climate policies, as well as gather national practices from Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden in accordance with the priority areas of the UNFCCC GAP. The review also explores gaps and barriers, exemplary cases to enhance knowledge sharing among the Nordic countries, as well as recommendations for furthering the gender mainstreaming of enhancing the implementation of genderresponsive climate action.

This review has been commissioned by the Nordic Working Group for Climate and Air under the Nordic Council of Ministers, with funding from both the Nordic Council of Ministers for the Environment and Climate, and Gender Equality and LGBTI. It has been carried out in the autumn and winter of 2023/2024 by Norion Consult in collaboration with Ekvalita, Ráður, Chalmers University, CICERO and Equality Research Helsinki. The review has been conducted in consultation with a reference group consisting of Nordic public servants, but any recommendations and views are those of the consultant.

It is hoped that the review will inform and inspire policy makers, practitioners, members of the civil society, business and industry, as well as set the stage for sharing experience between the countries.

Executive Summary

This report reviews the implementation of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change's Gender Action Plan (UNFCCC GAP) across the Nordic countries, focusing on Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden.

This review finds that the Nordic region demonstrates commitment to integrating gender equality perspectives into climate policies, paving the way for a just transition to a green economy. It underscores the significance of institutional mechanisms and supportive structures in promoting gender mainstreaming in climate policies, exemplified by national measures and initiatives such as interministerial gender mainstreaming working groups and coordinators in Sweden, Finland and Iceland, mandatory gender budgeting in Iceland, obligatory gender relevance testing in Denmark, and gender quota legislation Norway, Iceland, and Denmark. Overall, numerous examples of applied gender mainstreaming exist within the realm of climate policy in the Nordic countries, particularly in Sweden, Iceland, and Finland. However, challenges across the Nordic countries persist in fully integrating gender perspectives into climate policies. Gaps and barriers in implementing the UNFCCC GAP are identified to varying extents across all Nordic countries. Common observations include inadequate resource allocation for conducting gender analyses, lack of relevant trainings, and tools available for policy makers, as well as knowledge on the gendered impacts of climate policies and climate change in a Nordic context. Furthermore, there is a need for more systematic monitoring- and reporting mechanisms to support the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP.

Despite these challenges and barriers in implementing the UNFCCC GAP in the Nordic countries, the review overall shows a strong commitment to integrate gender equality perspectives in climate policy and into the green transition. The review also finds that the Nordic Council of Ministers has a significant role in promoting gender mainstreaming in climate policies in the Nordic countries, through political commitments, events, publications, and other knowledgestrengthening activities.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are aimed at advancing the development and implementation of gender-responsive climate policy in the Nordic countries. The recommendations are divided into the governmental levels of the Nordic cooperation, the national governments, and the municipal and local governments, respectively.

The Nordic Co-operation

- **Develop indicators and targets** aligned with UNFCCC Gender Action Plan for each of the focus areas outlined in the Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice and follow up by regularly evaluating the implementation process in the Nordic region.
- Establish a mechanism for regular collection of resources and best practices
 from Nordic countries, for instance every two years, demonstrating or
 supporting the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. Translate existing
 relevant guides, tools, and other resources presented in this review from local
 languages to other Nordic languages and/or English for broader accessibility.
 These resources may be made available on the recently launched Knowledge
 Hub on Gender Equality and Green Transition, which, moreover, should be
 broadly promoted among stakeholders and policymakers at all levels across
 the Nordic countries.
- Facilitate high-level cross-Nordic events, conferences, roundtables etc. with relevant Nordic ministers within both climate- and gender equality agendas to bring attention to the commitment and relevance of gender mainstreaming in climate policy- and action, and to discuss the Nordic experiences, efforts, challenges, and best practices in implementing the UNFCCC GAP.
- Commission projects aimed at
 - **collecting and analysing Nordic case examples** demonstrating how gender mainstreaming efforts within the green transition supports the efficiency in reaching climate goals, and develop a case catalogue that showcases "the business case" on gender mainstreaming in climate policy through data and inspiring examples.
 - **investigating and documenting the consequences of climate change and resilience** from an intersectional gender perspective within the Nordic region.

• Integrate gender equality considerations into the application process for commissioned projects within the field of climate policy and green transition by setting up requirements for gender-responsive initiatives related to e.g. project team, project activities or objectives, as well as impact assessments and evaluations.

National governmental level

- **Develop national strategies for implementing the UNFCCC GAP**, i.e. for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, including the translation and formulation of activities, targets, and indicators within each of the five priority areas of the GAP. The strategy should include:
 - Clear allocation of responsibilities and resources for implementation
 - Guidelines to integrate gender equality into climate policy documents, such as individual sections in UNFCCC submissions and National Climate Action Plans. This involves systematically specifying how gender equality is embedded in the concept of 'just transition' in both a domestic and international climate policy context.
 - Activities aimed at fostering more gender balance within STEM education and professions.
 - Measures to enhance accountability, transparency, and monitoring of gender mainstreaming in climate policy.
- Establish inter-ministerial working groups and appoint coordinators with high-level support and allocated resources (time and budget) for their work of gender mainstreaming in climate policy, specifically implementing the UNFCCC GAP in a national context, i.e., in both domestic and international climate policy contexts.
- Ensure systematic and inclusive involvement and collaboration with external gender experts, including both inter-governmental- and non-governmental experts such as the Gender Equality Department and NGO's, researchers, etc. in all phases of implementing the UNFCCC GAP, from knowledge building, to conducting analyses and assessments, to monitoring.
- Facilitate knowledge sharing events, e.g. conferences, to engage relevant stakeholders, including those who can share knowledge and best practices, such as researchers, organisations, or regional, municipal, or other Nordic policymakers. Topics could include the relevance of integrating gender equality into domestic climate policy through concrete measures taken in Iceland, Sweden, or Finland.

The recommendations presented in the next section targeted regional and local levels, is largely also relevant and important to consider at a national governance level.

Regional and local levels

- Allocate time and resources to gather and utilise existing data in gender analysis and/or gender impact assessments within specific, delineated areas of climate policy, such as for instance infrastructural planning, to identify gender-specific concerns or impacts. To know more about gender analyses, see chapter 3.1 and 4.1.5.
- Integrate gender equality indicators and targets into existing frameworks and networks focused on regional and municipal commitments and reporting on implementing the Paris Agreement and Agenda 2030. Examples include Viable Cities (NO), DK2020 (DK), Nordic Transition Partnership for Climate Neutral Cities 2030 (NTP), C40 (global) or the Smart City program.
- Enhance knowledge sharing across regions and municipalities within and across the Nordic countries, for instance through networks like those mentioned above.
- **Provide training programmes, courses and/or workshops for staff** to enhance their level of knowledge and competences in gender mainstreaming the green transition on regional and/or municipal level.

Resumé

Denne rapport undersøger implementeringen af UNFCCC's Gender Action Plan i de nordiske lande med fokus på Danmark, Finland, Island, Norge og Sverige.

Med udgangspunkt i den dataindsamling, der ligger til grund for rapporten, kan det konkluderes, at de nordiske lande viser engagement i at integrere ligestillingsperspektiver i klimapolitik og dermed bane vejen for en mere retfærdig, grøn omstilling. Rapporten understreger betydningen af institutionelle mekanismer og understøttende strukturer, som fremmer køns- og ligestillingsintegrering (gender mainstreaming) i klimapolitikker. De fem lande demonstrerer dette gennem bl.a. tværministerielle arbejdsgrupper for ligestillingsintegrering og ligestillingskoordinatorer i Sverige, Finland og Island, obligatorisk kønsspecifik budgettering (gender budgeting) i Island, obligatorisk relevanstestning for køns- og ligestillingsperspektiver i lovforslag i Danmark, og kønskvoter i Norge, Island og Danmark.

Selvom undersøgelsen viser mange eksempler på brugen af køns- og ligestillingsintegrering i klimapolitikker i Norden, specielt i Sverige, Island og Finland, er der fortsat udfordringer og barrierer. Det omfatter bl.a. utilstrækkelig ressourceallokering til køns- og ligestillingsanalyse (gender analysis), mangel på relevante træninger og værktøjer til køns- og ligestillingsintegrering i klimapolitikker målrettet beslutningstagere, samt manglende viden om kønsspecifikke effekter af klimaforandringer og klimapolitikker i en national og nordisk kontekst. Derudover er der brug for mere systematiske monitorerings- og rapporteringsmekanismer, som kan understøtte implementeringen af UNFCCC GAP.

Generelt viser undersøgelsen dog, at der er et stort engagement i de nordiske lande i forhold til at integrere ligestillingsperspektiver i klimapolitikker og i den grønne omstilling. Undersøgelsen viser også, at Nordisk Ministerråd har en betydelig rolle i forhold til at promovere og understøtte integreringen af køns- og ligestillingsperspektiver i nordiske klimapolitikker, bl.a. gennem events, publiceringer og andre vidensaktiviteter.

1. Abbreviations

NCM	The Nordic Council of Ministers
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
UNFCCC GAP	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change's Gender Action Plan
LWPG	Lima Work Programme on Gender
NGCCFP	National Gender & Climate Change Focal Point
GIA	Gender Impact Assessment
EIGE	The European Institute for Gender Equality
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SBI	Subsidiary Body for Implementation
STEM	Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics

2. Introduction

For decades, Nordic countries have been working collaboratively towards achieving the goals of the Beijing Platform for Action, formulated in 1995 and known as the most comprehensive and transformative global agenda for achieving gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls.^[1] While progress has been made, challenges relating to gender pay gaps, occupational segregation, gendered violence and harassment, and work-life imbalances persist.^[2] These challenges extend into the realm of climate policy as well.^[3]

In 2019 at COP25, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) and its Parties adopted The Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender (LWPG) and its Gender Action Plan.^[4] The responsibility of implementing the UNFCCC's Gender Action Plan (GAP)^[5] rests on both the UNFCCC secretariat, United Nations entities, the work of Parties, and all stakeholders at all levels. Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden thereby committed to advancing knowledge and understanding of gender-responsive climate action and mainstreaming gender equality into the implementation of the Paris Agreement.^[6]

Although the Nordic countries have generally been pioneering the path towards climate neutrality and gender equality, it is acknowledged among decision-makers that a more integrated approach based on gender mainstreaming is needed. At the UN Commission on the Status of Women (CSW66) in 2022, the Nordic Ministers for Gender Equality and LGBTI made a commitment to promote international cooperation, alliance and advocacy on the interconnections between climate action and gender equality. They also pledged to develop and share knowledge on various aspects, including how the Nordics countries work to gender mainstream climate policy in a structured way, ensure inclusive green jobs, strengthen the representation of women in climate change decision-making, and work with gender analysis and gender budgeting in climate policy design- and measures.^[7] Aligned with this commitment made by Nordic ministers, this review accentuates a focus on gender equality in the realm of climate policy and green transition.

As the culmination of the Enhanced LWPG at COP29 in 2024 approaches, an opportunity arises for countries to exchange experiences and contribute to a potential new GAP. Thus, the review at hand aims to assess the current state of

^{1.} UN Women (2015). Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BPFA), Beijing +5 Political Declaration and Outcome. Reprinted version of the BPfA. Nordic Council of Ministers (2020). The Nordic road towards Beijing +25

Nordic Council of Ministers (2020). The Nordic roda towards beijing +23
 Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., et al. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic

Contries
 UNFCCC (2020). Enhanced Lima work programme on gender and its gender action plan. Decision 3/CP.25.
 Throughout the report, the Gender Action Plan will be referred to as the UNFCCC GAP
 UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 3/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and

^{7.} Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice.

gender mainstreaming within Nordic climate policies and gather national practices, insights into gaps and barriers, and exemplary cases to enhance knowledge sharing among the Nordic countries.

The structure of the review and report is based on the five priority areas of the UNFCCC GAP, namely: 'A: Capacity-building, knowledge management and communication', 'B: Gender balance, participation and women's leadership', 'C: Coherence', 'D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation' and 'E: Monitoring and reporting.'

The report presents best practices and recommendations based on the findings and review of gender mainstreaming in climate policy, thus pointing towards further development and implementation of gender-responsive climate policy in the Nordic countries, targeted the Nordic Co-operation, as well as national and regional/local levels.

2.1 Scope, methods, and limitations

The scope of this review is the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP in the five Nordic countries Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden, primarily at a national level focusing primarily on domestic climate policy, while still including data and information on gender-responsive climate initiatives in foreign- and development policy. For an in-depth review of Nordic gender mainstreaming efforts in foreign- and development policy in relation to climate, see the recent review "Climate finance and gender: lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in climate-related development finance".^[8]

Regional and local/municipal examples of gender mainstreaming in climate policy have been incorporated as **best-practice examples** in the report, and gathered in chapter 6.

In assessing the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP, **binary gender terminology** has been used, in line with the terminology of the UNFCCC GAP's focus exclusively on women and men. The same binary gender conception is employed in Nordic policy-making, except in Iceland, which has included a third gender option, 'X', in official documents in alignment with the Gender Autonomy Act from 2019.^[9]

The absence of a unified reporting structure and indicators for evaluating the UNFCCC GAP implementation has challenged the process of reviewing the Nordic countries' national, regional, and local implementation of the plan in a systematic way.^[10]

^{8.} Inka Consult (2023). Climate finance and gender: lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in

climate-related development finance.

Icelandic Prime Minister's Office (2019). Act on Gender Autonomy No 80 /2019 as amended by Act No. 159/2019, No. 152/2020 and No. 154/2020; The Gender Autonomy Act provides the right for individuals to define their own gender including gender neutral registration. 10. UNFCCC, SBI (2022). Implementation of the activities contained in the gender action plan, areas for

improvement and further work to be undertaken

The review draws on **desk studies**, screenings of relevant **policy- documents** and **reports**, as well as the involvement of **policymakers** and **gender- and climate experts** via interviews, e-mail questionnaires and online focus groups. The focus groups (5 in total) were conducted in online break-out rooms in an online cross-Nordic workshop in December 2023. Representatives from all five countries have participated in the NKL project steering group, sharing inputs for the review through contributing with contacts, relevant documents and feedback. Several of the steering group members also participated in focus groups. In total, nine intergovernmental stakeholders took part in e-mail questionnaires or interviews and/or focus groups. Five regional and municipal stakeholders contributed to the review via an e-mail questionnaire or participation in a focus group. Furthermore, 21 non-governmental stakeholders from gender- or climate organisations contributed via e-mail questionnaire or focus group. Furthermore, the version of the report has been shared with officials from relevant ministries across the Nordic countries and revised based on inputs received.

With regard to **limitations**, following the SBI's latest report on implementing the activities contained in the UNFCCC GAP, the absence of a unified reporting structure and indicators for evaluating success combined with the limited amount of standardised, comparable, and comprehensive data, makes a cross-country review challenging.^[11] In addition, the current study's reviewers have found that reviewing the Nordic countries' implementation of the UNFCCC GAP is challenging due to variations in translations, application, and comprehension of gender mainstreaming concepts and terms across these countries.

Furthermore, it should be noted that this review is designed to provide a broad perspective across the five Nordic countries, primarily on a national level. The review has adopted an ad hoc approach to case collection on the regional and local levels, relying on targeted online searches, inquiries, and interviews.

A short timeline and the data collection taking place throughout the preparation, execution, and debriefing phases of COP28 have introduced certain constraints regarding the level of detail in parts of the data material. Moreover, given the varying stages of gender mainstreaming, the comprehensiveness and depth of each country's profile will naturally differ.

See <u>Appendix A</u>, for further description of methodology and limitations, incl. a list of contributors (<u>appendix C</u>).

^{11.} UNFCCC, SBI (2022). Implementation of the activities contained in the gender action plan, areas for improvement and further work to be undertaken

3. Background

The integration of gender equality within the global climate action framework has been progressively emphasised since the early 1990s, beginning with foundational conferences and conventions that recognised the essential role of women in environmental conservation and sustainable development.^[12] The Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro in 1992 was a landmark event, establishing critical agreements like Agenda 21, the UNFCCC, and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), which acknowledged the importance of women's participation in environmental management and conservation. These foundational steps laid the groundwork for subsequent global agreements and initiatives aimed at integrating gender considerations into climate change policies and actions.^[13]

In 1995, during the Fourth World Conference on Women hosted by the UN, The Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BPfA), was established as a pivotal document for advancing women's empowerment and achieving gender equality globally. The BPfA specifically recognises the critical link between women, climate, and the environment, emphasising the importance of women's roles in environmental management and sustainable development. The Platform addresses the need for women's active participation in environmental decision-making and the integration of gender perspectives in sustainable development policies and acknowledges that environmental degradation disproportionately affects women, particularly in areas of poverty and where livelihoods are closely tied to natural resources. The BPfA call for global and national efforts to ensure women's equal access to environmental resources, involvement in climate change strategies, and capacity-building for environmental sustainability. This highlights the recognition of gender equality as essential not only in social, economic, and political spheres but also in addressing environmental and climate challenges.^[14]

Moving forward to the contemporary framework established by the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, gender equality and women's empowerment are not only recognised as standalone goals (SDG 5) but also as pivotal for achieving the broader Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).^[15] This recognition highlights the necessity of gender mainstreaming in all areas of development, including climate change mitigation and adaptation and resilience. The Paris Agreement further solidified this approach by encouraging states to incorporate gender-responsive actions into their climate commitments.^[16]

^{12.} UN Women (2015). Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BPfA), Beijing +5 Political Declaration and

UN WOMEN (2015). Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BFIA), Beijing +5 Political Declaration and Outcome
 EIGE (2016). Gender in Environment and Climate Change
 UN WOMEN (2015). Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, Beijing +5 Political Declaration and Outcome
 UN WOMEN (2022). In focus: Sustainable Development Goal 5; UN WOMEN (n.d.). The 2030 Agenda for

Sustainable Development. 16. UNFCCC. (n.d.). Chronology of gender in the intergovernmental process. https://unfccc.int/topics/gender/workstreams/chronology-of-gender-in-the-intergovernmental-process

The LWPG and its GAP - with amendments

At COP 25 the parties adopted the 5-year Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender and its associated Gender Action Plan (GAP). This decision underscored the commitment of the Parties to prioritize gender-responsive climate action and promote the integration of gender perspectives within the UNFCCC's implementation processes. At COP 26, Parties further strengthened their commitment to this by adopting Decision 20/CP.26, which included provisions related to reviewing the implementation of the Gender Action Plan. This decision further highlighted the significance of addressing gender considerations in climate policies. Subsequently, during COP 27, Parties conducted an intermediate review of the Gender Action Plan's implementation, building upon earlier decisions. This review resulted in amendments to certain deliverables and the introduction of three new activities in priority area C. and E.

The UNFCCC's Lima Work Programme on Gender and its Gender Action Plan represent significant efforts to embed gender considerations within the climate change agenda.^[17] These initiatives aim to advance knowledge, understanding, and the implementation of gender-responsive climate actions at all levels, ensuring women's full, meaningful participation in the climate process. The aim of the UNFCCC GAP is:

"[To] advance knowledge and understanding of gender-responsive climate action and its coherent mainstreaming in the implementation of the UNFCCC and the work of Parties, the secretariat, UNs entities and all stakeholders at all levels, as well as women's full, equal and meaningful participation in the UNFCCC process." [18]

For each of the five priority areas of the UNFCCC GAP (outlined in the introduction chapter), various activities, levels of implementation, stakeholders responsible and expected outputs are described. For a full overview of the action plan, its priority areas, and associated activity descriptions, including output and responsibility, see Appendix B or the GAP with amendments.^[19]

The forthcoming evaluation of the Enhanced LWPG and its GAP at the Subsidiary Body for Implementation's (SBI) 61st session in November 2024, leading to the programme conclusion at COP29, marks a critical juncture for assessing and enhancing the implementation of gender-responsive climate action. To inform the

UNFCCC (2020). Enhanced Lima work programme on gender and its gender action plan. Decision 3/CP.25.
 UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 3/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and

UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 3/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and 15/CP.28
 UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 2/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and 18/CP.28

UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 3/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and 15/CP.28

UNFCCC's synthesis evaluation report, stakeholders, including Parties, UN entities, and relevant organisations, are requested to provide their feedback on the effectiveness, barriers, and future priorities in implementing the GAP by March 31, 2024.^[20] This process of evaluating the GAP is crucial for evaluating the progress, challenges, and future directions of gender mainstreaming in climate policy and aligns with the objectives captured in the 2022-SBI report, emphasising the need for enhanced actions and reporting structures to successfully implement the GAP.

The following section is a brief introduction to the strategy and methods of gender mainstreaming, as this review – guided by the structure of the UNFCCC GAP, whose implementation it aims to assess - de facto reviews the Nordic efforts in terms of gender mainstreaming in climate policy.

3.1 Gender mainstreaming

This section introduces the *what*, the *why*, and the *how* of gender mainstreaming, based on resources provided by The European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE), ^[22] UN Women and the Council of Europe.

The 1997 agreed conclusions of the United Nations Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) defined gender mainstreaming as: "The process of assessing the implications for women and men of any planned action, including legislation, policies or programmes, in all areas and at all levels"^[23], which remains the most widely used definition. Based on the ECOSOC definition, the Council of Europe defines gender mainstreaming in Europe as:

"[T]he (re)organisation, improvement, development and evaluation of policy processes, so that a gender equality perspective is incorporated in all policies at all levels at all stages, by the actors involved in policy-making."^[24]

What is gender mainstreaming? To achieve gender equality, a dual approach is necessary to make transformative change. This so-called twin-track approach involves both targeted actions focused on addressing specific gender equality challenges and integrated actions making all policies and programs genderresponsive. The latter is referred to as gender mainstreaming.

 ^{20.} UNFCCC (2023). Gender and climate change. Draft conclusions proposed by the Chair. Recommendation of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation; UNFCCC (2024). Parties Will Decide the Future of the Gender Agenda in the UN Climate Change Process This Year
 21. UNFCCC, SBI (2022). Implementation of the activities contained in the gender action plan, areas for

improvement and further work to be undertaken

^{22.} EIGE (2019). Gender Analysis

^{23.} ECOSOC (1997). Gender Mainstreaming. Agreed conclusions.

²⁴ Council of Europe, Equality Division, Directorate General of Human Rights (2004). Gender mainstreaming -Conceptual framework, methodology, and presentation of good practices

Gender mainstreaming is a multifaceted strategy to integrate a gender perspective into all levels and stages of policy and program development, from preparation to evaluation – across all sectors and at both international, national, and subnational levels. By integrating gender perspectives across all policies and programs, gender mainstreaming ensures that these initiatives are responsive to the diverse needs of society, thereby preventing the perpetuation of existing inequalities. At its core, gender mainstreaming is about improving the quality, relevance, and effectiveness of policy-making and legislative work by considering gender implications at every stage and, by doing so, ensuring gender-responsive (or transformative) policies. The approach is aligned with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, focusing on human rights, justice, the rule of law, and accountability, particularly emphasising vulnerable groups and the principle of leaving no one behind.

Why gender mainstream? The approach of gender mainstreaming is particularly important as traditional policies often fail to recognise the different gendered impacts, operating under the assumption of gender neutrality, even though structural gender inequalities persist. Gender mainstreaming seeks not just to prevent new inequalities but also to address and rectify existing ones. This involves identifying current gender disparities and developing policies to undo the underlying causes of these inequalities. Incorporating gender perspectives is a way to ensure that inequalities are not perpetuated. Gender mainstreaming pays special attention to vulnerable and marginalised groups, recognising the necessity of an intersectional approach that addresses the unique challenges faced by groups experiencing multiple forms of discrimination. By focusing on these groups, gender mainstreaming ensures that no one is left behind and that policies and programs are inclusive and equitable for all, regardless of gender.

To put it briefly, gender mainstreaming is considered essential in achieving gender equality.

How to perform gender mainstreaming? Gender mainstreaming is implemented through measures such as:

- **Policy and legislative frameworks** demonstrating commitment to gender equality and gender mainstreaming.
- Action plans and strategies, including objectives, targets, actions, steps, methods, and responsibilities in terms of gender mainstreaming.
- **Knowledge generation** building up awareness and knowledge on gender equality and gender mainstreaming, e.g. through courses and training programs.
- **Resources** allocated for gender mainstreaming activities.
- **Stakeholder involvement** with a focus on involving diverse stakeholder groups, including women from local communities and Indigenous Peoples.
- **Engagement of gender expertise** involving consultation with both internal and external experts in gender equality and gender mainstreaming.

- Monitoring and evaluation ensuring accountability and reporting mechanisms to track progress, gaps etc.
- Initiatives aimed at achieving gender balance in decision-making
- Gender-responsive language in policy documents, ensuring that policies address gender equality.
- Collection and availability of sex-disaggregated data to establish a foundation for gender analyses, impact assessments and gender budgeting.
- Application of data in gender analyses
 - Gender analyses identify differences between women and men in • terms of their relative position in society and the distribution of resources, opportunities, constraints, and power in a given context. The first step is to collect available data and identify data gaps, and the second step is to uncover the underlying causes of gender inequalities. The third step is to let the analysis inform policies, programmes and projects directly, or to inform more specific gender impact assessments.

Gender Impact Assessment (GIA)

- GIA is an ex-ante assessment of a law, policy, or programme to estimate the likelihood of a given decision having positive, negative, or neutral consequences for the state of gender equality. A primary objective is to adapt the policy to ensure that discriminatory effects are removed or reduced. Beyond avoiding negative effects, a GIA as well as a gender analysis, can also be used in a more transformative way as a tool for defining gender equality objectives and formulating the policy to proactively promote gender equality.
- Gender budgeting
 - Gender budgeting is an approach for enhancing gender equality • through budget management, e.g. how public resources are collected and spent. Though seemingly gender-neutral, national budgets impact individuals differently based on gender and identity. By analysing the budget from a gender perspective, gender budgeting exposes these disparities and integrates gender perspectives throughout the budgeting process.

EIGE provides detailed information and guides for institutions on gender mainstreaming, gender budgeting and other gender-responsive initiatives.^[25] Also, in 2023, the OECD launched The Toolkit for Mainstreaming and Implementing Gender Equality.^[26] It is a practical resource to help governments, parliaments, and

EIGE (n.d.). Gender mainstreaming
 OECD (2023). Toolkit for Mainstreaming and Implementing Gender Equality 2023

judiciaries implement the OECD Recommendation on Gender Equality in Public Life. In the context of the Nordic countries and in relation to climate work, chapter 5.1.3 in this report contains more information on tools and guiding resources. For further information on gender mainstreaming as well as guides and tools, visit EIGE's platform on the subject.^[27]

In summary, gender mainstreaming is a comprehensive approach that embeds gender equality in every aspect of policy-making. It requires a systematic consideration of gender differences and aims to create policies that are inclusive, equitable, and responsive to the needs of all individuals, regardless of gender.

3.2 International and Nordic commitments for gender mainstreaming

This section describes the international and Nordic mandates for gender mainstreaming and obligations to work towards gender equality.

The Nordic countries were among the 189 states approving the ambitious Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BPfA) in 1995. The BPfA outlines 12 critical areas of concern focusing on safeguarding women's human rights and ensuring that gender considerations are integrated into all national, regional, and international policies and programs.^[28] Progress on implementing the BPfA is reviewed every five years by the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW), with reports based on national reviews from UN member countries. Five reviews have been conducted, the latest in 2020, based on national review reports submitted in 2019 [29]

In the context of the European Union, gender mainstreaming is a fundamental principle and member states are obligated to integrate gender perspectives into their policies and activities as part of their commitment to promoting gender equality.^[30] The Amsterdam Treaty, which entered into force in 1999, played a crucial role in embedding gender mainstreaming into EU policies and activities. Article 3(2) of the Treaty on the European Union (TEU) and Article 8 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union (TFEU) specifically emphasise the importance of promoting gender equality as a fundamental EU objective. These articles require member states to actively work towards eliminating gender discrimination and promoting gender equality in all aspects of their policies and actions.^[31]

^{27.} EIGE (n.d.). Gender mainstreaming; EIGE (2017). Environment and climate change

 ^{28.} UN WOMEN (2015). Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, Beijing +5 Political Declaration and Outcome
 29. Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) (n.d). Monitoring and reviews.

Council of Europe (n.d.). Council of Europe standards and institutional setting
 See the Gender Equality Strategy of the EU (provided at the European Commission's webpage) and the Gender Action Plan III: Towards a Gender-Equal World provided by the European Union External Action Services (EEAS)

While Norway and Iceland are not EU member states, they have strong commitments to gender equality and have integrated similar principles into their national policies and international agreements. These countries are part of the European Economic Area (EEA) and participate in various EU programs and initiatives. Additionally, they are signatories to international agreements and conventions on women's rights, such as the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW) and member states of the Council of Europe.

Following the UNFCCC GAP, member states are encouraged to "participate and engage in the implementation of the gender-related activities within the gender action plan, as appropriate."^[32] The action plan thus mandates the incorporation of gender perspectives and the promotion of gender equality in all aspects of climate policy planning and implementation. The aim is to ensure that climate actions are both effective and equitable, addressing the diverse needs and contributions of both women and men in combating climate change.

At the 66th session of the Commission on the Status of Women (CSW66) in 2022, a landmark agreement was reached, signalling a significant global commitment to integrating gender equality into climate action. This agreement, endorsed by UN member states, established a comprehensive framework for addressing the intertwined challenges of climate change and gender inequality. It emphasised the need for structural changes to ensure equal participation of women in climate action, recognising the critical role of gender considerations in shaping effective and equitable climate policies. This historic agreement represents a pivotal moment in global efforts to mainstream gender perspectives into all aspects of climate strategy. It sets forth clear directives for member states to incorporate genderresponsive approaches in their climate actions, ensuring that policies and initiatives are inclusive and address the unique impacts of climate change on women and marginalised groups. The CSW66 agreement marks a significant step forward in acknowledging and addressing the gender-climate nexus as well as the intersectional perspectives of climate issues, laying a foundation for more inclusive and sustainable climate solutions worldwide.^[33]

^{32.} UNFCCC (2023). The Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender (Decision 3/CP.25, §17) 33. UN Women (2022). CSW66 (2022).

Gender Mainstreaming in Nordic languages

Denmark: "Ligestillingsvurdering"

Finland: "Sukupuolinäkökulman valtavirtaistaminen", "Jämställdhetsintegrering/ Könskonsekvensbedömning"

Iceland: "Kynjasamþætting/kønsintegrering"

Norway: "Sektoransvar for integrering av kjønnslikestilling"

Sweden: "Jämställhetsintegrering"

In 2022, the Nordic Council of Ministers (NCM), following a decision by the Nordic ministers for gender equality and LGBTI to deepen their understanding of the gender-climate nexus, committed to a pioneering initiative under the Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice. This initiative, titled "A Green and Gender-equal Nordic Region," received widespread support from Nordic governments, marking a unified stride towards a region that balances environmental sustainability with gender equality.^[34] This commitment for the 2022-2024 period focuses on seven key areas:

- the Nordic region works to ensure inclusive green jobs and educational opportunities, focusing on reducing the vertical and horizontal gendersegregation in the labor market, especially in STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) education and employment.
- the Nordic governments are working to ensure and strengthen the representation, empowerment, and influence of women in all their diversity in climate change decision-making and action at all national and international levels.
- the Nordic region works to transition to sustainable consumption, including analyses of different consumption patterns by men and women.
- the Nordic region works with sex-disaggregated data related to climate action and CO2 emissions.
- the Nordic region works with gender analysis in climate policy design.
- the Nordic region works with gender budgeting for climate policy measures.
- the Nordic region works to gender mainstream climate policy in a structured way."^[35]

^{34.} Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's

Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice 35. Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice

These efforts reflect a holistic approach to addressing climate change, acknowledging its differential impacts across genders and communities, and underscore the NCM's dedication to integrating sustainable development, gender equality, and inclusivity into its climate initiatives, aligning with goals outlined in the UNFCCC GAP.

Additionally, the NCM is committed to leading by example in integrating not only gender equality but also child rights and youth perspectives and sustainable development as such into all its operations, as it has adopted an official policy for mainstreaming these three cross-cutting perspectives.^[36] This mainstreaming policy is guided by international commitments like the SDGs, the UN Convention on the CEDAW, and the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC). The policy implementation is supported by a mainstreaming guide targeted at all staff and partners of the NCM.^[37] The guide emphasises the importance of systematically analysing and incorporating these perspectives into every aspect of the work, from planning to evaluation, and provides practical steps and principles for integrating the cross-cutting perspectives - referred to as the horizontal perspectives. In the guide, a model for mainstreaming is presented, outlining four basic steps or phases of the mainstreaming cycle, which largely corresponds with the main structure of the UNFCCC GAP; '1: Develop knowledge and expertise', 2: 'Conduct impact analyses', '3: Set goals, plan and implement', '4: Follow up and evaluate.' The implementation of the mainstreaming policy is supported by the IMPOLICY project, which was initiated in 2021 and will run until 2024.

3.3 Structure of the review

The following chapter 4 focuses on the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. The structure of the sections in this chapter is based on the five priority areas of the UNCFCCC GAP, namely: 'A: Capacity-building, knowledge management and communication', 'B: Gender balance, participation and women's leadership', 'C: Coherence', 'D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation' and 'E: Monitoring and reporting.' Each sub-chapter ends with a summary.

Chapter 4.1 focuses on priority area A, focusing on enhancing knowledge and skills for integrating gender equality in climate work, emphasising the development of gender-responsive climate policies through promoting guidelines and training in gender mainstreaming and collecting and applying sex-disaggregated data in gender analyses alongside activities aimed at disseminating information on the relevance and importance of gender mainstreaming within climate policy and action.

^{36.} Nordic Council of Ministers (2020). Nordic Council of Ministers policy for mainstreaming sustainable

development, gender equality, and a child rights and youth perspective 37. Nordic Council of Ministers (2021). Nordic Council of Ministers guidance for mainstreaming sustainable development, gender equality, and a child rights and youth perspective

<u>Chapter 4.2</u> assesses **priority area B** on gender balance and participation, specifically focusing on representation in decision-making, involvement of Indigenous Peoples, and gender equality in the green jobs sector, including efforts to ensure gender balance within STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) disciplines.

<u>Chapter 4.3</u> concerns **priority area C** on 'coherence' and focuses on adapting international policies to national governance and ensuring consistent gender mainstreaming across policy areas and levels to strengthen institutions and improve organisational effectiveness. This includes supporting the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP through policies, legislative frameworks, and procedures that support gender mainstreaming.

<u>Chapter 4.4</u> focuses on **priority area D**, which is about gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation. The chapter looks into the degree of involvement of gender experts and the employment of key measures of gender mainstreaming, i.e. gender impact assessments and gender budgeting. The chapter also assesses the gender-responsiveness of climate policies relevant to the implementation of the Paris Agreement by screening policy documents such as the Long-term Low-emissions strategies submitted to the UNFCCC, the latest review reports and the national Climate Action Plans from the five countries, respectively.

<u>Chapter 4.5</u> assesses **priority area E** concerning mechanisms of monitoring and reporting, as clear monitoring routines are crucial for improving accountability and fulfilling national and international reporting commitments. This furthermore boosts transparency and facilitates knowledge and experience sharing across countries.

<u>Chapter 5</u> presents gaps and barriers in implementing the UNFCCC GAP, identified in the review, followed by an overview of cases illustrating best practices in <u>Chapter</u> <u>6</u> and overall conclusions in <u>Chapter 7</u>. Finally, <u>Chapter 8</u> presents recommendations for further improvement in implementing the UNFCCC GAP in the Nordic countries.

Descriptions of **methodology, scope and limitations** and a **list of contributors** are found in the appendixes.

4. Implementing the UNFCCC GAP

In this chapter – consisting of five sub-chapters - the integration of gender equality into climate policy in Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden will be assessed by following the structure of the UNFCCC GAP, which is arranged into the five priority areas; 'A: Capacity-building, knowledge management and communication', 'B: Gender balance, participation and women's leadership', 'C: Coherence', 'D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation' and 'E: Monitoring and reporting.' These five areas are assigned a sub-chapter each. While each priority area in the UNFCCC GAP is described through a range of specific activities and objectives, this review does not assess the full list of activities and objectives in detail. The activities outlined in the UNFCCC GAP under each priority area have been analysed, prioritised, and slightly adjusted to fit the national level of implementation in a Nordic context. In this process, the assessment draws partly on the inspiration from the Swedish draft strategy for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, which offers a national review and strategy of the UNFCCC GAP implementation.^[38] In the following sub-chapters, the activities of the UNFCCC GAP priority areas are thus implicitly present in the form of key tasks described and assessed based on the data gathered in the reviewing process.

4.1 Priority area A: Capacity Building, knowledge management and communication

This chapter covering priority area A of the UNFCCC GAP addresses the intersection of gender equality and climate policy, focusing on data availability, the status of gender mainstreaming knowledge, and initiatives aimed at enhancing expertise and communication. It begins with "<u>4.1.1 Data Availability and Evidence</u> <u>Base</u>," discussing the importance of sex-disaggregated data and the variation in data collection practices across countries. "<u>4.1.2 Current Status of Knowledge and Perceived Relevance</u>" evaluates the awareness, understanding and priority of integrating gender equality in climate policy and action, reflecting on stakeholders' knowledge levels and the observed gaps. "<u>4.1.3 Training, Guidelines, and Other Knowledge-Strengthening Initiatives</u>" reviews existing resources and training for supporting gender mainstreaming in the climate policy area. "<u>4.1.4 Communication on Gender Equality in Climate Work</u>" highlights efforts to communicate on the

Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects in Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.

importance of taking gender into account in climate policy and the green transition in the Nordic region, showcasing contributions from the NCM and nongovernmental organisations. "<u>4.1.5 Data Application in Gender Analyses</u>" discusses the utilisation of gender-disaggregated data, emphasising the need for comprehensive gender analyses to inform policy-making and -implementation. The chapter concludes with a summary (<u>4.1.6</u>).

4.1.1 Data availability and evidence base

Disaggregating data by sex, socioeconomic status, and other factors is essential for developing gender-responsive climate policies and ensuring a just green transition, as it enables targeted strategies that address the specific needs, vulnerabilities, and capacities of different groups of the population. When conducting gender analyses to identify significant challenges and opportunities to understand the gender-specific impacts of climate change and policies, sex-disaggregated data and gender statistics are essential (read more about gender analyses in <u>4.1.5</u>). Sex-disaggregated data and gender statistics not explicitly relating to climate or green transition are still vital because they illuminate societal behaviors, economic dynamics, and demographic patterns within crucial sectors like transport, energy, and consumption. These sectors are integral to the transition, and understanding the reality of for instance resources, representation, and rights within a certain sector, helps to inform the development of gender-responsive climate policies targeted this specific sector.

While all countries have access to public data from the national statistical offices, the extent to which the data is sex-disaggregated and systemically collected varies, as do the specific data areas covered. Information on the status of sex-disaggregated data and gender statistics can be found, for instance, in the national-level review reports on the implementation of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BPfA), the latest from 2019, marking the twenty-fifth anniversary of the adoption of the BPfA, therefore also referred to as Beijing +25 review reports.^[39] In these reports, countries assess the progress made and outline priorities for strengthening the collection and availability of data and statistics. The following paragraphs are based on the sections on data and statistics in these reports, including questions on the priorities and the possibilities of disaggregating data, enabling a more intersectional approach in gender mainstreaming in climate policy.

Denmark has focused on reprocessing existing data to produce more disaggregated and updated gender statistics, developing a centralised web-based database on gender statistics, and engaging in capacity building to strengthen the utilisation of gender statistics. A noteworthy initiative is the dissemination of a booklet by Statistics Denmark on the historical development of conditions for women and men over the past 100 years, covering various social and demographic areas. In the period from 2019-2024, Denmark prioritises this reprocessing of existing data and conducts new surveys on specialised topics, creating knowledge products on gender

^{39.} UN Women (2019). CSW64 Preparations.

statistics. In Denmark, almost all disaggregated data (geography, income, age, education, gender etc.) is routinely provided due to the Danish register-based statistical system.^[40]

Finland has made progress in various areas, including conducting new surveys on specialised topics, improving administrative-based data sources to bridge gender data gaps, and developing a centralised web-based database on gender statistics. The country has conducted several important surveys, such as the Quality of Work Life Survey and the Gender Equality Barometer, which offers valuable insights into gender equality in Finland. In the period from 2019-2024, Finland is re-processing existing data to produce more disaggregated statistics, conducting new surveys, and producing knowledge products on gender statistics. Finland has also defined a national set of indicators for monitoring progress on the SDGs and begun data collection on SDG 5 indicators. Furthermore, disaggregation is feasible based on factors such as income, age, and education. However, regarding geographic location, sample sizes are typically insufficient to generate regional data.^[41]

Iceland regularly compiles gender statistics to monitor compliance with the Gender Equality Act and implement gender budgeting. The Icelandic government has published a mapping of gender aspects of every department of government ministries three times since 2019, with the most recent report being from 2022.^[42] The report provides an overview of available sex-disaggregated data for each department and thus serves as a resource for policymakers and others working on gender mainstreaming and GIA. In collaboration with Directorate of Equality and the Prime Minister's Office Collaborations, Statistics Iceland have published the leaflet, Women and Men in Iceland,^[43] providing statistic on gender equality in the labour market, focusing on trends, wages, and the gender pay gap.^[44] Statistics Iceland publishes data on various social aroups including immigrants disaggregated by sex, country of origin and residence.

Norway has developed national gender equality indicators, incorporating intersectional perspectives in data and statistics. It has conducted, among other, analyses of how gender and disability affect one another. Norway's surveys disaggregate respondents by various factors, including gender, age, and income. Norway plans to carry out a new 'time use' survey to further understand societal trends and gender equality.^{[45][46]}

43. Statistics Iceland (2019). Women and Men in Iceland 2019.

44. Icelandic Government, Prime Minister's Office (2019). Iceland's report on Beijing +25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).
45. The time use survey has been carried out every 10 years since 1970 and provides information on several issues that are important for monitoring societal trends from 1970 to the present today, such as caregiving work,

^{40.} Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Denmark (2019). Comprehensive national review report Beijing+25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995)

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland (2019). Comprehensive national-level review: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).
 Prime Minister's Office Ministry of Finance and Economy (2022). Mapping gender perspectives Status Report

²⁰²²

division of labour between women and men, gender equality and informal economy, consumption, welfare and lifestyle in different social layers and age group, the impact of technological development, leisure time. 46. Norwegian Ministry of Culture (2019). Beijing +25: The situation of women and girls in Norway: Development,

progress and measures 2014–2019.

Sweden's efforts in gender statistics are decentralised, with significant progress in developing indicators for gender equality policy and enhancing the gender equality statistics portal on Statistics Sweden's website. The country has emphasised gender-responsive budgeting and priorities for the next five years include improving the accessibility of gender equality statistics, enhancing data and indicators for monitoring the strategy against men's violence towards women, and addressing challenges related to sample sizes in surveys for significant gender-based conclusions. Sweden has also focused on producing national indicators for the SDGs, ensuring that data collection is inclusive and respects personal privacy.^[47]

Throughout the current review, numerous stakeholders highlighted the absence of sex-disaggregated data and knowledge of the intersection of climate and gender as barriers to gender mainstreaming. The assertion that missing data presents a barrier aligns with previous findings indicating that data on the gender impacts of climate policies are rarely clearly aggregated, analysed, and communicated.^[48] Although the existing sex-disaggregated data and evidence base is not exhaustive, this review finds that it is, in many cases, substantial enough to serve as a basis for initiating gender analyses, allowing the analyses to also identify specific data gaps. The existing data encompass various insights, including behaviour and attitudes towards climate change and sustainability, patterns of transport and food consumption, gender balance in sectors crucial to the green transition, as well as the gender composition in relevant ministries. This data covering the interlinkages between gender and climate policies is available on e.g. Eurostat, European Charter for Equality, as well as in recent publications gathered at the online platform Nordic Knowledge Hub, which was recently launched by the Nordic Cooperation.^[49] Concrete examples of relevant studies compiled on this platform are Climate, Gender and Consumption - A research overview of gender perspectives on sustainable lifestyles,^[50] Gender equality in the Nordic energy sector,^[51] and How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries.^[52] The latter provides an overview of available data - and identified data gaps - related to gendered impacts of climate policies in the Nordics.

While there is substantial knowledge on the gendered impacts of climate policies, stakeholders indicate that there is a knowledge gap in understanding how climate change affects different groups (gender, body capability, age, etc.) disproportionally in the Nordic countries. This will be elaborated in <u>chapter 4.1.2</u>. In the focus groups for this review, a representative from the Saami Council also drew

^{47.} Government Offices of Sweden, Ministry of Employment, Division for Gender Equality (2019). Sweden's report on Beijing +25. 48. Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., et al. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic

countries 49. The Nordic Co-operation is a comprehensive framework for collaboration among the Nordic countries, including

Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden, as well as the autonomous territories of Greenland, the Faroe Islands, and Åland; Nordic Knowledge Hub (n.d.). A Green and Gender Equal Nordic Region - How it works in practice. 50. Sand, Jimmy (2022). Climate, Gender and Consumption: A research overview of gender perspectives on

sustainable lifestyles.

^{51.} Elamson, S. & Barnholt Klepper, K. (2021). Gender equality in the Nordic energy sector. Nordic Energy Research (NER). DOI: 10.6027/NER2021-05.

^{52.} Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., et al. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries

attention to the fact that the collection of sex-disaggregated data in the Nordics does not, due to legal reasons, include ethnic identities, which means that there is no data on the gendered impacts specifically on the Sámi population.^[53]

What may be lacking is a prioritised utilisation of the data available. Prioritisation would entail allocating resources and funding for conducting data analyses that can inform the effective integration of gender perspectives into climate work at all levels. See more on this in section 4.1.4 on data application in gender analyses. One interviewee for the review expressed that:

"There is so much data and so many gender mainstreaming guidelines out there. You can even Google it and come up with, for example, what the gender issues in waste management are." (International Coordinator and Senior Advisor at the Swedish Gender Equality Agency)^[54]

The business case for gender mainstreaming climate policy?

The 2022-report by Norion on the interlinkages between gender equality and climate policy in the Nordics posits that gender equality integration holds the potential to bolster the green transition.^[55] This assertion, which is echoed in statements and documents from Nordic researchers and policymakers, adds weight to the argument for gender mainstreaming, suggesting that such an approach could unlock more inclusive and effective environmental solutions. However, the practical documentation of this potential - through systematic collection and communication of cases demonstrating the gains of gender mainstreaming in climate policy - remains scarce.

In both Denmark and Norway, integrating gender perspectives into climate policy is emerging as a critical yet underexplored domain. A non-governmental stakeholder in Denmark expresses that policymakers might be hesitant in terms of prioritising gender mainstreaming as they are perhaps not convinced of the direct benefits it on the effectiveness of climate policy implementation. This perspective underscores a broader challenge: the absence of gender mainstreaming in climate policy as a documented "business case" demonstrating the tangible and cost-beneficial advantages.^[56]

Norway's situation echoes this sentiment. Despite recognising the pronounced impacts of climate change on gender inequality globally, particularly in the Global South, the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment acknowledges its own lack of detailed insights into how gender considerations could enhance climate policy efficacy domestically.^[57]

Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries
 Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries
 Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., et al. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries

^{56.} Interview w. Danish non-governmental stakeholder and gender expert, Nov. 2024

^{57.} Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024

Bridging this gap in the evidence base by quantitatively and qualitatively demonstrating the multifaceted benefits of gender mainstreaming in climate policy and green transition, could thus support the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP.

4.1.2 Current status of knowledge and perceived relevance

During the focus groups conducted for this review, the participants (app. 20 people) working either in relevant ministries, departments, agencies, or NGOs were asked to gauge their knowledge of and experience with gender mainstreaming. This led to the following observation, which, while not derived from a representative survey, merits reflection:

The majority of the governmental stakeholders expressed that they have basic and/or theoretical knowledge but limited practical knowledge and experience with gender mainstreaming. Assessing their level of knowledge on a scale of zero to ten (ten being the highest level), the majority positioned themselves below five. Two participants, whose main working tasks include promoting gender equality, positioned themselves above seven. Among the non-governmental stakeholders interviewed, the self-assessment showed an even distribution both below and above the midpoint of five on the scale. The self-assessment in the focus groups and in additional interviews conducted for this review also revealed a substantial variation – and notable limitations – in the knowledge of the UNFCCC GAP and the interlinkages between climate and gender in the Nordic countries.

However, from the perspective of several contributors, specifically the NCM and the Nordic Co-operation, an increase in the understanding and dialogue regarding the interlinkages between gender and the green transition is observed, as expressed by this Senior Advisor with expertise in gender equality:

"We are experiencing a shift. We see that traditional equality questions are at stake when we talk about the green jobs and are starting to take on the vocabulary of gender equality in the energy-, climate- and labour sectors. We also see that the Nordic countries are at various stages in discussing this issue." (Senior Advisor, The Nordic Co-operation, Nordic Council of Ministers)

A gap in gender mainstreaming of climate policies

The review identifies a notable gap in the domestic recognition and integration of the connections between gender equality and climate policies within the Nordic context. Gender equality implications in climate change and climate policy are more frequently addressed in the realm of international politics and development rather than within national borders. A perspective offered by the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment sheds light on the rationale behind this approach, suggesting that:

"The consequences of climate change are becoming increasingly visible worldwide, but developing countries are particularly hard hit. Due to pervasive inequalities, where women, among others, have poorer access to resources, education, and capital, it is less likely that the issues and interests of women and girls are considered in decision-making processes about climate. Furthermore, women and girls are more likely to be negatively affected by climate changes as the aforementioned inequalities have made them less equipped to adapt to its consequences. These issues do not apply in Norway in the same way. Norway is one of the world's most gender-equal countries, and we have a progressive climate policy." (The Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment) [58]

The quote illustrates how knowledge of and attention to gender issues in a climate context is problematised primarily internationally. This aligns with the finding that especially Denmark's and Norway's gender mainstreaming efforts in climate policies are mainly prioritised in international development policy (see section 4.4.3). In line with this, a recent academic study identifies a lack of connection between gender equality policy and climate policy in Norwegian policy documents. $^{[59]}$ The study shows that gender equality in the context of climate policy is here primarily addressed in foreign - and international policy, particularly in international climate negotiations and international development, and that this is symptomatic of a general silence on gender in climate policy within the Global North^[60]

When interviewed for this review, the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment argued that they do not have a knowledge base that indicates to what extent gender equality work is relevant for domestic climate policy, e.g. what interrelations gender and climate have in Norway, and thus what measures could potentially be implemented to correct unwanted disparities. As already mentioned, the ministry also expresses that they seek more information on how gender perspectives in climate policy could potentially contribute to better and more effective climate policy.^[61] Echoing Norway, the Danish Gender Equality Department states that they see no decisive gender- and equality differences between women and men regarding the consequences of climate change in the Nordic countries, emphasising that women in the Global South are particularly affected by the impacts of climate changes.^[62] This explains why the gender mainstreaming in climate policy in Norway and Denmark is more prevalent in the area of international development (see <u>chapter 4.4.5</u>).

It seems that because climate change has more severe impacts in the Global South, and on women in this part of the world specifically, the gendered impacts of climate change and policies domestically are of less concern. This is despite numerous recent research and publications on the interlinkages between gender

^{58.} Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024

Eggebø, H. et al. (2023). Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North
 Eggebø, H., et al. (2023). Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North
 Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024
 E-mail-based questionnaire with the Danish Gender Equality Department. Dec. 2023.

and climate policies in the Nordic region.^[63] The seemingly exclusive focus on gender mainstreaming in foreign affairs- and international development policy in the area of climate change, might be explained by gender equality having been an integral part of development programming for decades.^[64] Thus, post-2015, when a climate change perspective was integrated into development programming, it was integrated into an area that had already been gender mainstreamed.

Fixation on the mitigation sector

Another identified knowledge gap concerns the various aspects of climate efforts – mitigation, adaptation, and resilience. In the focus groups carried out as part of this review, some participants pointed out that the topic of gender equality in climate contexts within the Nordic countries has been largely limited to the *mitigation* sector. A Swedish stakeholder stresses that there is little knowledge of the gendered impacts of climate change *adaptation* within Sweden.^[65] Answers provided by especially one department consulted during this review indicate an underlying understanding of climate policy (in relation to gender) as limited to the gendered *impacts of climate change*.^[66]

According to interviewed stakeholders, there is a lack of knowledge of how the effects of climate change impact – and are expected to impact – intersectional groups of women and men differently within Nordic societies.^[67] Such knowledge could be provided in studies combining projections of climate change's effects nationally/in the Nordic region with assessments of the direct and indirect impacts on societal groups from a gendered and intersectional perspective. Concretely, this could include, for instance, geographical and sectorial studies that explore the differences in conditions for practicing agriculture in a climate-changing landscape or studies investigating what groups in society have the socio-economic opportunity for coastal protection and what groups will have the best conditions to ensure their own safety, health, wealth, etc., when extreme weather and floods become more frequent. A researcher from Norway's leading institute for climate research, CICERO, stated the following a focus group session, which sums up the identified gaps in priorities and perspectives:

"To my impression, Norway is not really looking into gender at all when it comes to climate policy. It is seen only as relevant for foreign policy. More people seem to be also seeing it as relevant with regards to STEM, recruitment, work-life balance and all these issues. But not in terms of extreme weather, for instance – we do not have any knowledge of gendered impacts or other social differences here." ^[68]

^{63.} Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., et al. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries

 ^{64.} UN Women (2014). Guidance note: Gender mainstreaming in development programming
 65. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

^{66.} E-mail-based questionnaire with the Danish Gender Equality Department. Dec. 2023.

^{67.} Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

^{68.} Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

4.1.3 Training, guidelines, and other knowledge-strengthening initiatives

This section presents national initiatives to enhance knowledge and capacity for gender mainstreaming in climate policies, including available resources as well as training and guidelines offered to policymakers and stakeholders. For most of the countries, the review has identified no examples of training programs or courses specifically related to gender mainstreaming in climate policies. It has, however, encountered a number of gender mainstreaming trainings and guidelines worth mentioning, as these initiatives first of all can be applied in the climate policy area, and secondly can inform future toolkits and trainings more specifically tailored towards gender mainstreaming in climate policies.

Denmark

This review has identified no examples of gender mainstreaming training or guides relating specifically to integrating gender equality in climate policies and just transition. However, the Ministry of Digital Government and Gender Equality provides an official gender impact assessment (GIA) guide for all ministries and professional assistance from the department. According to KVINFO, Denmark's knowledge centre for gender and equality, the guidelines available while comprehensive are relatively ambiguous. Consequently, KVINFO has provided recommendations for improvement.^[69] These recommendations, presented in 2023, have not been implemented. The Danish process for GIAs is further described in chapter 4.3.1 and 4.4.2.

The Strategy for Gender Impact Assessment in the Public Sector, from 2013, has three focus areas: strengthened gender impact assessments, strengthened guidance, and focused monitoring and describes how ministries are required to relevance test all new legislation proposals to decide whether a gender impact assessment (GIA) is to be conducted.^[70] The screening is typically done by identifying the target group for the proposal, including whether one gender is overrepresented or whether there are significant differences between women and men within the target group. The strategy highlights the relevance of proposals from public areas of social affairs, health care and transport in opposition to more technical sectors, such as construction.^[71] The Ministry of Digital Government and Gender Equality supports this by systematically screening the forthcoming legislative program, as well as following up with relevant ministries.

As a direct response to the new legislation of 2024 obligating public institutions to report on gender balance in management,^[72] the Ministry of Digital Government

^{69.} KVINFO (2023). Equality assessment of legislative proposals 70. Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender impact assessments of legislative proposals.

^{71.} Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender impact assessments of legislative proposals.

^{72.} Danish Business Authority (2022). Target figures and policy for the gender composition of management and for reporting on this.

and Gender Equality and Department of Employee and Competition (under the Ministry of Finance), along with Local Government Denmark (KL) and Danish Regions, published a catalogue with inspiration and guidance in increasing the gender balance in management.^[73]

Finland

This review has identified no examples of gender mainstreaming training or guides relating specifically to integrating gender equality in climate policies and just transition. However, the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health has published Gender alasses in use: A handbook to support the gender equality work of ministries^[74] and maintains the website Promoting Gender Equality, offering guidance and a checklist for gender mainstreaming.^[75] The Ministry, along with the Finnish Institute of Health and Welfare, also provides training material in gender mainstreaming through the governmental digital learning platform eOppiva.^[76] The training takes 25-30 minutes to complete and focuses on gender mainstreaming, gender equality and non-discrimination. It is targeted personnel in the central government but is publicly available online.

The Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare provides a guide for conducting GIAs, ^[77] which involves three key steps: 1) Identifying the Need: At the outset, the necessity for GIA is determined by assessing whether the measures in question impact people or specific groups differently based on gender. 2) Analysing Impacts: This step involves using data and expert consultations to understand how different genders might be affected. It includes gathering statistics, consulting gender equality experts, and engaging with affected stakeholders to evaluate impacts on gender representation, opportunities, and resource distribution. 3) Informing Decision-Making: The findings are used to provide decision-makers with comprehensive insights into the gender impacts of proposed actions. This includes detailing the assessment process, key affected groups, significant gender impacts, and possible alternative approaches.^[78]

The Association of Finnish Local and Regional Authorities (AFLRA) has developed a gender mainstreaming guide for regions and municipalities.^[79] The guide presents general information on gender equality in Finland, as well as the legal framework supporting it. It also provides concrete methods for gender budgeting and GIAs. AFLRA also provide information on the importance of gender equality in the work of municipals in general.^[80] ALFRA is now implementing the Well-project, a collaborative EU-funded project with the Ministry of Justice and the Institute of Health and Welfare. The project aims at strengthening the gender mainstreaming

^{73.} Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Gender balance in management-Joint public catalogue of inspiration to promote an equal gender composition among senior management levels 74. Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2013). Gender Glasses in Use—A handbook to support gender

equality work at Finnish ministries 75. Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (n.d.). Equality checklist for authorities

Popiva (n.d.). Gender equality and equality - Why and How?
 Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (n.d.). Assessment of gender effects

^{78.} Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (n.d.). Assessment of gender effects

^{79.} European Charter for Equality (n.d.). Manual on Gender Equality for Finnish municipalities

in Finland, by offering activities such as equality training for relevant personnel in the private sector, municipalities, and regions, and in regional administrative agencies, respectively.^[81] The project will be carried out between November 2023 and July 2024, and the first equality trainings are scheduled to take place in mid-February 2024.

Iceland

In 2019, the government launched a toolkit for gender mainstreaming, both in written format and an interactive version.^[82] The toolkit consists of a five-step analytical framework for GIA used to assess gender and equality impacts of a legislation or policy document. It is intended as a practical guide for government officials preparing equality assessment and integrating gender and equality perspectives. Furthermore, the toolkit provides information about gender mainstreaming with special emphasis on gender budgeting. It also includes case studies and practical examples to illustrate gender budgeting's impact and advocates a systematic approach to including gender perspectives in budgeting and financial management. The toolkit is intended to support policymakers and employees within government offices working on gender mainstreaming, including gender budgeting and GIA. It contains information about how gender budgeting is structured regarding the country's fiscal structure and the roles of different government actors.

The status report of gendered aspects in all government departments and ministries (mentioned in <u>chapter 4.1.1</u>) provides an overview of available sexdisaggregated data for each department and thus serves as a resource for policymakers and others working on gender mainstreaming and GIA.

The report, A just and fair transition to carbon neutrality - Gender equality aspects in environmental and climate issues,^[83] was published in 2022 as a research collaboration between the Reykjavík City Office of Human Rights & Democracy, Reykjavík City Department of Environment & Planning, and the Gender Studies program at the Faculty of Political Science, University of Iceland. The report maps research and knowledge about environmental and climate-related matters. Based on this report, the City of Reykjavík launched a Knowledge Hub on Climate Change. ^[84] The Knowledge Hub offers knowledge on gendered aspects of climate change and climate policies, tools, and best practices from across the Nordics, and the purpose is to render this information accessible to local communities, government authorities, and public institutions in the policy development and planning towards just, green transition.

^{81.} Association of Finnish Municipalities (n.d.). Gender equality and equality

^{82.} Icelandic Government (n.d.). Analytical framework for equality assessment

Hallgrímsdóttir, B. (2022), Á just and fair transition to carbon neutrality Gender equality aspects in environmental and climate issues, Nýsköpunarsjóður námsmanna.

^{84.} Reykjavík (n.d.). Climate Change Knowledge Hub

Norway

This review has identified no examples of gender mainstreaming guides relating specifically to integrating gender equality in climate policies and just transition. In accordance with the Equality and Discrimination Act of 2017, more specifically §24, the Equality and Discrimination Ombud in Norway has been offering a gender mainstreaming course for managers in public authorities since 2020.^[85] The courses provide information on the obligations of gender mainstreaming reporting and how to implement gender-responsive initiatives into administration and processes. Additionally, the Ombud offers courses for employers and workers' representatives on how to work with equality and discrimination issues. Additionally, it can be highlighted that the Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir) has a webpage with guidelines for employers, including videos and a stepwise explanation on how to document and report.

In an interview with the Norwegian Ministry for Climate and Energy, it is highlighted that the ministry's knowledge on gender dimensions in the green transition, have been strengthened by the 2021-report from Norion Consult titled How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries commissioned by the NCM. The ministry states that the report has been significant in sharing knowledge on the challenges related to equality in the Nordic countries, such as the predominance of men in STEM studies and their advantage in new green jobs focused on technology and engineering, as well as differences in consumption patterns between men and women, including dietary habits and transportation choices.^[86]

With regards to knowledge-strengthening events, it is noteworthy that the Norwegian Ministry of Culture and Equality co-organised an inter-departmental seminar, How Do We Work for Gender Equality in the Green Transition?, in September 2022 on behalf of NCM's MR/ÄK-JÄM. Participants included researchers, public administration officials, business representatives, and civil society organisations, all with an interest in the intersection of climate change, sustainability, and gender equality. Notably, the seminar saw significant participation from the Climate and Environment Department as well as the Oil and Energy Department. The seminar featured presentations by gender equality professionals and included discussions on the gendered aspects of climate policies, consumption patterns, and the impact on work and nature management. The seminar was organised in collaboration between Kilden Genderresearch.no and Nordisk information för kunskap om kön (NIKK) from the NCM.^[87]

In 2023, The Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities (KS) and the Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir) proclaimed

^{85.} The Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud (n.d.). Strengthened obligation to equality in the public sector

^{86.} Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024

^{87.} Norion Consult were invited to present the 2022 report on gender and climate interlinkages and, therefore, have knowledge of the event.

the initiation of a project which aims at developing an online course as well as guidelines on enhanced equality work and gender mainstreaming in the Norwegian municipalities.^[88] The Centre for Equality Hamar.^[89] KUN Centre for Equality and Diversity,^[90] Centre for Gender and Equality at University of Agder,^[91] and LDO also takes part in this.

Sweden

The Swedish Gender Equality Agency supports gender mainstreaming through the Governments development program on Gender Mainstreaming in Government Authorities (GMGA).^[92] The agency also provides knowledge, guides, inspiration, and best practice examples on how to gender mainstream on a general level, e.g. a quide for authorities on how to plan, organise and follow up on gender equality.^[93] Some of the materials are sourced from other authorities, Sweden's innovation agency Vinnova, municipalities, regional authorities and civil society actors. These initiatives are carried out in dialogue with the specific authority and the gender mainstreaming coordinator at each agency to secure that the activities are of high relevance for the institution. The Swedish National Financial Management Authority, the Equality Ombudsman, Statistics Sweden, and the Country Administrative Boards all have supporting roles in the GMGA program.^[94] Between 2021 and 2025, 54 government authorities are appointed by the government to take part in GMGA, among these are for example The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Vinnova, and Formas that all carry out work related to climate mitigation and adaptation. In addition to GMGA, guidance on a more in-depth approach to gender mainstreaming is offered through the GMGA+ program.^[95] Vinnova and Formas have participated in GMGA+ during 2021.^[96]

The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency has recently been inviting researchers with expertise in climate, environment, gender, and democracy to facilitate lectures. The lectures have been open to other government agencies as well, and they have proved popular:

"This has been a way to bring the current research into the government agencies. And it seems to have worked. It's been a few hundred that have attended - out of agencies with thousands of people working there, however. But it's a start." (Gender mainstreaming coordinator, Swedish Environmental Protection Agency)

^{88.} The Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities (2023). Looking for municipalities that want to develop work with equality and diversity in the municipalities.

The Centre for Equality (n.d.). About us
 The Centre for Equality (n.d.). Welcome to KUN Centre for Equality and Diversity

 ^{91.} University of Agder (n.d.). Centre for Gender and Equality
 92. Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2024) Support and coordination of equality work
 93. Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2023). Support for planning, organizing and following up the work with equity integration

^{94.} Swedish Government (2021). Participant in the development program GMGA 2020-2025

^{95.} Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2021). Strengthened Equality through GMGA+
96. Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2021). Strengthened Equality through GMGA+
97. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

The Swedish Gender Equality Agency has also organised training sessions and hosted lectures by researchers focusing on climate, environmental, and gender issues for civil servants and state officials in e.g. The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency. Apart from advising government authorities including the Country Administrative Boards, the Swedish Gender Equality Agency also advise the higher education institutions and cooperate with the regions and municipalities on implementing the gender equality goals.

At a regional level, county administrative offices also offer education within gender mainstreaming for regional stakeholders.^{[98][99]}

At local level, special gender equality experts are employed by the county administrative boards. Their work involves strengthening the conditions to enable implementation of the national gender equality goals at regional level. They are supported in this by the Swedish Gender Equality Agency. County councils and administrative boards develop gender mainstreaming strategies and play a vital role in coordinating regional actions for gender equality. The Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SALAR) supports and promotes gender equality at local and regional levels by adopting the European Charter for Equality of Men and Women in Local Life.^[100] In 2019, SALAR published a guide to gender mainstreaming for employees in municipal and regional institutions.^[101]

Nordic and international resources offering guides, tools and training

- The Nordic Council of Ministers: The NCM plays a central role in terms of enhancing and disseminating knowledge on the interlinkages between gender equality and green transition (see chapter 4.1.5). During COP28, the NCM launched the new Nordic Knowledge Hub under the title A Green and Gender-Equal Nordic Region.^[102] The platform offers a collection of Nordic knowledge and policy for stakeholders working with a sustainable and gender-equal green transition and offers explainers and video material on e.g. sustainable green and blue economies, gender norms and consumption, and climate policy in action.
- The European Institute for Gender Equality: EIGE is currently conducting a project titled Collection of good practices on Gender Mainstreaming in the European Green Deal.^[103] The project aims to enhance the understanding and implementation of gender mainstreaming within the context of the European Green Deal. It involves revising criteria for identifying good practices and selecting such practices in collaboration with EU policymakers and practitioners. The project focuses on national, regional, and local initiatives in selected EU Member States, including those funded by EU Funds.

- 101. Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (2019). Guide to gender mainstreaming
- 102. Nordic Knowledge Hub (n.d.). A Green and Gender Equal Nordic Region How it works in practice.
 103. EIGE (2023). Collection of good practices on Gender Mainstreaming in the European Green Deal

^{98.} County Administrative Board of Kalmar County (n.d.). Basic education Gender mainstreaming

Region Gotland (2023). Gender mainstreaming
 100.Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (2021). European Charter for Equality of Men and Women in Local Life.

Additionally, the current GREENA project by EIGE is working on integrating gender equality into the policy cycle by developing tools and approaches that address both environmental and climate action concerns and gender equality issues in evaluations.^[104] The project seeks to advance gender-responsive policymaking and establish an integrated evaluation framework considering gender and environmental aspects. The goal is to evaluate the impact of EU efforts under the European Green Deal on gender equality and ensure that the green transition is just and inclusive. The project's outputs, including a gender-responsive evaluation toolkit, will be available on EIGE's gender mainstreaming platform in early 2024.

The thematic focus of EIGE's Gender Equality Index 2023 is the European Green Deal's socially fair transition and its implications for gender equality. This report seeks to strengthen the knowledge base on the impact of the green transition towards a low carbon society from a gender and intersectional perspective. It focuses on two specific priority sectors of the European Green Deal's socially fair transition, namely energy and transportation.

Finally, the publication Gender in Environment and Climate Change by EIGE from 2016 offers a step-by-step introduction to systematically integrating gender equality in the policy context of environment and climate change and includes country specific examples, all outlined through the four step cycle of gender mainstreaming: 1) DEFINE, 2) PLAN, 3) ACT, and 4) CHECK.^[105] The publication serves as a comprehensive and guiding resource, providing policymakers and practitioners with the tools and knowledge necessary to effectively integrate gender considerations into climate and environmental policies. The following summarizes the four steps in the context of environmental and climate related policy. For a more detailed introduction to the approach suggested by EIGE, visit EIGE's gender mainstreaming platform and resources targeted climate relevant policy areas such as 'Environment and climate change', 'Energy', 'Transport', ' Agriculture and rural development' etc.^[106]

• The United Nations: The UNFCCC Gender Team provides resources addressing the intersection of gender and climate change, highlighting the disproportionate effects on women and the importance of their participation in climate-related decision-making. The UNFCCC gender webpage outlines the UNFCCC's commitment to gender-responsive climate policies and the inclusion of gender considerations in the Paris Agreement. Additionally, the UNFCCC gender team hosts events and trainings, such as the upcoming review session of the LWPG and the GAP.^[107]

^{107.}UNFCCC (n.d.) Introduction to Gender and Climate Change.

The Secretariat for UN CC:Learn, provided by the United Nations Institute for Training and Research (UNITAR), offers an open online course on the interlinkages between gender and environment, with tools on gender mainstreaming.^[108] The course takes six hours, and is self-paced, free of charge and available in English, Spanish and French. The course is developed by the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), the GEF Small Grants Programme (SGP), and UNITAR/UN CC:Learn.

• **UN Women:** has developed a series of guides to facilitate the integration of gender perspectives into environmental and climate-related policies and projects. One key resource is the Guide on gender mainstreaming: Energy and Climate Change Projects, aimed at stakeholders involved in energy and climate initiatives. For more detailed insights and access to these guides, visit UN Women's official website.^[109] Furthermore, the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) published a Resource Guide on Gender and Climate Change in 2009 – a comprehensive document on the integration of gender perspectives into climate change discourse and actions. It provides a detailed analysis of how gender issues intersect with climate change impacts and strategies, offering insights, case studies, and guidance for incorporating gender considerations into climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts, thereby promoting gender equality and empowering women and girls in the context of global environmental challenges.

4.1.4 Communication on gender equality in climate work

Considering the UNFCCC GAP's encouragement to effectively communicate to the public about the integration of gender equality in climate work, a range of collaborative efforts in the Nordic region can be highlighted. First, the efforts of the NCM will be described. Then, relevant non-governmental organisations disseminating the gender-climate nexus in the Nordic region will be presented. While several non-governmental organisations, institutions and representatives from the civil society could be brought into attention, three notable examples are highlighted here from Denmark, Norway, and Sweden, respectively.

The Nordic Council of Ministers

The Nordic region has embraced an approach to integrate gender equality into climate policy, strengthening both climate action and gender equality, thereby contributing to the Nordic Vision 2030 of becoming the world's most sustainable and integrated region globally by 2030.^[110] As described already in the introductory background chapter, the NCM are committed to enhancing gender equality and climate justice in the Nordic region by focusing on inclusive green jobs, diverse

^{108.}UN CC:e-Learn (n.d.). Open Online Course on Gender and Environment

 ^{109.}United Nations Industrial Development Organization (UNIDO). (2014). Guide on Gender Mainstreaming: Energy and Climate Change Projects.
 110. Nordic Council of Ministers (2019). Our vision 2030

representation in climate decision-making, sustainable consumption, and systematic gender mainstreaming in climate policies, aligning with the UNFCCC GAP goals.^[111] Read more on this commitment in chapter 3. In this section focus is on initiatives, events, projects, and publications communicating the knowledge on the cross-cutting theme of gender and climate and the importance of gender mainstreaming in climate policy.

The NCM has several initiatives aimed at integrating gender perspectives in the domain of climate policy and action. These efforts are centralised within the aforementioned online Nordic Knowledge Hub, serving as a repository for insights and research findings. One of several notable projects is the Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK) initiative focused on sustainability, lifestyles, and consumption from a gender perspective. This project seeks to dissect and challenge the gender stereotypes influencing sustainability, underlining the significant impact of lifestyle choices on climate change. It delves into how gender, as a set of social norms, plays a crucial role in sustainability efforts, often overshadowing biological sex as a determinant. The project highlights the disparity in unpaid domestic and care work between genders, the gendered coding of technology, and the societal norms that ascribe environmental responsibility predominantly to women. It suggests that addressing these disparities is essential for fostering sustainable behaviour and reducing the climate impact.^[112] Another example is the Nordregio NJUST project, initiated with the goal of steering the Nordic Region towards a climate-neutral future, with a focus on ensuring a socially just green transition. This project specifically targets the mitigation of negative impacts of green transition policies on vulnerable groups, employing a "policy proposal toolbox" developed from an extensive inventory of Nordic policies. The discussion paper associated with this project, Just Green Transition – key concepts and implications in the Nordic region, offers a comprehensive review of the intersection between green economy, green just transition, and social justice within a Nordic context. By proposing working definitions for these key concepts, the project aims to inform and shape policies that alleviate the transition's adverse effects across the region.^[113]

The NCM have moreover initiated and hosted several events of relevance here. In January 2022, the NCM, in collaboration with FOKUS and UN Women, organised a cross-sectoral Nordic Roundtable on Gender Equality and Climate Justice in Oslo. The roundtable was aimed at fostering knowledge exchange and collaboration across different sectors to integrate a gender perspective in climate actions and policies effectively. The outcomes from this roundtable, captured in the publication Towards a Nordic Alliance for Gender Equality and Climate Justice, highlight the necessity of cross-sectoral collaboration, clear goals for gender-responsive transitions, and the integration of gender equality in leadership and decisionmaking processes.^[114]

^{111.} Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice

^{112.} Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK) (2022). Gender norms a challenge for the green transition.

^{113.} Cedergren et al. (2022) 'Just Green Transition – key concepts and implications in the Nordic Region' 114. Nordic co-operation (2022). How climate transition in the Nordic Region will be made gender-equal

At the UNFCCC COP meetings, the NCM have showcased the commitment to integrating gender equality within the climate change agenda through various events hosted at the Nordic Pavilion.

At COP26, a focus was placed on gender equality in climate policy through a presentation by Norion Consult highlighting the key findings on the study on interlinkages between climate policy and gender equality in a Nordic context. The presentation was followed by a debate involving various experts discussing strategies for a gender-balanced approach to climate policies.^[115] **COP27** continued the theme, underscoring the link between gender equality and climate policy. Events included a collaboration with the African Union and UN Women, highlighting the importance of women and girls' participation in climate decision-making. One session, Mind the Gap – Gender Equality, Female Entrepreneurship, and the Green Transition, showcased the impact of gender equality on climate and energy sectors, presenting stories from female entrepreneurs and projects empowering women.^[116] At **COP28** in Dubai, the Nordic Pavilion at COP28 hosted more than 70 events, focusing on various aspects of climate change and solutions, including financing for loss and damage, the interconnectedness between climate and gender equality, and fair green transitions. During the COP28, the NCM launched the beforementioned Nordic Knowledge Hub on Gender and Climate.

These Nordic collaborative commitments, events and projects underscore the efforts of the NCM in fostering gender equality within the sphere of climate action by generating, communicating, and discussing knowledge and recommendations within the field. These activities have been highlighted by several governmental and non-governmental stakeholders contributing to this review.

In the following, non-governmental organisations communication on the importance of gender mainstreaming in climate policies is described, by highlighting – as examples – three organisations working with the agenda in Denmark, Norway and Sweden, respectively. Other organisations could be brought to attention here, including for instance the Icelandic environmental organisation Landvern, providing information and education on sustainability, occasionally with a gender-perspective.

KVINFO (DK)

In the last couple of years, KVINFO, Denmark's knowledge centre for gender and equality, has invested themselves in gathering and communicating knowledge on the intersecting issue of gender equality and climate policy. In August 2023, KVINFO released a document titled Gender Equality and Green Transition in Denmark providing recommendations for political changes in the context of gender equality and green transition in Danish domestic politics.^[117] KVINFO also published the thematic site Gender and Climate and have published several opinion pieces and

^{115.} We Don't Have Time (2021). No climate policy is gender neutral. Here is why
116. Nordic co-operation (2022). COP27: Nordic Region wants a gender-equal climate transition.
117. KVINFO (2023) Note: Gender equality and the green transition in Denmark
41

publications about gendered impacts of climate policies and the climate crisis.^[118] In 2022 and 2023, KVINFO launched an informative Instagram-campaign focusing on the topic.^[119] In February 2022, KVINFO held an event called Wakeup Call on Gender and Climate, and during Folkemødet (The People's Meeting) in 2022, they co-organized an event called Climate Struggle Is Women's Struggle, where the Minister for the Environment at the time, a young female climate activist, and a gender professional discussed gender equality and green transition.^[120]

KILDEN (NO)

During the last couple of years, Kilden Gender research, Norway's knowledge centre for gender perspectives and gender balance, has been actively promoting the integration of gender equality into climate policy and the green transition. They have collaborated with various partners, providing a platform for researchers, government authorities, and civil society to engage in discussions. Kilden Gender research argues that gender equality has not been adequately emphasized in the national policies for the green transition or in political party programs in Norway. Similarly, gender equality and the green transition have not been extensively explored in Norwegian or Nordic research, they argue.

Kilden hosted their annual conference in 2021, focusing on Gender Equality in the Green Transition. This event brought together experts to examine the interconnectedness of sustainability, climate, nature, and gender equality in a Nordic context. As described in section 5.2.3, Kilden furthermore co-organized the interdepartmental seminar in 2022 titled How Do We Work for Gender Equality in the Green Transition?

In addition to conferences and seminars, Kilden has produced policy notes on Gender Equality in the Green Workforce and The Connection Between Nature Management and Gender Equality.^[121] These policy notes draw from the annual conference and offer insights into how gender perspectives can inform and shape climate policy and sustainable practices.

The Centre for Equality Hamar, Centre for Gender and Equality at University of Agder, and Reform Resource Centre for Men receive public funding from the Ministry of Culture and Equality to actively promote equality and provide information services.^[122] The centres for equality are tasked with developing

^{118.} KVINFO (n.d.) Climate and Gender. See also: Altinget (2020). KVINFO: The Climate Crisis Reveals the Unpleasant Truth About Our Habits; Altinget (2020). KVINFO: We Must Discuss Gender and Equality When Addressing the Climate Crisis; Kristeligt Dagblad (2021). KVINFO's Director: There Is a Connection Between Gender and the Climate Struggle; KVINFO (2022). Historic Agreement on Gender Equality in Climate Policy Sets an Ambitious Course – Also for Denmark

^{119.} KVINFO (2023). Remember equality in the climate negotiations; KVINFO (2023). More equal representation of men and women in decision-making will contribute positively to the green transition; KVINFO (2023). More equal representation of get more girls and women into green jobs? And is it even important?; KVINFO (2023). How can politicians think equality into the green transition?; KVINFO (2022). The population is committed to the green transition, but the tasks are distributed unevenly when it comes to gender."; KVINFO (2022). It is estimated that 9 million people worldwide die each year as a result of pollution; KVINFO (2022). The more women, the greater the consumption of the community of the commu

of renewable energy 120.KVINFO (2022). Climate change affects globally, but it does not affect equally 121. Kilden Genderresearch.no (2022). Policy Brief: Gender equality and nature management; (2022) Policy Brief: Gender Equality and the Green Transition of the Labour Market.

^{122.} The Centre for Equality (n.d.). About us; University of Agder (n.d.). Centre for Gender and Equality; Reform (n.d.). Reform – research center for men

knowledge and build expertise in, and raise awareness of, equality at national and regional level in the public and private sectors.

CONCORD (SE)

Concord Sweden, a collective of 82 Swedish civil society organizations, actively engages in promoting gender equality within the realm of climate policy and a just green transition. Their work encompasses advocating for the integration of gender perspectives in climate change decision-making, adaptation, and mitigation efforts. Through publications such as Feminist policies for climate justice, Concord Sweden critically examines the intersection of gender equality and climate policy, highlighting the challenges and opportunities in creating inclusive and equitable climate actions. This report, contributed to by various member organizations, highlights the importance of recognizing women and girls as key actors in climate justice and the need for gender-responsive climate finance, as discussed during events like the Gender Equality and Sweden's Climate Finance Meeting. Concord Sweden's advocacy is aligned with international commitments such as the UNFCCC GAP and seeks to ensure that Sweden's climate finance is effective in integrating gender equality. ^[123]

4.1.5 Data application in gender analyses

"Gender analysis provides the necessary data and information to integrate a gender perspective into policies, programmes and projects." (EIGE)

A gender analysis starts with gathering sex-disaggregated data relevant to the field of climate change and green transition and then identifying gender differences and the underlying causes of gender inequalities through an analytical process. Experts and stakeholders can be involved in this process to help build a deep and context-specific understanding of the gender dynamics at stake. Gender analyses are necessary for a solid foundation to effectively address specific gendered needs, reduce gender gaps, and leverage opportunities to ensure equitable benefits for both men and women. Gender analyses can be conducted through all stages of a policy or project cycle but can be a very helpful starting point informing gender mainstreaming measures such as gender impact assessments and gender budgeting.

As highlighted in the section on Data availability and evidence base (4.1.1), a gap in data utilisation is identified, calling for increased resource allocation towards the gathering and applying relevant data in gender analysis.

In assessing the execution of gender analyses within the realm of climate policy and green transition, this review has identified the following examples across the Nordic countries. As, in practice, it seems to be the case that gender analyses and GIAs

^{123.} Concord Sweden (n.d.) About us

often overlap or are treated synonymously, it is challenging to identify clear examples of gender analyses, within the Nordic countries. It is therefore, worth noticing that additional analyses may exist but have not been highlighted during the data collection for this review. Examples of GIAs will be addressed in chapter <u>4.4</u>.

In Sweden, the national draft strategy proposed by The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency in 2021 included a recommendation for conducting gender equality analyses throughout the introduction, implementation, and follow-up of climate initiatives.^[124] In practice, Sweden has conducted gender analyses on climate policy documents.

The Swedish Energy Agency monitors the status of gender equality in its annual report on energy indicators. For instance, in response to a commission from the Swedish government, a gender analysis focusing on competencies for electrification has been carried out.^[125] Additionally, in the preparation of backing documents for the new climate action plan, the suggestions have been subject to a gender analysis.

In Iceland, all new projects in Reykjavík City are subjected to a gender analysis carried out by City staff. Reykjavík City offers instructions and video guides for Gender Budgeting as well as Gender Analysis online and The Gender Budgeting Project Managers subsequently delivers feedback.^[126]

Considering the intersectional perspective of indigenous women concerning the application of data, it is worth noting that the Saami Council has, in certain instances, developed its own reports and analyses, which they have communicated to relevant institutions or departments.^[127] This has, in their view, been a more successful method to communicate their positions than waiting to be contacted.

4.1.6 Summary of Priority area A: Capacity Building, knowledge management and communication

The chapter provides an overview of current initiatives under priority area A in the UNFCCC GAP, related to capacity-building, knowledge management and communication. Strengthening these activities deepens the awareness of the interplay between gender equality and climate issues and serves as a prerequisite for enhancing the gender mainstreaming in climate policies.

The review suggests that there is variation in the knowledge of the UNFCCC GAP and the interlinkages between climate and gender among governmental stakeholders across the Nordic countries, as well as for regional and municipal

^{124.} Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects at Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.

^{125.} Email-questionnaire w. Operational Developer, Swedish Energy Agency

^{126.} Reykjavik City (n.d.). Gender Budgeting 127. The Saami Council - a Saami non-governmental organization with Saami member organizations in Finland, Russia, Norway and Sweden.

stakeholders. For instance, Norway's Ministry of Climate and Environment has expressed a need for building its understanding of how gender equality intersects with climate policy and climate change impacts, especially in a domestic context.

In addition to the stated need for more context-specific knowledge, this review identifies space for improvement in terms of exploring and utilising the existing knowledge base and available sex-disaggregated data. While not exhaustive, substantial sex-disaggregated data and recent relevant publications do exist, to an extent, that offer a reasonable foundation for performing gender analyses and impact assessments, which plays a pivotal role in gender mainstreaming. Gender analyses investigates the distribution of resources, opportunities, and power and identifies needs, vulnerabilities, capacities, conditions, etc. in diverse groups of men and women within certain context, e.g. within specific areas of climate policy in the Nordic countries. Such comprehensive analyses build an informed foundation for working towards gender-responsive climate policy, i.e. for assessing impacts of concrete policies and making targeted strategies to address the identified gendered aspects effectively. A comprehensive approach to data collection and application is thus crucial for reaching gender-responsive – or even gender transformative - climate policies.

Despite progress, the review stresses the need for prioritised resource allocation towards gathering and especially applying relevant data. In this process it is worth looking into the notable initiatives in the Nordic countries to strengthen the knowledge and skills in terms of gender mainstreaming in climate policy.

As described in this chapter, the review points out certain gaps and limitations in the gender mainstreaming of climate policy, suggesting a tendency, particularly in Denmark and Norway to treat gender mainstreaming in climate issues as primarily relevant in an international climate policy context, while considering gender mainstreaming of domestic climate policy less relevant. This perspective entails the risk of overlooking the gendered impacts of climate policies at a domestic level thus pointing to the importance of extending gender mainstreaming efforts to domestic policies. In addition, the review identifies a need for more knowledge on the gendered impacts of climate change and adaptation within a Nordic context in addition to the available information on gendered dimensions of mitigation. Furthermore, a wish for more comprehensive documentation of the benefits of gender mainstreaming in climate policy within the Nordic region is observed. Such documentation would effectively support the argument for prioritising gender mainstreaming efforts within the context of domestic climate policy.

The review identifies certain gaps in resources and training specifically tailored to gender mainstreaming in climate policy. However, knowledge-strengthening initiatives exist in different capacities in the Nordic countries. The Swedish Gender Equality Agency support gender mainstreaming through the Governments development program on gender mainstreaming in government agencies

(GMGA).^[128] The Swedish Gender Equality Agency provide targeted support through published guides and case studies, education on gender mainstreaming and gender budgeting and network meetings. In Iceland, the City of Reykjavík has launched a Knowledge Hub on Climate Change,^[129] which offers knowledge on gendered aspects of climate change and climate policies, tools, and best practices from across the Nordics. The Icelandic government has furthermore developed a gender mainstreaming toolkit, and produces regular status reports that contains, among other, information on analysis and data available regarding gender and climate. Finland offers a comprehensive handbook and maintains a website for gender equality efforts. In Denmark resources exist to guide ministries in testing the relevance of gender in proposed bills, to decide if a gender impact assessment is to be conducted and in Norway the Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir) offer training focused on gender mainstreaming and equality, and in collaboration with NCM and Kilden Gender research the Norwegian Ministry of Culture and Equality co-hosted an inter- departmental seminar on gender equality in the green transition, including participation form the Ministry of Climate and Environment.

Despite the efforts described, this review suggests that especially Norway and Denmark have limited guiding resources and initiatives supporting gender mainstreaming of climate policy, in comparison with the other Nordic countries. In Denmark and Norway, though, the national knowledge centres for gender equality, KVINFO (DK) and KILDEN (NO), respectively, have taken action in terms of knowledge building and communication through several initiatives. On the international and regional fronts, entities such as the NCM, EIGE, the UNFCCC Gender Team, and UN CC:Learn supply additional tools, training, and resources to explore the nexus between gender and climate change. In the Nordic context, specifically, the recently launched online platform The Nordic Knowledge Hub, developed by the Nordic Co-operation stands out as a key initiative in terms of enhancing the knowledge base, by gathering existing relevant resources and recent publications supported by the NCM. As showcased in the section on communicative efforts to highlight gender equality in climate initiatives, the NCM have initiated several activities, including a series of events at the COP. The NCM is thus considered to be important for supporting gender mainstreaming of climate policy and the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP in the Nordic region.

^{128.} The Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2024). Support and coordination of equality work 129. Reykjavík (n.d.). Climate Change Knowledge Hub

4.2 Priority area B: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership

Priority area B focuses on advancing gender balance and fostering women's active participation and leadership in relation to climate policy. This priority area emphasises the need to develop and support initiatives that promote gender-equal participation and leadership in the national work with the implementation of the Paris Agreement and international climate negotiations, with a specific focus on Indigenous women, young women, and women from local communities. The chapter thus includes a focus on the gender balance in decision-making (4.2.2) and the extent of involvement of women, including local communities and Indigenous Peoples (chapter 4.2.1), in shaping climate policy and actions in the Nordic countries.

Furthermore, to contextualise this priority area in a Nordic context, this review focuses on processes of involvement and efforts towards enhancing the gender balance in the education and professions of STEM (science, technology, mathematics, engineering, and mathematics) and associated 'green jobs' (4.2.3). The UNFCCC GAP does not explicitly mention the integration of more women into STEM disciplines nor green jobs. However, this theme is indirectly included in the priority area, where the UNFCCC GAP underscores the importance of "fostering women's and girls' full participation and leadership in science, technology, research, and development."^[130] Given the substantial gender imbalance in STEM, prioritising gender inclusivity in these disciplines is a crucial part of gender mainstreaming the green transition in a Nordic context, as the STEM sectors are central in the green transition. The importance of ensuring gender balance in the field of STEM is furthermore highlighted in the key areas of the commitments by the NCM.^[131]

4.2.1 Involvement of local communities and Indigenous Peoples

Priority area B emphasises the need to develop and support initiatives that empower Indigenous Peoples, especially women. The rapid changes in the climate of the Arctic region pose serious risks and challenges to the livelihoods and cultural practices of the area, including reindeer herding and salmon fishing of Sámi people. ^[132] Therefore, the involvement of the Sámi people in Finland, Norway and Sweden in climate policies is central to ensure a just green transition. Although the Greenlandic Inuit are also an Indigenous People in the Nordics, Greenland (along with Faroe Islands and Aaland) is not part of the scope of this review, limited to

132. Saami Council & Saami Parliament of Norway (2023). Climate Change in Sapmi – an Forward.

^{130.}UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 3/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and 15/CP.28

^{131.} Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice 132. Saami Council & Saami Parliament of Norway (2023). Climate Change in Sápmi – an overview and a Path

Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden. While Greenland is part of the Danish Realm, Greenlandic political areas relevant to climate policy such as mineral resources and mining, environmental matters, city development, and transport is governed by Greenland's government, Naalakkersuisut, under the Greenlandic Selfgovernance.^[133] Therefore, the involvement and participation of Greenlandic Inuit in climate policies has not been assessed.

In **Finland**, the Sámi Parliament represents the Sámi in Finland in national and international contexts.^[134] In the preparation of the recent Medium-term Climate Change Policy Plan in Finland, a consultation process with various stakeholders was carried out.^[135] The Climate Change Policy Plan is developed in each electoral term outlining emission reduction measures for sectors, including transport, agriculture, heating, machinery, and waste. Feedback on the draft plan was delivered by stakeholders as part of a Citizens' Jury, the Climate Policy Roundtable, justice and equality-focused events, and Sámi Parliament negotiations. An online survey received 18,000 citizen responses, and the draft plan was open for feedback from December 2021 to January 2022. During the consultation, Finland sought to engage a diverse group of citizens, inviting among others youth – and/or disability organisations to comment on the climate policies.^[136] Finland's new Climate Act, effective since July 1st, 2022, emphasises the importance of climate change policy planning and monitoring, sets national climate objectives and pays special attention to specific risks of climate changes to the livelihood of the Sámi people. Under this act, a Sámi Climate Change Council has been appointed by the Finnish government as an independent expert body. Its primary role is to provide input from the perspective of the Sámi people in Finland in shaping climate policy plans. The Sámi Climate Council in Finland will provide opinions on climate policy plans and contribute with knowledge that promotes Sámi culture.^[137] The act also includes the Finnish Climate Change Panel, which comprises experts from various fields to inform climate policy decisions.

In Sweden, consultation with Indigenous Peoples should take place in accordance with the Swedish act (2022:66) on consultation in matters that concern the Sámi people.^[138] The Swedish Energy Agency has applied this law in the preparatory stage of a national strategy for sustainable wind power extension by receiving suggestions for alterations from the Sámi parliament.^[139]

Sweden and Finland have not ratified the ILO Convention no. 169 on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples. However, **Norway** has, meaning that Norway shall appropriately consult the Sámi people on matters relevant to their community, among other

137. Finnish Ministry of the Environment (2023). Government appointed Sámi Climate Council.

138. Swedish Parliament (2022). Act (2022:66) on consultation in matters concerning the Sami people. 139. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

^{133.} Danish Prime Minister's Office (2023). Overview of subject areas taken charge of by Greenland's home rule (I and II) respectively Greenland Self-Government (III) 134. The Sámi Parliament (n.d). Decision making. 135. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 136. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

things.^[140] In this review it has not been possible to identify concrete examples of Norwegian authorities involving the Sámi people in climate policy making nor strategies.

On a cross-Nordic level, the Saami Council is a Sámi NGO working across the national borders of Sápmi (Finland, Norway, Russia, Sweden) with Sámi member organisations in all countries. According to representatives from The Saami Council, the organisation has not been involved or consulted in questions on climate policies at national, regional, or local level.^[141] The Saami Council has published reports and analyses on climate-related issues, which have been communicated to relevant institutions or departments.^[142] This has, in their view, been a more successful method in communicating their knowledge, opinions and recommendations than waiting to be contacted. Furthermore, some stakeholders express that aspects of their reports are recognisable in national reports on climate change, which is positive.^[143]

The Saami Council has also expressed that the national states tend to view the Sámi people as a unified entity with one voice, represented through the Sámi parliaments. However, these parliaments face challenges in their processes, and there are generally limitations in terms of human and financial resources. There is, according to Sámi stakeholders participating in this review, a need for greater recognition of the Sámi civil society.^[144]

4.2.2 Representation in decision-making

In 2021, a gender balance within the 40:60 ratio was observed across all parliaments and ministers in almost all the Nordic countries.^[145] In relation to climate policies, the gender balance in international climate negotiations is monitored and reported by the advocacy organisation Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO). WEDO's Gender Climate Tracker Platform seeks to track gender-responsive climate action globally, particularly concerning the implementation of the United Nations' climate policy. WEDO's online platform section titled 'Women's Participation Statistics in Climate Diplomacy' tracks women's participation in the UNFCCC processes, including gender balance among members of Party delegations, roles as Heads of Delegation, and members of constituted bodies.^[146] The statistics from WEDO show the following information on the percentage of female delegates by Party at COP28 in Dubai, 2023, here compared to COP21 in 2015:

^{140.}Norwegian Government (2018). Report on Convention no 169 concerning Indigenous and tribal peoples – 2008. 141. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 142. Saami Council & Saami Parliament of Norway (2023). Climate Change in Sápmi – an overview and a Path

Forward 143. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 144. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 145. Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{146.} Gender Climate Tracker (n.d.). Women's participation in party delegations.

	The percentage of female delegates by Party	
	COP28 in Dubai, 2023	COP21 in Paris, 2015
Denmark	49%	34%
Finland	67%	50%
Iceland	60%	59%
Norway	52%	45%
Sweden	54%	57%

As shown, most of the Nordic countries have made progress throughout the years and reached a gender equality ratio of 40:60 in the delegations.

Norway has been the pioneer in introducing a mandatory gender quota for the boards of public limited companies, requiring a minimum of 40% representation for each gender.^[147] This legislation, introduced in 2002 and implemented by 2008, has been recognised for effectively achieving gender balance in boardrooms, with the enforcement of sanctions playing a key role in its success. Following Norway's lead, Iceland adopted similar legislation. With the Gender Equality Act in 2008, Iceland introduced a gender guota of 40% in politically appointed committees, councils, and boards, ensuring a minimum representation of 40% for each gender in groups larger than three.^[148] All Icelandic ministries comply with this guota, averaging 49%.^[149] In Iceland, while not legally binding for delegations abroad, this practice has influenced the composition of Icelandic delegations to international forums, including the UNFCCC.^[150] At the governmental level in Iceland, mechanisms are in place to promote gender balance within decision-making bodies and in national delegations.[151]

In 2022, the European Union adopted a directive to promote gender balance on corporate boards, requiring listed companies to ensure at least 40% of nonexecutive board seats, or 33% of all executive and non-executive roles combined, are filled by women by mid-2026.^[152] In response to this, **Denmark** introduced a significant legislative shift in 2023, requiring a wide range of public institutions to set and report target figures for gender balance in their boards and senior management, expanding the scope from just governmental boards.^[153] Thus, the Danish Act on Gender Equality (§11 and §12) lays down rules for equal

^{147.} Kilden (2016). The secret behind Norway's gender quota success.
148. Directorate of Equality Iceland (2020). Report of the Office for Equality on committees, councils and boards organized by the ministries in 2018-2019.
149. Directorate of Equality Iceland (2020). Report of the Office for Equality on committees, councils and boards

organized by the ministries in 2018-2019. 150.UNFCCC (2012). Decision 23/CP.18 Submission of Iceland. 151. UNFCCC (2012). Decision 23/CP.18 Submission of Iceland.

^{152.} See Reuters (2022). EU sets board quotas for women by mid-2026, lawmakers say.

^{153.} The paragraph is based on information provided by Danish ministries on the occasion of this review. Feb 2024.

representation of women on boards and other collective management bodies in institutions and companies within the state administration. This means that relevant ministers must ensure equal representation of men and women when they appoint public councils, boards, commissions, etc. E.g. The Climate Council, established to promote impartial advice on climate action to the Minister for Climate, Energy and Utilities, has nine members, five women and four men.^[154]

Sweden and Finland have no legislation mandating gender guotas. Sweden's approach to addressing gender disparity in political representations involves voluntary measures rather than legal quotas. All parliamentary parties, except the Sweden Democrats (SD), have adopted regulations aimed at ensuring a more balanced gender distribution on party lists. In **Finland**, there is no specific legislation mandating gender quotas in corporate boards or political parties. However, Finland practices a form of gender representation through the assembly procedure, where entities recommending members to bodies must propose one woman and one man for each position. The body preparing the establishment of the committee is responsible for adhering to the quota rule. Exceptions to this gender minimum representation can only be made for special reasons, which must be justified in the decision-making process.^[155]

Despite these efforts and progress made in gender equality within politics and public administration over the last two decades, challenges thus remain. In the private sector and academia, leadership roles continue to be male dominated. For instance, in large listed companies, the majority of chairpersons and CEOs are men, and similar trends are observed in management positions within industries traditionally considered male-dominated.^[156]

The 2022 report, Gender Equality in the Nordic Energy Sector, highlights significant disparities and progress in gender representation across the Nordic countries.^[157] Iceland leads with the highest average women's leadership score, reflecting its top position in the World Economic Forum's Global Gender Gap Report, with Denmark at the lowest among the Nordic countries. Even though Norway and Iceland implemented gender quotas for company boards more than ten years ago, the overall representation of women in the energy companies' boards of the five Nordic countries averages 32%. In leadership roles within these companies, women's presence is notably low, holding a majority of leadership positions in only 5% of the companies surveyed. This scarcity is more pronounced at the top, with just over 90% of chairpersons and CEOs in large listed companies being men, and a similar trend in academia where only three out of ten professors are women, dropping even lower in technical fields.^[158] Thus, achieving gender balance in the energy sector

^{154.} Dialogue with the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities. Feb. 2024.

^{155.} Finish Equality Ombudsman (2013). The Directive on Gender Quota for Boards of Listed Companies (TAS 59/2013, issued on February 15, 2013).
156. Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2023). Sub-goal 1: even distribution of power and influence. Although the source is from a Swedish context, the same tendencies are observed in other Nordic countries, as elaborated in

the following paragraph. 157. Elamson, S. & Barnholt Klepper, K. (2021). Gender equality in the Nordic energy sector.

^{158.} Elamson, S. & Barnholt Klepper, K. (2021). Gender equality in the Nordic energy sector.

remains a challenge. The energy sector's gender dynamics mirror broader societal trends and are related to the gender imbalances in STEM education, a theme that will be unfolded in the following section on gender equality in green jobs.

4.2.3 Gender equality in green jobs

While the concept and definition of green jobs vary between countries, green jobs are often associated with employment in the STEM fields where solutions for the green transition are developed.^[159] However, the definitions by International Labour Organization (ILO) and the UN Environment Programme (UNEP), respectively, are commonly used globally. The ILO defines green jobs as "decent jobs that contribute to preserve or restore the environment, be they in traditional sectors such as manufacturing and construction, or in new, emerging green sectors such as renewable energy and energy efficiency".^[160] The UNEP defines it as "work in agriculture, industry, services and administration that contributes to preserving or restoring the quality of the environment".^[161]

Gendered norms and patterns are at play across the domains of decision-making, employment, planning, budgeting, and production, as well as consumption and the activities of everyday life. Research shows that responses to climate change are framed in a masculinised way.^[162] Men make up the majority in STEM education and consequently dominate the sectors of the new green economy – energy, transport, agriculture, and construction. This means that the new solutions, jobs, and investments demanded by the transition to a low-carbon society risk favouring men, missing out on the vital perspectives and competencies of women. Ultimately, it entails the risk of perpetuating or even increasing the gender-segregated labour market and the gender pay gap, which are key gender inequality issues in the Nordic countries.^[163]

"For us in the Nordic countries the absolute priority to get anywhere on gender equality in just transition is to address the gender segregated sector of STEM (...) How can new solutions, innovation, new green jobs and investments demanded by transition to a low-carbon society be made to work for women and for gender equality. We can't actually move forward without women in STEM. Then we will exacerbate the gaps as they are - and this is a huge issue for us." (International Coordinator and Senior Advisor at the Swedish Gender Equality Agency)^[164]

^{159.} Danbolt, I. (2023) Bridging the Green Jobs Divide: Nordic gender barriers and opportunities in the spotlight 160.ILO. (2016) What is a green job? 161. UNEP, ILO, IOE, and ITUC (2008). Green Jobs: Towards Decent Work in a Sustainable, Low-Carbon World.

UNEP, ILO, IOE, and ITUC (2008). Green Jobs: Towards Decent Work in a Sustainable, Low-Carbon World.
 Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{163.} Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context; Sand, Jimmy (2022). Climate, Gender and Consumption: A research overview of gender perspectives on sustainable lifestyles; Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK) (2022). Gender norms a challenge for the green transition.

^{164.} Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

Sectors such as energy, transport, and construction are often prioritised in climate policies with a focus on innovation- and development efforts to reduce emissions. While this is crucial given the carbon-intensive nature of these sectors, women remain significantly underrepresented in the STEM disciplines and consequently receive fewer opportunities for innovation and development. The average percentage of women in green jobs across the five Nordic countries is 30,4%.^[165] This gender disparity is compounded by the existing gender imbalance in STEM education and professions worldwide. While roughly aligning with the average percentage in European Union, significantly fewer women in the Nordic countries graduate from the STEM subjects compared to men (see table).^[166] Neglecting to address this underrepresentation can perpetuate the gender-segregated labour markets, hindering women's participation and involvement in decision-making and leadership within the green transition.

	Female graduates from STEM- education 2020	Women in green jobs 2023
Denmark	16%	29,3%
Finland	16,2%	29,3%
Iceland	11,7%	29%
Norway	10%	29,4%
Sweden	13,3%	34,4%
EU average	13,9%	-
OECD average	-	28,3%

In continuation of this, climate change is frequently framed as a technological challenge, demanding expertise primarily found in the male-dominated STEM fields.^[167] This framing can overshadow the social dimensions of climate change and the contributions of professionals from non-STEM backgrounds, also emphasised by some of the stakeholders contributing to this review. According to a Finnish professor in consumer and society research, speaking on e.g. energy issues is challenging without a STEM background, and thus one's perspectives can easily be

^{165.} Danbolt, I. (2023) Bridging the Green Jobs Divide: Nordic gender barriers and opportunities in the spotlight. 166. Nordic Council of Ministers (2023). Statistics: Education ; Danbolt, I. (2023) Bridging the Green Jobs Divide: Nordic gender barriers and opportunities in the spotlight.

^{167.} Magnusdottir, G., Kronsell, A. (2023). Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States.

discredited if one makes a mistake.^[168] As a response, the researcher advocates for a balanced approach that includes non-STEM perspectives in climate discussions while actively promoting greater female engagement in STEM. Such an approach could make the sector more inclusive and accessible, fostering a diverse pool of talent and perspectives.

Traditionally, gender representation and inclusion in STEM have been the responsibility of ministries and agencies overseeing education, business, and gender equality. Ministries and agencies focused on climate and environment may not be directly engaged in these initiatives. This review, however, include examples of relevant initiatives presented in the following paragraphs.

In **Denmark**, several government-initiated activities have promoted women's access to STEM education, for example by establishing a one-year optional subject in technology comprehension, and a conference on how to change the gender imbalance in STEM.^[169] On a local level, Region Midtjylland has, as part of its sustainability strategy, launched an initiative targeted at increasing the gender balance in the STEM fields.^[170] The aim of the initiative is to enhance diversity and bolster the workforce and is this not explicitly linked to securing gender equality in the green transition. However, engagement in STEM education and professional environments inherently leads to a greater number of women influencing green transition initiatives and projects. The initiative involves collaborating with educational institutions to encourage and support underrepresented genders to pursue professions within this field. The set goal is a minimum representation of 10% women.

In **Finland**'s national Beijing +25 review report (2019), it prioritises increasing girls' and women's access to skills and training in the STEM fields, as well as developing measures to address the gender-segregated labour market.^{[171][172]}

In **Iceland**, Reykjavik University has carried out the collaborative project Girls in STEM with the Federation of Industries and private companies. On the Girls in STEM Day, airls from elementary schools are introduced to educational opportunities within STEM, and gender stereotypes are challenged. The project received funding from the Gender Equality Fund at the Prime Minister's Office.^[173]

In **Norway**, the programme Girls and Technology promotes the technology subjects to girls in lower secondary school. The aim is to increase the proportion of girls and women in technology subjects, and in 2018 the programme toured the country with events at twelve locations. The events were also accessible through social media.

^{168.} Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 168. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries
169. Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national review report Beijing+25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995)
170. Region Midtjylland (2021). Sustainability Strategy 2030.
171. Norwegian Ministry of Culture (2019) Beijing +25: The situation of women and girls in Norway: Development, progress and measures 2014–2019.
172. Ministry of Evidence (2019). Comprehensive national level level progress.

^{172.} Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Finland (2019). Comprehensive national-level review: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).

^{173.} Icelandic Government, Prime Minister's Office (2019). Iceland's report on Beijing +25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).

Through a YouTube campaign, the programme reached 100,000 girls. In 2019, the Norwegian government funded the programme with NOK 3.5 million.^[174]

In Sweden, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency recommends promoting equal representation within STEM and climate action plans in its draft strategy (see details in chapter 5.3.5).^[175] Moreover, the Swedish Gender Equality Agency plays a proactive role in integrating gender perspectives into STEM disciplines, supporting universities and research foundations, and analysing gender stereotypes in educational choices. These efforts align with the broader objective of achieving gender equality in climate policy making. In addressing the gendered imbalances in the green sector, Swedish officials note that climate and gender equality are both highly prioritized in the Swedish research policy proposal from 2020-2024.^[176]

When addressing the gender imbalances of STEM and formulating goals and solutions to the gender-segregated labour markets, scholars argue that the key focus should be on creating an environment with improved conditions for both boys and girls who find themselves in non-traditional fields, challenging prevailing gender norms and misconceptions associated with specific sectors and occupations.^[177] Solely focusing on more girls or women enrolling into STEM educations will not challenge the privilege of men to be the norm.^[178] Another approach targeting the gender imbalance in STEM involves exploring how different occupations are valued and understanding the varying impacts this can have on both men and women.^[179]

Care economy in the green transition

As stated in several studies and echoed by stakeholders contributing to this review, a comprehensive approach to the green transition should value both the technical and social dimensions of transitioning to low- and zero-carbon societies, because "care values and responsibility for unpaid care and domestic work are key to the areen transition."^[180] Several contributors are raising concerns about an excessive emphasis on STEM within climate discussions, potentially side-lining the importance of broader societal changes and considerations to the care economy. Incorporating unpaid care and domestic work into climate policies is paramount. As an example, this theme was discussed in a Nordic COP27 panel hosted by the NCM on the care economy and the areen shift in the labour market, with contributions from ILO, ITUC and OECD, a Danish gender activist- and policy consultant, and Danish Industry (DI).^[181]

^{174.} Norwegian Ministry of Culture (2019). Beijing +25: The situation of women and girls in Norway: Development, progress and measures 2014–2019.
175. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects at Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.

^{176.} SwedenBIO (2020). SwedenBIO's input to the research policy proposition.

^{177.} Sand, J. (2022). Gender perspective on green jobs in the Nordic region - A collection of results from NIKK 2020–

²⁰²² 178. Sand, J. (2022). Gender perspective on green jobs in the Nordic region - A collection of results from NIKK 2020– 2022

^{179.} Simonsson, A. (2022). Vocational education and training in the Nordic countries – Knowledge and interventions to combat gender segregation ; Måwe, I. (2019). Equal pay in the Nordic countries - the law and policy strategies

^{180.}Sand, J. (2022). Gender perspective on green jobs in the Nordic region - A collection of results from NIKK 2020-2022

^{181.} Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Program for the Nordic Pavilion at COP27.

In the national Beijing +25 review reports (2019), countries are required to report on their actions to recognise, reduce and/or redistribute unpaid care and domestic work, as well as promote work-family conciliation. All five Nordic countries have, according to their reports, taken steps to implement and/or strengthening parental leave policies. For instance, in **Finland**, the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health launched the campaign 'It's Daddy Time', which, in addition to focusing on parental leave, aimed to encourage male-dominated industries and sectors to create better and more inclusive work environments for fathers.^[182] In Iceland, an action group on men and equality was appointed by the Minister of Social Affairs and Gender Equality at the time. The group's mandate was to formulate proposals for ways to integrate men in female dominated sectors of the labour market, as well as into higher education programmes in caregiving fields such as nursing and preschool education.^[183]

Neglecting the care aspect in the green transition and the policies guiding it can lead to unintended consequences, such as an additional burden on women due to increased unpaid work resulting from an overemphasis on individualized solutions counting on the efforts from citizens and households.^[184] A gender-responsive climate policy should therefore encompass measures that address the genderbased division of labour and unpaid work, recognising the importance of both technical and social dimensions in achieving a just and inclusive green transition. Researchers argue analysing climate change and energy transitions through a lens of care holds the potential of challenging the individualism characterising the responses to climate change.^[185] Rather, it shifts focus to relational aspects and interdependence between individuals. This paves the way for more community action and locally led solutions that can potentially challenge gendered norms and power structures creating inequalities.

For more elaborated work on gender barriers in the green sector in the Nordic, see the NCM-report Bridging the Green Jobs Divide: Nordic gender barriers and opportunities in the spotlight (2023).^[186]

4.2.4 Summary of Priority area B: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership

The chapter on priority area B of the UNFCCC GAP delves into the efforts to enhance gender balance, women's participation, and leadership within climate policy, including consultation with Indigenous Peoples, specifically women.

 ^{182.} Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2017). Father, take some Daddy time!
 183. Icelandic Government Prime Minister's Office (2019). Iceland's report on Beijing +25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).
 184. Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{185.} Wilson, J., & Chu, E. (2019). The embodied politics of climate change: analysing the gendered division of environmental labour in the UK; Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{186.} Danbolt, L. I. (2023). Bridging the Green Jobs Divide: Nordic gender barriers and opportunities in the spotlight

The chapter describes the Nordic countries' proactive measures, like gender quotas, with Norway and Iceland taking the lead by introducing gender quotas in 2002 and 2008, and Denmark recently joining up with gender quotas regulations in 2024. Such regulations might have paved the way for the Nordic countries reaching 40:60 gender balance ratio in the political administration and delegations. The gender quota of the Nordic female delegates to the COP28 ranges from 49-67%, which is an overall increase since COP21 when the Paris Agreement was signed.

The chapter outlines the significant role of green jobs, often linked with STEM fields, in the green transition and highlights the gendered norms influencing these areas. It stresses the dominance of men in STEM and consequent risks of exacerbating gender imbalances in the labour market and widening the gender pay gap. The review underscores the importance of incorporating women into STEM to ensure a gender-equal green transition, and identifies various Nordic initiatives aimed at increasing women's participation in STEM education and green jobs.

Finland, Norway, and Sweden have in various ways emphasised the importance of involvement and consultation of the Sámi people on matters concerning them. By appointing the Sámi Climate Change Council in Finland, the Finnish government has taken a step further in establishing a forum specifically dealing with the effects of climate change on Sámi people and their livelihoods and cultural practices. The Sámi Climate Change Council consists of both Sami researchers and holders of traditional Sámi knowledge, which is a step further into acknowledging the importance of including traditional knowledge, experience-based and non-STEM knowledge in the climate discussion.

In continuation of this, the chapter discusses the need to value both technical and social dimensions of the green transition, including the care economy, and the potential consequences of neglecting care aspects in climate policies. While solutions addressing the gender imbalance of the STEM field is paramount, researchers also emphasise the importance of including non-STEM perspectives into climate work, e.g. the social sector and unpaid domestic work and care. While the importance of such inclusivity has been recognised at events like COP27 and COP28, the chapter identifies a gap in concrete strategies to fully realise this approach.

Overall, the chapter emphasises the necessity of a multifaceted approach to gender mainstreaming in climate policy, advocating for a balanced representation of women in STEM fields, and recognising the importance of integrating diverse perspectives, including perspectives of Indigenous Peoples, i.e. the Sámi people in the Nordic region, as well as the domain of care work, to ensure an equitable and gender-just green transition.

4.3 Priority area C: Coherence

Priority area C of the UNFCCC GAP entails translating international policies into national governance and ensuring consistency in implementing gender mainstreaming across different offices and levels, thereby ensuring strong institutional mechanisms for gender mainstreaming. This can create synergies across policy areas, leading to greater coherence in organisational operations and effective implementation. Implementing this priority area thus involves supporting the implementation of the enhanced LWPG and the GAP, e.g. by offering policies and legislative frameworks that support gender mainstreaming in general, such as legislations or decisions regarding gender-responsive budgeting or gender impact assessments. Implementing priority area C also involves expanding the networks of climate work with gender equality expertise and ensuring that relevant personnel in public authorities have knowledge of gender-related mandates and gendered dimensions of climate issues. This can be achieved by establishing gender mainstreaming working groups or coordinators within climate-relevant ministries and agencies. Enhancing coherence also entails the facilitation of best practice sharing among administrations and the coordination between relevant international agreements. This coordination increases the potential for synergy between implementing the SDGs and the UNFCCC GAP.

This chapter will thus focus on each country's policy and legislative frameworks relevant to gender mainstreaming and the coordinative responsibility and supportive structures, respectively. Before presenting insights in the section assigned for each country below, this chapter introduction will briefly mention two aspects of relevance.

The UNFCCC National Gender & Climate Change Focal Points

According to the gender and climate change decision 3/CP.25, paragraph 11, Parties are encouraged "to appoint and provide support for a national gender and climate change focal point for climate negotiations, implementation and monitoring".^[187] All parties should provide the UNFCCC secretariat with information about the national gender and climate change focal point (NGCCFP), which is then invited for capacity-building events, knowledge sharing etc. While the UNFCCC secretariat provides guidelines on the scope of work for the National Gender and Climate Change Focal Point, the implementation varies among countries. There is no defined set of tasks for the focal points, but they are responsible for following up on the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP in their respective country and acting as a point of contact between national work and the international level. All Nordic countries have appointed a UNFCCC NGCCFP at the ministry- and/or agency level.

^{187.} UNFCCC (n.d.) Decision -/CP.26. Gender and climate change. Advance unedited version.

EIGE's review of the institutional mechanisms supporting gender mainstreaming

EIGE has reviewed the institutional mechanisms for the promotion of gender equality and gender mainstreaming in the EU Members States.^[188] Institutional mechanisms of gender mainstreaming is one of the twelve critical areas of concern of the BPfA and is measured against four indicators (H1-4), adopted by the Council of the European Union. The EIGE review scores Denmark, Finland, and Sweden against each indicator like this:

- H1: Status of commitment to the promotion of gender equality (max. 15)
 - Denmark: 9,5
 - Finland: 12,5
 - Sweden 9,5
- H2: Human resources of the national gender equality bodies (max. 4):
 - Denmark: 1
 - Finland: 2
 - Sweden: 3,5
- H3: Gender mainstreaming (governmental commitment, laws, and policies) (max. 14):
 - Denmark: 7
 - Finland: 6,5
 - Sweden: 11
- H4: Production and dissemination of statistics disaggregated by sex (max. 6):
 - Denmark: 3,5
 - Finland: 4,5
 - Sweden: 6

While the scores reflect the institutional mechanisms in place for gender mainstreaming in general, they remain relevant to the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP, considering the spill-over effect of strong institutional mechanisms into specific policy areas, such as climate. The scores from the EIGE report above mirror the overall assessment of the coherence of Denmark, Finland and Sweden identified in this review. In the following, the coherence of the countries will be assessed including Norway and Iceland.

In the following sections, the policy- and legislative framework, as well as the coordinative mechanism supporting the integration of gender equality across policy areas, including climate policy, will be presented.

^{188.}EIGE (2023). The pathway to progress: strengthening effective structures for gender equality and gender mainstreaming in the EU

4.3.1 Denmark

Policy and legislative framework

The Danish Act on Gender Equality states that "All public authorities must endeavour to promote gender equality and must incorporate gender equality in all their planning and administration."^[189] Specifically, Section 4 of the Act obliges public authorities to actively pursue equality: "Public authorities must work for equality within their area and incorporate equality in all planning and administration." This act thus mandates systematic gender mainstreaming, assigning responsibilities across a wide spectrum of authorities and organisations. Public authorities are thereby required to integrate gender equality into all aspects of planning and administration, both in public services and internal management.

By law, the Danish Government must present an annual National Perspective and Action Plan for Gender Equality to the Danish parliament. The action plan forms the framework for the Government's gender equality efforts in the coming year. The current Gender Action Plan from 2023 does not comprise a specific focus or measures on gender equality in climate policies and green transition but focuses on promoting gender equality within education and family life, eliminating genderbased violence, promoting LGBTQ+ rights and promoting gender equality globally. [190]

On top of this, according to §5 of the Act on Gender Equality, all Danish ministries, regions, municipalities, state institutions and companies (the last two only if they have more than 50 employees) are obliged to report an equality statement ("ligestillingsredegørelse") to the Minister of Digital Government and Gender Equality every three years. In the equality statements, an account must be given of objectives and initiatives to promote gender equality within the professional areas and core services which concern citizens and in the personnel area. As already described in chapter 4.2.2, public institutions must set target figures for and report on the gender balance of their board and senior management.

The Ministry of Digital Government and Gender Equality publishes a main report based on the reported equality statements, providing a status update on the state institutions, municipalities, and regions' work with gender equality in personnel areas and core services. The latest main report for the 2020-2023 period was published in December 2023.^[191] An appendix to the main report and an inspiration catalogue with selected cases from the gender equality reports are included. A keyword search in this publication shows that the inspiration catalogue does, however, not mention 'climate', 'green', 'transition' or 'sustainability' explicitly.^[192]

^{189.} Official Danish online legal portal covering legislation (2000). Act on the equality of women and men 190.Danish Parliament. Committee on Equality (2023). National Perspective and Action Plan for Gender Equality 2023.

^{191.} Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Review of Equality.

^{192.} Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Review of Equality.

The document Strategy for Gender Impact Assessment in the Public Sector from 2013 is Denmark's official gender mainstreaming plan.^[193] The strategy states that the term "ligestillingsvurdering" (gender impact assessment) is replacing the former term "kønsmainstreaming", which was the direct translation from "gender mainstreaming." This indicates that gender impact assessment ("ligesetillingsvurdering") is applied synonymously with 'gender mainstreaming'. As gender mainstreaming and gender impact assessment are not the same, this poses a risk of overlooking other central elements of gender mainstreaming than GIA, such as gender budgeting and gender analyses.

In compliance with the Gender Equality Act, ministries are required to carry out relevance testing of all new legislative proposals to decide whether a GIA is to be conducted.^[194] Thus, while all legislative proposals are relevance tested, only the proposals deemed specifically relevant for gender equality undergo GIA. As mentioned in chapter 4.1.3 The Strategy for Gender Impact Assessment in the Public Sector, highlights the relevance of bills from public areas of social affairs, health care and transport in opposition to more technical sectors, such as construction.^[195]

Coordinative responsibility and supportive structures

The Strategy for Gender Impact Assessment in the Public Sector also emphasises the importance of collaboration across ministries and local governments.^[196] Gender mainstreaming in Denmark is supported and coordinated by the Ministry of Digital Government and Gender Equality, particularly its Department of Gender Equality. This department facilitates and coordinates gender mainstreaming across various ministries and government departments. The ministries can receive professional assistance from the department, which also relevance test the legislative program for bills that are considered relevant to assess further in terms of gender equality (GIA). It coordinates a cross-ministerial working group that meets regularly to promote and review gender mainstreaming activities. However, when inquired for this review, the Gender Equality Department did not mention any concrete examples of assistance given to or collaboration with the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities.^[197]

Denmark has two equal treatment bodies. The Equal Treatment Board is an independent board that handles complaints and decides in cases about discrimination within and outside the labour market. The Danish Institute for Human Rights promotes, evaluates and monitors gender equality in Denmark and fights discrimination on the basis of gender. The Institute also has a mandate to

^{193.} Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender impact assessments of legislative proposals.
194. Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender

 ^{194.} Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender impact assessments of legislative proposals.
 195. Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender

impact assessments of legislative proposals. 196. Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender

impact assessments of legislative proposals. 197. E-mail-based questionnaire with the Danish Gender Equality Department. Dec. 2023.

bring cases of a principal nature or cases of public interest to the Equal Treatment Board.

In this review, no gender focal points have been identified in the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, and there are no inter-ministerial gender mainstreaming coordinators or working groups. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs has gender focal points in all development corporation departments within the Ministry, including in the Department of Green Diplomacy and Climate. The Danish national gender and climate change focal point (NGCCFP) is also placed in this Ministry. That the NGCCFP is positioned there, and not in the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, supports the finding presented chapter 4.1, that gender mainstreaming in climate policy is prioritised in the context of global climate development policy. While this review has found indications of limited understanding, acknowledgement or prioritization of the relevance and importance of implementing the UNFCCC GAP in the context of domestic climate policy, an interest in gender mainstreaming was observed in the Danish Ministry of Environment, from where an official participated in a focus group for this review. The official highlighted the need for, and a current priority in the ministry for, screening new regulations for their impact on the SDGs, including equality and diversity, thus pointing to the potential of including objectivities of the UNFCCC GAP into this routinised screening process.

In the context of conducting this review, Danish ministerial authorities point out that they, for over a decade, have been tracking the portion of its Official Development Assistance (ODA) dedicated to gender equality. This involves using a policy-marker system combined with a supplementary recording of funding 'weight' to assess gender equality impact. This approach is applied across all grants, enabling monitoring of gender-focused funding trends within Danish ODA, including contributions to multilateral organisations and sector-specific allocations. ^[198] Such procedure is found in the other Nordic countries as well. For a brief review of the gender mainstreaming, specifically focusing on gender budgeting, in the context of foreign affairs- and international development policy, see <u>chapter 4.4.3</u>.

On a local level, regions and municipalities have in response to reporting obligations developed Gender Action Plans. In 2023, the social partners,^[199] and the Department of Employee and Competition (under the Ministry of Finance) entered a partnership aimed at enhancing the gender balance in traditionally gendered educations.^[200]

^{198.} Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national review report Beijing+25 199. Confederation of Danish Employers (DA), Danish Trade Union Confederation (FH), Local Government Denmark

^{199.} Confederation of Danish Employers (DA), Danish Trade Union Confederation (FH), Local Government Denmark (KL), Danish Regions 200Danish Employers' Association, the Main Organization of the Trade Unions, the National Association of

²⁰⁰Danish Employers' Association, the Main Organization of the Trade Unions, the National Association of Municipalities, Danish Regions, & the Danish Agency for Employment and Skills (2023). A better gender balance through cultural change.

4.3.2 Finland

Policy and legislative framework

The Finnish Act on Equality between Women and Men (609/1986) requires authorities to promote gender equality in all their activities.^[201] This gender mainstreaming principle states that work for enhancing gender equality in all activities must be purposeful and systematic. Authorities such as municipalities and ministries are obliged to formulate gender equality plans to enhance gender mainstreaming.

Finland's approach to gender budgeting, while not legally mandated, is demonstrated through commitments in government equality action plans and guidelines for government proposals and budgets. Instructions from the Ministry of Finance guide the inclusion of gender perspectives in budget drafts. Most ministries incorporate gender budgeting, providing summaries of expected gender equality impacts in their budget proposals. These summaries are monitored yearly, and the findings are reported to both the Ministry for Gender Equality and the Parliament during the budget process.^[202] GIAs and gender budgeting are thus applied to legislative reforms and budget proposals, albeit not legally mandated.

To promote gender mainstreaming at local and regional level, Gender Equality Plans (GEPs) are mandated by law for educational institutions and workplaces with over 30 employees. The GEP brings together concrete objectives and measures to gender mainstream core functions, as well as employees/students. The Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare provides guidelines for developing these plans, which involve the following steps:

1) Assessment of Gender Equality Situation: A thorough review of the organisation's current state regarding gender equality^[203] (for workplaces, a salary survey is a mandatory part of this assessment).

2) Development of Measures: Concrete measures formulated to address any identified gender equality issues.

3) Regular Updates and Evaluations: The plan requires periodic reviews and updates, typically every two or three years, to ensure its effectiveness and relevance. The responsibility for developing and implementing these plans lies with managing the respective organisations, including municipalities, for public schools and day-cares. The national action plan on gender equality sets specific targets and is partly budgeted to support gender equality across all levels of government. By the end of 2023, 60% of all Finnish municipalities had developed GEPs.^[204]

^{201.} Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2016). The Finnish Act on Equality between Women and Men 2025 202. Finnish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national-level review: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995). 203 Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (n.d.) Fauality planning.

^{203.}Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (n.d.). Equality planning 204.Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (2023). Functional equality and equality plans have been drawn up in more and more municipalities - however, they are still missing in several municipalities

Coordinative responsibility and supportive structures

The Gender Equality Unit, which operates within the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, engages in various activities, including promoting gender considerations to be integrated into the governmental decision-making process.^[205] Finland also employs an inter-departmental coordination structure, with gender mainstreaming working groups in every ministry. These working groups are responsible for planning and implementing gender mainstreaming in their respective policy sectors. The groups, comprising senior management and experts, can make recommendations, monitor objectives, and focus on core ministry processes. Supported by the Gender Equality Unit, they act as a communication channel between ministries and are integral to the Government's gender mainstreaming efforts. These groups meet bimonthly as an inter-ministerial network to discuss and develop gender mainstreaming strategies, coordinated by the Gender Equality Unit.^[206]

The Council for Gender Equality is an equality policy actor with an advisory role in the state administration. The council promotes gender equality in society by formulating draft proposals and statements for to develop legislation, organising events and by publishing relevant research. The council can set up subcommittees and working groups of experts to support specific activities.^[207]

Since 2003, all governments in Finland have decided to draw up a national Gender Action Plan. At the time of this review, the current government's Gender Action Plan is being prepared.^[208] The plan, 'Making Finland a global leader in gender equality - Government action plan for gender equality 2020–2023',^[209] highlights climate change as one out of six priority areas where gender equality actions shall be included, which show coherence between official government priorities, the aender equality work of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health, and the climaterelevant departments in the government, thus supporting gender mainstreaming in climate policy directly:

"Gender equality is being promoted through mainstreaming so that gender equality measures will be incorporated into actions focusing on strengthening the national economy and creating jobs in developing countries; on supporting functioning societies and democracy; and on combating climate change and ensuring sustainable use of natural resources." (Ministry of Social Affairs and Heath, 2021) [210]

205.Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (n.d.). Gender mainstreaming 206.Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (n.d.). Gender mainstreaming 207.The Council for Gender Equality (n.d.) The Council for Gender Equality (TANE). 208At the time of this current review, the new Action Plan has not been launched 209.Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2021). Making Finland a global leader in gender equality

Government action plan for gender equality 2020–2023. 210.Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2021). Making Finland a global leader in gender equality Government action plan for gender equality 2020–2023.

The Ombudsman for Equality and the Gender Equality Unit within the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health are central institutions that guide and monitor the efforts stated in the national gender action plan and the inter-departmental working groups in ministries ensure the planning and implementation of gender mainstreaming strategies within the respective policy areas, including climate policy. The Ombudsman for Equality furthermore monitors the Equality Act and provides guidance and information on discrimination due to gender, gender identity and gender expression, and promotion of equality.^[211] The ombudsman thus supports, for instance, educational institutions, municipalities, and companies in gender equality planning.

In Finland the NGCCFP is a ministerial adviser in the Ministry of the Environment. The main responsibility of the current focal point is environment and climate finance and certain negotiation items under the UNFCCC/Paris Agreement, as well as certain OECD Working Groups. Due to a lack of resources, the current NGCCFP can do limited coordination and relies heavily on colleagues in other sector ministries.^[212]

4.3.3 Iceland

Policy and legislative framework

Iceland's commitment to gender mainstreaming is anchored in the Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender (150/2020),^[213] which emphasizes the integration of gender and equality considerations in all policymaking, planning, and decision-making within ministries and public institutions. The Act defines gender mainstreaming as a systematic approach to policy development, ensuring gender equality perspectives are included across all societal policymaking and decisions.

Additionally, the Act on the Administration of Matters Concerning Equality was introduced in 2021 along with revisions of the Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights of Gender.^[214] The Administration Act is applied to the administration of the responsibilities of the Icelandic Directorate of Equality, among others, as well as municipal GEPs. The Administration Act also covers administration of the Act on Equal Treatment Irrespective of Race or Ethnic Origin,^[215] and the Act on Equal Treatment on the Labour Market,^[216] meaning that it goes beyond the scope of gender equality. Moreover, as mentioned in chapter 4.2.2, Iceland has introduced a gender quota in politically appointed committees, councils, and boards, which is embedded in the Act of Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender.

Origin

^{211.} Finnish Ombudsman for Equality (2023). Ombudsman for Equality 212. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 213. Icelandic Government (2021). Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender 214. Icelandic Government (2021). Act on the Administration of Matters Concerning Equality No. 151/2020

^{215.} Icelandic Government (2020). Act No 85 of 25 June 2018 on Equal Treatment irrespective of Race and Ethnic

^{216.} Icelandic Government (2019). Act on Equal Treatment on the Labour Market, No. 86/2018

Since 2009, Iceland has carried out gender budgeting in public authorities.^[217] Initially, the focus in terms of promoting gender budgeting was on gathering information and developing strategies. A Steering Committee with members from all ministries was formed, and pilot projects were conducted across ministries between 2010 and 2011, contributing to increased knowledge and adjustments in work processes. Following the Public Finance Act, gender budgeting became a legal requirement from January 1st, 2016, emphasising its integration into decisionmaking processes and daily operations.^[218] The gender budgeting efforts are structured around five-year plans.^[219] The gender budgeting steering committee, led by the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs, with participation from all ministries, oversees the gender budgeting implementation and appointed gender experts/representatives within each ministry cooperate with the inter-ministerial steering groups responsible for implementing gender budgeting.

In the preparation of the government's five-year economic strategy and annual budget, decisions are made regarding socio-economic priorities. Gender budgeting is used to consider the situations of different groups by analysing the effects of various options with a focus on gender aspects. Challenges and opportunities relating to gender equality as well as objectives and activities to address these, are integrated in the strategic planning for each expenditure area. Each ministry also accounts for the gender impact of their budget proposals. The overall gender impact of the annual budget is assessed, and the results published in the budget bill. Finally, progress towards goals and planned activities is reported in each Minister's Annual Report.^[220] The status report on gendered aspects of all government department and ministries (mentioned in chapter 4.1.1) is also part of Iceland's gender budgeting effort. Thus, Iceland is pioneering regarding the implementation of gender budgeting.

Coordinative responsibility and supportive structures

The Directorate of Equality is a special institution under the Prime Minister's Office handling administration of all matters regarding equality. The Directorate is monitoring the implementation of the equality acts including gender mainstreaming, handling educational and information activities in the field of equality, forwarding comments and proposals to the ministers and other authorities on actions to be taken to promote equality. The Directorate of Equality mandates that companies and institutions with 25 or more employees develop a GEP, as per the Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender. The GEPs aim to equalise gender positions in the workplace and includes provisions for pay equality, vocational training, work-family life balance, and prevention of gender-based violence and harassment. The Government has developed a GEP, targeted the Government Offices, ensuring that ministry employees' rights under

^{217.} Icelandic Government (n.d.). Implementation of gender budgeting
218. Icelandic Government (2015). Act No. 123/2015
219. Icelandic Government (2019). Five-year plan for gender budgeting 2019-2023
220. Icelandic Government (2019). Five-year plan for gender budgeting 2019-2023

the Equality Act are respected. Each ministry is responsible for enforcing the plan within its operations.^[221] Furthermore, municipalities are required to develop GEPs that include gender equality efforts, including objectives and actions to promote equality and equal treatment in the allocation of funds, in the municipal services and in employee matters.

The Gender Equality Action Plan for 2020-2023, approved by the Icelandic Parliament at the end of 2019, comprises 29 actions divided into six categories. Each action is the responsibility of specific ministries. The actions span various areas, including administrative governance, labour market equality, implementation of the Istanbul Convention, gender equality in education, safety, and international efforts towards gender equality. This initiative underscores Iceland's commitment to gender mainstream different sectors and ministries to ensure equal opportunities and address disparities in participation and benefits between genders.^[222] In the Proposal for Parliament Resolution on Gender Equality Action Programme for the period of 2020-223, gender equality integration in climate and environmental policy and projects is explicitly addressed, e.g.; "An emphasis will also be placed on making the voices of women heard with regard to climate issues and for provisions regarding gender mainstreaming to be included in international agreements on trade, environment and climate."^[223] Such statements support the priority of gender mainstreaming in climate policy and by that supports the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP.

To facilitate gender mainstreaming, Iceland has established gender equality officers in all ministries under Article 27 on the Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender. These representatives are tasked with overseeing gender equality activities within their respective ministry's scope and ensuring gender mainstreaming in policymaking and decision-making. The tasks also include guiding gender equality assessments (GIAs) of government bills and shaping comprehensive plans for gender mainstreaming. Furthermore, all new governments in Iceland appoint a Gender Equality Council consisting of eleven representatives from women's organisations, the social partners, and the association of local authorities.^[224]

In Iceland, the current NGCCFP is placed in the Department of Land and Natural Heritage, at the Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources, which fosters coherence in the coordination between gender equality work and climate policy. However, it has not been possible to identify the concrete role, tasks and resources provided for the Icelandic NGCCFP within this review.

^{221.} Icelandic Government (2021). The Government Offices Gender Equality Plan 222. Icelandic Government (2019). The Gender Equality Action Plan 2020–2023. 223. Icelandic Government (2019). The Prime Minister's Proposal for a Parliamentary Resolution on the Gender

Equality Action Programme 2020-2023.

^{224.} Icelandic Government (2019). Iceland's report on Beijing +25.

4.3.4 Norway

Policy and legislative framework

Norway's commitment to gender mainstreaming is enshrined in the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act, which was adopted in 2017. This Act, while replacing previous Equality Acts, highlights equality mainstreaming across all policy areas as a central strategy at national, regional, and local levels. The Act mandates public authorities to actively engage in activities and report on the status of equality.^[225] The equality reports are publicly available. This means that public institutions have a specific responsibility for ensuring gender equality within their own sphere of influence.^[226] The Act further obliges all employers to make active, targeted, and systematic efforts to promote equality and prevent discrimination of all kinds. All public employers, regardless of size, and all private employers that employ more than 50 employees are obliged to follow a four-step-method. This method entails annually investigating risks of discrimination or barriers to equality analysing the causes of identified risks, implementing measures, and evaluating the results of their efforts. They must also review pay conditions pertaining to gender and the use of involuntarily part-time work every two years. The same applies to private employers with between 20 to 50 employees, if requested by the employees or their representatives. Employers subject to this legal authority must also report on their work annually in the annual report or another document available to the public.^[227] Furthermore, as mentioned in chapter 4.2.2, Norway was the first country in the Nordic region to introduce mandatory gender guota for the boards of public limited companies.

Gender budgeting is not legally mandated in Norway. In the Norwegian national review report for Beijing +25, it is noted that gender equality initiatives are funded by various ministries, not just the Ministry of Culture, which supports gender equality grants, regional equality centres, the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud, and the Anti-Discrimination Tribunal. The Ministry of Culture also sponsors the CORE research centre, focusing on gender equality in several domains. However, climate or green transition is, according to a search on their webpage, not a theme they focus explicitly on.^[228] The Ministry of Finance mandates ministries to incorporate gender equality considerations into budget planning, as per the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act, emphasizing an inclusive approach to gender equality across different sectors.^[229]

^{225.}NorwegianEquality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud (n.d.). The activity- and reporting obligation

^{226.} Nowegian Ministry of Culture and Equality (2023). Gender equality 227. Law data (2022). Chapter 4. Active equality efforts

 ^{228.} Centre for Research on Gender Equality (CORE). Our Research.
 229. Norwegian Ministry of Culture (2019). The situation of women and girls in Norway: Development, progress and measures 2014–2019 Beijing +25:

Coordinative responsibility and supportive structures

The Ministry of Culture and Equality in Norway is responsible for coordinating equality policies in Norway. Each ministry is charged with the task of actively and systematically working to promote equality and prevent discrimination in all areas of society. The Norwegian government is currently working on a governmental Gender Action Plan, which will be published in 2024. The government also presents an annual policy report for the Parliament on the status of the work to promote equality and diversity in all sectors.

The Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud (LDO) oversees the duty to actively promote equality and the duty to provide information on the status of gender equality, as mandated by the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act. Additionally, it is responsible for ensuring compliance with the duty to report on equality and nondiscrimination. The Anti-Discrimination Tribunal enforces reporting obligations for employers and public authorities and deals with complaints of discrimination and harassment submitted to the body and has the authority to impose penalties.

The Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir) serves as a national specialist agency for gender equality, ethnicity, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender issues and disability. Bufdir carries out knowledge development and documentation, promotion and guidance activities, administration of grants to gender equality policy organisations and implementation of measures in national action plans. Bufdir has also developed indicators for gender equality, organised in a publicly available web-based database.^[230]

Prior to decisions regarding state measures with effects beyond internal operations, such as reforms, rule changes and investments, policy makers are required to consider e.g. what effects the decisions have on certain groups of people. The requirements are formulated in Instruction for Official Studies of Central Governmental Measures.^[231] The minimum requirements for the contents of a study/assessment include the following: Which fundamental questions are raised by the measures? What are the positive and negative effects of the measures, how permanent are these, and who will be affected? These questions encompass a study of the effects related to equality and discrimination issues.

In this review, no coordinators or inter-ministerial working groups assigned with gender mainstreaming responsibilities within the climate-relevant ministries have been identified. However, the role of the UNFCCC NGCCFP is currently ascribed to an advisor in the Ministry of Climate and Environment. The tasks of the Norwegian focal point on gender and climate change involve

a) Leading negotiations on gender and climate change under the UNFCCC on behalf of Norway and working on highlighting women's rights and meaningful

 ^{230.}The Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (n.d.). Activity- and reporting obligations for public authorities
 231. Norwegian Government (n.d.). The investigation instruction

participation in all areas under UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement, where relevant. b) Coordinating work related to gender and climate change nationally and internationally, e.g. attending meetings, coordinate and preparing meetings for ministers, formulating text in national strategies and reports (e.g. the Norwegian action plan on women, peace, and security) and spread awareness on the interlinkages between gender and climate change in the Ministry of Climate and Environment.^[232]

4.3.5 Sweden

Policy and legislative framework

Sweden's gender equality policy has the overall objective that women and men must have the same power to shape society and their own lives.^[233] Since 1994, gender mainstreaming has been the Swedish Government's overarching strategy to implement the national objectives on gender equality. This approach is combined with measures designed to specifically target gender inequalities in different policy areas (i.e. in the form of extra funding, extra focus, action plans, etc.).^[234] The Swedish gender equality policy has sub-goals, and all gender mainstreaming actions are guided by the objectives set out in the policy, as well as of policy specific objectives that have been formulated based on the gender needs assessment of each Ministry.^[235] As an example, the Government decision, Jämställdhetsintegrering i Regeringskansliet 2021-2025,^[236] outlines how the

Government Offices should integrate a gender perspective into its operations from 2021 to 2025. This decision identifies four central processes: the central government budget, legislation, governance, and EU-matters. In addition, the decision stipulates that statistics should be disaggregated by sex, and gender patterns should be commented upon.

In Sweden, all committees of inquiry are required to analyse their proposals from a gender perspective, as stipulated by the Committees Ordinance.

Since the 2000s, the Swedish government has been implementing gender budgeting. Following the government's commitment to gender-responsive budgeting, incorporating a gender equality perspective into the entire budget bill process is thus mandatory. This approach ensures that gender equality considerations are integral to the evaluation and decision-making for new reforms and initiatives right from their inception. Additionally, gender equality analyses are required for presenting outcomes and introducing new policy directions, supported by specific guidelines on integrating gender perspectives into budget-related work. ^[237] The government has introduced a five-step-tool for gender budgeting called

^{232.} Based on information provided by the UNFCCC NGCCFP

^{233.} Government Offices of Sweden (n.d.) Gender equality policy in Sweden – a Government for Gender Equality. 234. Swedish Gender Equality Agency (n.d.) Gender Equality Policy in Sweden. 235. Swedish Gender Equality Agency (n.d.) Gender Equality Policy in Sweden; EIGE (2022). Sweden: legislative framework.

^{236.} Government Offices of Sweden (2021). Gender mainstreaming in the governtment offices of sweden 2021-2025 237. Government Offices of Sweden, Ministry of Employment, Division for Gender Equality (2019). Sweden's report on Beijing +25.

BUDGe, which is readily available for policymakers and public agencies.^[238] The instructions for gender budgeting in the government offices align with the government decision guiding gender mainstreaming in government offices for the period 2021-2025.

According to the Swedish report on Beijing +25 (2019),^[239] the national budget includes a specific allocation for gender equality initiatives, ranging from SEK 200– 480 million annually, based on government proposals and parliamentary decisions. ^[240] Sweden also practices gender-responsive budgeting in its international development cooperation, with a significant portion of its ODA being gender mainstreamed or targeted towards gender equality efforts, supported by a global strategy for gender equality with substantial funding.^[241]

Coordinative responsibilities and supportive structures

The Division for Gender Equality, which is part of the Ministry of Employment, is responsible for overseeing gender equality policy, conducting gender-sensitive analyses, and coordinating gender mainstreaming processes, including gender budgeting. The Minister for Gender Equality and Working Life, also situated within the Ministry of Employment, oversees the overall gender equality efforts.

Each ministry has a gender mainstreaming coordinator and develops an action plan for implementing the government decision on gender mainstreaming and mechanisms. These plans include mechanisms such as government assignments to agencies to further support gender mainstreaming, e.g. assignments to develop sector-specific gender mainstreaming strategy proposals. The Government's latest development programme for gender mainstreaming in government agencies 2020-2025 aims to strengthen agencies' gender mainstreaming efforts to ensure that their activities contribute even more effectively to the achievement of the national gender equality policy objectives.

The Swedish Gender Equality Agency, established in 2018 under the Ministry of Employment, oversees two development programs focused on gender mainstreaming in government agencies and Swedish higher education, respectively. ^[242] The agency is mandated to support gender mainstreaming implementation, enhance coordination, monitor progress, and report on the Swedish gender equality policy goals. The agency collaborates with governmental agencies, Swedish higher education institutions, municipalities, businesses, and industry. One aspect of the programs involves providing training, facilitating knowledge sharing and disseminating best practices among relevant agencies and institutions. In 2020, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency became part of the Government's

^{238.}Government Offices of Sweden (n.d.). BUDGe for Gender Equality – a Swedish tool for gender budgeting 239.Government Offices of Sweden, Ministry of Employment, Division for Gender Equality (2019). Sweden's report on Beijing +25.

^{240.}In the period of 2015-2019, more than 90% of this funding focused on addressing men's violence against women. Additional funds were allocated across other policy areas for gender equality efforts, such as improving women's health and enhancing staffing in healthcare and elderly care sectors.

^{241.} Government Offices of Sweden, Ministry of Employment, Division for Gender Equality (2019). Sweden's report on Beijing +25.

on Beijing +25. 242.Swedish Gender Equality Agency. (n.d.). Goverment agencies and higher education institutions.

development programme for Gender Mainstreaming in Government Agencies' (GMGA) network, which focuses on mainstreaming gender considerations in all agency operations. As a partner in GMGA, the agency commits to assessing impacts disaggregated by gender, demonstrating its ongoing commitment to gender mainstreaming in climate policies.^[243]

An evaluation of the GMGA from 2019 shows that the programme has prompted a greater number of government agencies to gender mainstream their operational approaches.^[244] A new model (GMGA+) is focusing on advancing the gender mainstreaming in government agencies, with a specific emphasis on developing and implementing a model for systematic knowledge exchange and sharing of best practices in relation to gender mainstreaming and gender budgeting in the public sector.^[245] To achieve this, the agency is collaborating with National Financial Management Authority, the Swedish Prison and Probation Service, the Swedish Tax Agency and the Swedish Research Council.

By 2022, 58 government agencies were actively engaged in forming strategic action plans for gender mainstreaming.^[246] The most recent cohort of government agencies to be involved in GMGA+ are agencies that work in environment, just transition and climate change, as pointed out by an International Coordinator and Senior Advisor at the Swedish Gender Equality Agency, which demonstrate notable efforts in terms of gender mainstreaming in climate policy and by that implementing the UNFCCC GAP.

The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency and the Swedish Gender Equality Agency, each host a UNFCCC NGCCFPs exemplifying Sweden's commitment to integrate gender in climate policies and actions. These focal points facilitate national and international coordination on the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. The Gender Equality Focal Point at Gender Equality Agency also represents the agency in the Oversight committee of Sweden's Just Transition Fund (EUfinancing mechanism) and in the EU Advisory Committee on Gender Equality.

Additionally, inter-ministerial coordinators within each ministry ensure the integration of gender and climate considerations into budget propositions, promoting coherence in policy and action. The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency holds a Gender Mainstreaming Coordinator, coordinating cooperation with other agencies while also proactively engaging in initiatives to further this agenda.

National draft strategy for implementing the UNFCCC GAP

The Swedish government has shown support for implementing the UNFCCC GAP, by commissioning the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency to formulate a

^{243.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 244.Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2020.) Gender mainstreaming in government agencies. 245.Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2020.) Gender mainstreaming in government agencies.

^{246.}Swedish Gender Equality Agency (n.d.). Government agencies and higher education institutions. 247.Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

strategy for the national implementation. The strategy is developed in cooperation with the Swedish Gender Equality Agency and offers a translation of the UNFCCC GAP priority areas into a Swedish national governance context.^[248] The strategy includes a status of the current realisation of the UNFCCC GAP priority areas and associated objectivities and suggests recommendations for further improvement, such as:

- Clarifying mandates, organisation, and responsibilities for gender mainstreaming in national climate policies, implementation, and follow-up.
- Ensuring that gender equality aspects are considered and that gender equality analyses are conducted during the introduction, implementation, and follow-up of climate control agents.
- Promoting funding for research linked to both gender equality and climate change.
- Strengthening coordination among academia, agencies, civil society, and the private sector to integrate gender equality more effectively within the climate area.
- Developing the production and availability of sex-disaggregated climate statistics related to emission reduction, climate effects, and climate adaptation.

The draft strategy for instance outlines the national implementation of priority area C on 'Coherence' as follows:

"Nationally, coherence is promoted at the Government Offices, where gender equality and climate coordinators are present in each department to ensure that the issues are integrated into the work and the budget process. Gender equality is to be integrated into all budget areas, and climate is a cross-cutting area that is analysed and integrated into all budget appropriations. The government is running a development program for gender mainstreaming in agencies, where the goal is for each participating agency to continue to develop its core activities so that they contribute to gender equality policy." ^[249]

Sweden's gender mainstreaming, including initiatives such as the GMGA, the formulation of gender action plans within ministries and agencies, inter-ministerial working groups, designated gender mainstreaming coordinators, and cooperation with gender experts, alongside gender budgeting and impact assessments, demonstrates a robust framework and political will to perform gender mainstreaming across policy areas, including in the area of climate policy. This approach of Sweden fosters more effective gender mainstreaming, by creating

^{248.}Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects at Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.
249.Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects at Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.

synergies and is supported by the alignment with international policies of both the UNFCCC GAP and the SDGs.

4.3.6 Summary of Priority area C: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership

Priority area C in the UNFCCC GAP focuses on translating international policies into national governance, emphasising coherent gender mainstreaming across various offices and levels, particularly regarding the UNFCCC GAP objectives. This coherence relies on political will and is crucial for effective gender mainstreaming. Efforts under priority area C include supporting the UNFCCC GAP implementation through policies and legislative frameworks facilitating gender mainstreaming, such as systematic gender budgeting and impact assessments.

This review finds that the Nordic countries exhibit diverse approaches to gender mainstreaming within their national policy and legislative frameworks. Denmark's Gender Equality Act mandates public authorities to promote gender equality systematically across planning and administration, yet the current Gender Action Plans lack specific measures on gender equality in relation to climate policies. Gender impact assessments of new bills are supported by Danish legislation, which means that all bill proposals must be relevance tested to decide if a gender impact assessment is to be conducted. However, the strategy document guiding this procedure of GIAs, including the first step of the relevance test, indicates that GIAs are mostly relevant in policy areas outside the technical domains of, for instance, construction, which could be argued to weaken the political will and support for gender mainstreaming in climate policy, including crucial sectors such as construction and other STEM-related fields, with a high emphasis on technical matters. In Finland, the Act on Equality between Women and Men requires authorities to promote gender equality actively, leading to the inclusion of gender perspectives in budget drafts and legislative reforms. Gender Equality Plans (GEPs) are mandated for educational institutions and workplaces, enhancing gender mainstreaming at local and regional levels. Regarding Finland, it is worth highlighting that the recent gender action plan (2020-2023) formulated by the former government includes climate change as one of six priority areas where gender equality shall be included, demonstrating political will and support for gender mainstreaming in climate policy. Iceland emphasises gender mainstreaming in policymaking through its Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender. Since 2009, gender budgeting has been a mandatory practice, integrated into decision-making processes and daily operations, structured around five-year plans to ensure gender considerations in strategic planning and budget proposals. In the resolution of the recent Gender Equality Plan (2020-2023) of Iceland, gender mainstreaming in climate and environmental policy and projects is highlighted, which like in Finland indicates political will and support in terms of integrating gender equality in climate policy. Norway's Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act mandates public authorities to engage actively in the promotion and reporting of

equality. Despite the lack of legal requirements for gender budgeting, it is reported that various ministries fund gender equality initiatives with efforts to incorporate gender equality considerations into budget planning. Sweden's gender equality policy, based on the Discrimination Act, adopts gender mainstreaming as its longstanding central strategy, requiring committees of inquiry to analyse proposals from a gender perspective. The Division for Gender Equality coordinates gendersensitive analysis and mainstreaming processes, including gender budgeting, which is mandatory. Ministries and agencies are encouraged to develop their own strategic gender action plans for gender mainstreaming, supported by the government programme GMGA(+), resulting in gender action plans from 58 government agencies by 2022, including climate-relevant agencies. In addition, The Swedish government tasked the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, in collaboration with the Swedish Gender Equality Agency, to create a strategy for integrating the UNFCCC GAP into Sweden's national context, resulting in a national strategy document (2021), demonstrating commitment and action towards gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement.

Finland, Iceland, and Sweden showcase collaborative measures across ministries and institutions, such as inter-departmental working groups, experts and/or coordinators focusing on gender mainstreaming within the area of climate policy. In Sweden, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, for instance, hosts both a UNFCCC National Gender and Climate Change Focal Point and a Gender Mainstreaming Coordinator and demonstrates continuous collaboration with the Gender Equality Agency. In Iceland, appointed gender experts within each ministry and inter-ministerial steering groups are responsible for the implementation of gender budgeting – a process that is overseen by a gender budgeting steering committee led by the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs, with participation from all ministries. Finland also applies a coordinated approach to gender mainstreaming across its government through working groups within every ministry. These groups, made up of senior management and experts, are tasked with the planning and execution of gender mainstreaming initiatives in their specific areas of policy and have mandate to make recommendations, monitor progress, etc. The Gender Equality Unit supports these groups, facilitating communication among ministries, e.g. by gathering the groups every two months to discuss and advance gender mainstreaming strategies.

In **Norway**, the UNFCCC National Gender and Climate Change Focal Point is placed in the Ministry of Climate and Environment. The review has not identified coordinated efforts focusing on implementing the UNFCCC GAP in the national, and specifically domestic context, of **Denmark**, where the role of the National Gender and Climate Change Focal Point is assigned to an advisor in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.

The chapter thus highlights diverse approaches to gender mainstreaming in the Nordic countries, with Finland, Iceland, and Sweden demonstrating strong political will and collaborative efforts in integrating gender equality into climate policies through coordinated actions across ministries and institutions, while Denmark and Norway show varying degrees of commitment and practical application in gender mainstreaming initiatives in climate-relevant policies. The review thus shows a need for expanding awareness and gender expertise in climate-relevant ministries and agencies.

4.4 Priority area D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation

Priority area D focuses on the gender-responsive implementation of climate policies and the key elements and tools of gender mainstreaming to achieve this objective. The priority area entails the involvement of gender experts in formulating climate policies and conducting GIAs as well as gender budgeting initiatives. Moreover, the chapter investigates how gender-responsive central climate policy documents are.

The first section, '4.4.1 Involvement of gender experts', presents examples of involvement of relevant organisations and institutions with expertise in gender equality - a central component of gender mainstreaming. The chapter then goes on to outline identified climate-relevant cases of gender impact assessments and gender budgeting, in the section '4.4.2 Gender impact assessments and gender budgeting' as both measures are central aspects of gender mainstreaming. While this review focuses primarily on the Nordic countries' domestic climate policies and includes cases on a regional and local level, another recent report evaluates the Nordic countries' (except Iceland) efforts to integrate gender considerations in climate finance and development policies. Findings from this study are presented in 4.4.3 Gender responsiveness in foreign- and international development policy' in relation to climate change, which includes a screening of all five countries' recent Biennial Reports submitted to the UNFCCC. In the following section 4.4.4. Implementation of the BPfA', the recent national review reports (2019) on implementing the Beijing Declaration's priority areas of concern are screened, as these documents offer insights into member states' achievements and challenges in gender equality and climate action.

In '4.4.5. Gender-responsiveness in selected key climate policy documents' the review goes into more depth in screening two selected climate policy documents – available in all five countries. The documents examined for gender responsiveness are recent national climate action plans from each country and the Long-term low-emission strategies submitted to the UNFCCC. These documents outline strategies for achieving climate mitigation targets, transitioning to renewable energy, and ensuring a just transition to net zero emissions by mid-century. The country-specific section will also include additional documents that add to the data and insights of this review. These documents have not been systematically collected and may not be available in all countries.

4.4.1 Involvement of gender experts

As described in <u>chapter 4.3</u> on Coherence, both Sweden, Iceland and Finland have coordinated efforts and structures supporting the collaboration between the intergovernmental gender equality departments or -units and the climate-relevant ministries and agencies. In addition, concerning Sweden, it was mentioned in <u>chapter 4.1</u>, that the **Swedish** Environmental Protection Agency has invited researchers with expertise in climate, environment, gender, and democracy to facilitate lectures for the agency's offices as part of an initiative for capacitybuilding and knowledge strengthening. Such a proactive approach to involve nongovernmental experts in gender equality or gender just green transition, have not been identified in domestic climate work in Norway and Denmark.

When inquired about inclusion of assisting competences for gender mainstreaming in green transition policies, the **Norwegian** Ministry for Climate and Energy replied that knowledge in these areas is primarily gathered through engagements with experts, organisations, businesses, and others with expertise on the subject, without specifying aside from highlighting the NCM and the Norwegian Ministry of Culture and Gender Equality as the most important collaboration partners.^[250]

In the case of **Denmark**, a response from the Gender Equality Department in the Ministry of Digital Government and Gender Equality, no examples of collaboration with the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities were mentioned.^[251] In a joint comment from various Danish ministry, however, it is noted that the Danish Institute for Human Rights (Institut for Menneskerettigheder) promotes, evaluates, and monitors gender equality in Denmark and fights discrimination based on gender. The Institute is also mandated to bring cases of a principal nature or cases of public interest to the Equal Treatment Board in Denmark.

In an interview conducted as part of this review a political advisor from Denmark's Knowledge Centre for Gender and Equality, KVINFO, describes how the centre, in 2022, initiated a meeting with the former Minister of Environment to discuss gender equality in the environmental sector.^[252] As a result of this meeting, KVINFO was invited to a meeting with the legal team of the Ministry of Environment, where they gave a presentation on their analysis of GIAs of legislative proposals and engaged in a dialogue with the staff on how they could strengthen their work in this field.^[253] (See 4.4.2 for details on KVINFOs analytical review of GIAs). In addition to communicating with the Minister of Environment, KVINFO has also contacted the Minister for Development and Global Climate Cooperation. Their meeting request has been accepted, but at the time of the interview in November 2023, it had not yet been scheduled.

^{250.}Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024 251. E-mail-based questionnaire with the Danish Gender Equality Department. Dec. 2023.

^{251.} E-mail-based questionnaire with the Danish Gender Equality Department. Dec. 2023 252.Interview w. Danish non-governmental stakeholder and gender expert, Nov. 2023

^{253.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

Before formulating a new climate and energy policy, **Finland** conducted an open public consultation on the interlinkage between gender and climate policies, inviting input from all interested stakeholders.^[254] The consultation took the form of a workshop discussing how various policies might be gendered, which informed the subsequent GIA. The national Climate and Energy Strategy was assessed for its gender impact, in accordance with the Government Action Plan for Gender Equality. The Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment carried out the assessment in connection with the strategy update and commissioned the task to a research group consisting of Oxford Research, Equality Research Helsinki, and Gaia Consulting. However, although Finland is a leading example in terms of consultation in the Nordic countries (see also section 4.2.1), Finnish experts taking part in this review study express a wish for more proactive stakeholder involvement to ensure even more meaningful impact on the policy content. Despite the thoroughness of the GIA conducted for national Climate and Energy Strategy, the non-governmental stakeholders argue that there was no open dialogue regarding how to utilise the information. In that sense, the involvement process could be improved in the future. However, another challenge, one expert states, is that the current Government is drawing up a new Energy and Climate Policy without any planned process of involvement.^[255]

In **Iceland** several academic experts have been consulted by governmental authorities on the issues of ensuring a gender-just green transition, both on national, regional, or municipal level. The University of Iceland has an agreement with the Government Offices of Iceland (national authority) and the City of Reykjavík (local authority) regarding student projects related to gender mainstreaming, including gender budgeting. These projects may take the form of final theses or as a project in the course Applied Gender Studies. As part of this collaboration, the national and local authorities have suggested that the students assess or evaluate policies and initiatives from a gender+ perspective, i.e. an intersectional approach. An expert on gender budgeting at the Ministry of Finances and Economic Affairs is the contact person for Government Offices, but all ministries participate including the Ministry of Environment, Energy and Climate. For the City of Reykjavík, an expert on gender budgeting at the Human Rights and Democracy Office is the contact person.^[256]

Out of the circle? Expanding the network of experts consulted

On the involvement of experts in formulating gender-responsive climate policies and ensuring a gender-just green transition, a non-governmental expert taking part in a focus group stated the following:

^{254.}Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{255.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 256.E-mail-based questionnaire with adjunct lecturer at the University of Iceland. Nov. 2023.

"I can see now that we [TEK - Academic Engineers & Architects in Finland] probably could have been more active [in getting involved in the process of gender impact assessing climate policy], but then again, you need to know where the places are - where you can impact. If you are out of the circle, so to speak, it is difficult to impact the circle. So, how do we make sure that we have the relevant stakeholders involved in these gender impact assessments?" (Research Manager at TEK (Academic Engineers & Architects in Finland)^[257]

These reflections point to a broader issue within the realm of gender-responsive policymaking, as some non-governmental experts of relevance, might not consider themselves just that because of various reasons, e.g. the technical framing of climate change and policy, suggesting that knowledge on gender equality is not relevant (as indicated in the strategy for gender impact assessments in Denmark from 2013). Secondly, the statement above highlights the importance of awareness and knowledge of the entry points for influence as a prerequisite to get involved. This suggests a need for greater transparency and communication from those orchestrating policy development processes about how and where stakeholders can contribute, particularly in areas as crucial as gender equality and just green transition. Moreover, the metaphor of being "out of the circle" vividly illustrates the exclusivity that can characterise policymaking circles and refer to findings presented in section 4.2.3 on the tendency to apply a narrow technical lens when scrutinising climate change and green transition. This framing and exclusivity risks preventing experts in gender equality from contributing with their insights and expertise, thereby limiting the scope and effectiveness of gender mainstreaming in climate policies. The rhetorical question in the quote above, about ensuring the involvement of relevant stakeholders in gender impact assessments further highlights the need for deliberate and strategic efforts to bridge this gap. It suggests that a proactive approach to stakeholder engagement is required, one that actively seeks out and incorporates gender experts into the conversation. This involves creating mechanisms for participation that are accessible and inviting to those outside traditional policy-making networks.

4.4.2 Gender impact assessments (GIA) and gender budgeting

In the following, we present the examples of GIA and gender budgeting that have been identified in this review. Information on the legislative framework and coordinating mechanisms supporting GIAs and gender budgeting, as well as monitoring, can be found in <u>chapter 4.3</u> and <u>chapter 4.5</u>, respectively.

Denmark

100% (153 of 153) of all legislative proposals presented in the 2022/2023 parliamentary session was relevance tested which is the initial step before

^{257.} Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

conducting a gender impact assessment (see chapter 4.3.1). Of the 153 legislative proposals, 23 subsequently underwent a GIA.^[258] Of these 23 proposals, one proposal was put forward by the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, relating to climate. It proposes the establishment of a hydrogen infrastructure in Denmark, intended to support the green transition and the development of PtX (Power-to-X), as well as a consolidation of the system responsibility for gas and electricity into one company.^[259]

The Danish Climate Law,^[260] which sets the goal of reducing CO2 emission by 70% in 2030 compared to 1990 levels, however, underwent a relevance test to determine whether a GIA should be performed. This assessment concluded that the law had no gender impact, thus a comprehensive GIA was not conducted.^[261]

In 2023, KVINFO carried out a review of the relevance testing and GIAs carried out across all ministries in Denmark. It shows that from 2005/2006 to 2021/2022, 303 legislative proposals across all Danish ministries were relevance tested. However, only about one in ten legislative proposals underwent a GIA.^[262] It also showed that in the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities specifically, all 63 legislative proposals put forward in that period were relevance tested. However, of the relevance-tested proposals, only 2% of the bills presented by the Ministry underwent GIA. The review by KVINFO also shows that the Ministry of Employment conducts the most GIAs, followed by the Ministry of Social Affairs and Housing. Conversely, several ministries, including the Ministry of Transport and the Ministry of Environment, have not performed any GIAs since 2016/2017.^[263]

Finland

In Finland, most ministries incorporate gender budgeting, providing summaries of expected gender equality impacts in their budget proposals. These summaries are monitored yearly, and the findings are reported to both the Ministry for Gender Equality and the Parliament during the budget process. However, in this review it has not been possible to bring forward examples of gender budgeting in the realm of climate policy.^[264]

Gender impact assessment of the Climate and Energy Strategy

In accordance with the Government Action Plan for Gender Equality 2020-2023, ^[265] the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment commissioned a GIA of the Finnish Climate and Energy Strategy in

^{258.}Danish Ministry of Digital Government and Gender Equality (2023) Notification to the Danish Parliament's Gender Equality Committee regarding the gender equality assessment of legislative proposal 2022/23 259.Danish Parliament (2022). L 8 Proposal for legislation on a law amendment of the Gas Supply Act, the Energinet

Act, and the Electricity Supply Act; Dialogue with the Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities. Feb. 2024. 260 Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities (2000). Notice of the Climate Act.

^{261.} Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities (2020). Climate Action plan 2020. 262.KVINFO (2023). Equality assessment of legislative proposals 263.According to Danish governmental authorities, "ligestillingsvurdering" translates into "gender impact" assessment'

 ^{264.} Finnish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national-level review: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).
 265. Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health (2021). Making Finland a global leader in gender equality:

Government action plan for gender equality 2020-2023

2021.[266]

The GIA examined 101 policy measures proposed for the (at the time forthcoming) National Climate and Energy Strategy and their gender impacts within the following sectors: energy production, construction and buildings, transport, industry, the service sector, and agriculture. The results of the GIA are visible in the strategy, but also published as the separate document, Gender Impact Assessment of the Finnish Climate and Energy Strategy.^[267] According to the GIA, the proposed policy measures will directly impact economic activity and employment in the following male-dominated sectors: energy production, construction, transport, industrial production, and forestry. Whilst some male-dominated jobs, especially those related to fossil fuels, will be lost, the overall impact of policy measures in these sectors will be positive. However, the proposed policy measures will have a negative impact on female-dominated fields within the services sector, such as consumer services, tourism, and restaurant services. Also, the proposed policy measures place more emphasis on the involvement of men in climate policy, as the measures focus mainly on male-dominated sectors, target men's consumption habits and include technical solutions that are statistically more appealing to men than women.^[268]

As mentioned earlier, the GIA was conducted by an external group of consultants who were guided by a working group chaired by the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment, including representatives from other relevant ministries. Although the Government's Action Plan for Gender Equality 2020–2023 is formulated by the previous government, and thus does not apply to the current Government, it still pertains to the Climate and Energy Strategy until a new strategy is formulated. As noted already, the current Government is drawing up a new Energy and Climate Strategy by the time of writing this review.

Iceland

As gender budgeting is mandatory on governmental level, including all Icelandic ministries and agencies, it is presumed that the Icelandic gender budgeting practice is applied by the *Ministry* of the *Environment*, Energy and *Climate. This is supported by the fact that* the governments' recent 5-year plan on gender budgeting, which mentions the relevance of performing gender budgeting specifically in relation to environmental affairs, transportation, and rural development among other fields.^[269]

 ^{266.} Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2022). Carbon Neutral Finland 2035 – National Climate and Energy Strategy; Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2021). Gender Impact Assessment of the Finnish Climate and Energy Strategy
 267. Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2021). Gender Impact Assessment of the Finnish Climate

 ^{267.} Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2021). Gender Impact Assessment of the Finnish Climate and Energy Strategy
 268. Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2021). Gender Impact Assessment of the Finnish Climate

and Energy Strategy 269. Icelandic Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs (2019). Five-year plan for gender budgeting 2019-2023

"How the government's budget is allocated has significant gender effects, as gender gaps exist in all areas of society. Decisions in the fields of transportation, rural development, education, welfare, law enforcement, environmental, and foreign affairs have an impact on the status of genders, and the effects are even more pronounced when considering individuals who face multiple forms of discrimination."^[270]

Gender budgeting in the City of Reykjavík

Reykjavík City has implemented gender budgeting across all departments. Gender budgeting and all gender mainstreaming work is facilitated by a Gender Budgeting Project Manager. Written instructions and video guides for gender budgeting and gender analysis are available online.^[271] All new projects under Reykjavík City are subjected to a gender analysis carried out by City staff. The Gender Budgeting Project Managers subsequently delivers feedback. Reykjavik City has carried out gender budgeting analyses of nearly sixty service elements, and within the Department of Environment and Planning, the following have been subjected to gender budgeting: Reykjavík parking service; Department of Nature and Gardens, and environment and outdoor activities; city land district depot, transportation and urban design; waste matters, garbage collection and disposal; the school of work; botanic garden and geospatial information; building commissioner, cycling plan and urban planning.^[272] Furthermore, the city's 2021 Climate strategy was subjected to a gender equality assessment (GIA).

Gender Impact Assessment of the Climate Action Plan

In June 2022, the GIA of the current Icelandic Climate Action Plan (2020) named The Impact of Climate Action Measures Cost-Benefit Analysis was published.^[273] The document includes impact assessments of various actions taken as part of climate initiatives, evaluating their financial costs and benefits and their broader impacts on society and the environment. The document includes a section on 'Social Impact of Climate Actions', where gender-related impacts are considered, particularly regarding mobility. The assessment notes that walking paths and bike lanes, which are promoted as part of the climate action plan, show differential usage patterns between men and women. Specifically, it states that bike paths tend to be utilised more by men, particularly those with higher incomes. In contrast, walking paths are more frequently used by women, especially those with lower incomes. This distinction highlights how different segments of the population, divided by gender and economic status, may experience climate-related initiatives differently. The assessment suggests that while bike paths might benefit highincome men more, low-income women are likely to gain the most from the development of walking paths. The impact assessment also focuses on the broader usage of different modes of transportation by gender. It shows that in Iceland, a

^{270.}Icelandic Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs (2019). Five-year plan for gender budgeting 2019-2023 271. Reykjavík City (n.d.). Gender Budgeting
 272. Reykjavík city (n.d.). GB analysis of city services.
 273. University of Iceland (2022), C22:01 Impact of climate action Cost and benefit assessment.

higher proportion of men cycle compared to women (7% of men compared to 3% of women), whereas the use of public transport, like buses, does not show significant gender disparities. These insights indicate that gender considerations are an essential aspect of assessing the social impact of climate policies, as men and women, due to historically shaped structures and norms in society, have different preferences, needs and conditions concerning transportation, which is a key element in climate action strategies. (To learn more about these interlinkages see for instance, the report from 2021 by Norion on behalf of the NCM.)^[274]

Gender Impact Assessment of previous Climate Action Plan

In 2014, the report Climate Issues and Their Gender Impacts was published, containing a gender equality analysis of the government's previous climate action plan (2012-2015).^[275] This GIA stated that climate actions mostly create jobs within masculine fields related to agriculture, mechanical- and technical work, which is due to the gender-segregated labour market. The assessment further concluded that women tend to have a lower carbon footprint than men due to different consumption patterns; women tend to eat less meat, use more public transportation, and carry out more environmentally friendly behaviour (which seems to be a general picture for the Nordic countries).^[276] The GIA thus concluded that special attention should be paid to consumption and lifestyle if the carbon footprint of women and men are to be the same.^[277] The assessment report was the final report of Iceland's Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources' project on gender-responsive budgeting and fiscal planning initiated in 2011, covering the project's final phase and its main findings for the 2015 budget proposal.^[278] The project aimed to incorporate gender perspectives into climate change policy, decision-making, and related actions. A significant focus of the project's final phase was on cultivating utility forests, with a particular emphasis on employment opportunities for women in this sector. The 2014-assessment report thus emphasis the necessity for systemic changes to address gender imbalances in climate-related policies and actions and underscore the importance of gender mainstreaming every stage of climate policy planning and implementation.

Gender equality assessment of environmental issues

In the 2022 status report mapping gendered aspects of every Icelandic department of government ministries, the relation between environmental and equality issues is highly emphasised, and it is stated that positive outcomes in one category benefit the other.^[279] It is argued that the main challenge in assessing the gender impacts in environmental issues is that the direct effects of actions and decision-making in a specific category (energy, forestry etc.) on individuals are often unclear. The

- 277. lealandic Ministry of the Environment and Natural resources (2014). Climate issues and their gender implications. 278. lcelandic Ministry of the Environment and Natural resources (2014). Climate issues and their gender implications.
- 279. Icelandic Prime Minister's Office, Ministry of Finance and Economy (2022). Mapping gender perspectives Status
 - Report 2022

^{274.} Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{275.} Icelandic Ministry of the Environment and Natural resources (2014). Climate issues and their gender implications. 276. Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

report shows that in the government agreement, emphasis is placed on ensuring fair allocations and funding for all segments of society as a guiding principle in the green transition, e.g. ensuring inclusive access to financial resources for climate projects and ensuring that the funds reach the most diverse groups possible.

Project: Gender and textile consumption

In 2020-2023, the Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resource launched a project focusing on circular economy and textile waste, highlighting the gendered impacts of consumerism in fashion and textiles. The project aimed at raising awareness of the social and sustainable responsibility in textile production and consuming, and to improve conditions for women, both as manufacturers and as consumers. By integrating gender perspectives into waste prevention measures, the project also sought to promote green employment opportunities, address wage inequality, and enhance working conditions in the textile industry. The project was a collaboration between the Ministry, the Environment Agency of Iceland, the Consumer Agency, the Red Cross, the company Aftur, and Iceland University of the Arts focusing on gender and textile consumption.^[280]

Norway

This review has not found any concrete examples of GIAs in domestic climate policies in Norway. The Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment points out that the responsibility of working with GIAs lies with the department responsible for the relevant policies (e.g., the Ministry of Finance for taxes and duties and the Ministry of Transport for transport policy).^[281]

The Ministry of Climate and Environment is in the initial phase of launching an investigation aimed at enhancing the understanding of the distributional effects of climate policy, including its impact on gender. In the White Paper 26 (2022-2023) Climate in Change - Together for a Climate-Resilient Society, the Norwegian government states its intention to acquire more knowledge on how climate changes and climate adaptation can affect gender equality across various sectors in Norway. This will be done, among other things, in connection with the work on a national climate vulnerability analysis, where the gender equality perspective is one of several cross-cutting themes that will be explored.^[282]

When consulted concerning this review, the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment stated that gender perspectives are integrated into the international collaboration in the field of climate and environment. In financing climate activities through international developing programmes, the Ministry furthermore states that it prioritises gender, focusing on the distinct impacts of climate change on men and women, including supporting indigenous communities with projects targeting gender as a primary objective, e.g. by championing sexual and

²⁸⁰Jcelandic Prime Minister's Office (2019). Proposal for Parliamentary Resolution on a Gender Equality Action Programme for the period of 2020–2023 281. Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024 282. Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024

reproductive health rights.^[283] (See more on gender mainstreaming efforts in foreign- and international development policy in relation to climate change in 4.4.3.)

Gender impact assessment in Oslo Municipality

On a local level, Oslo Municipality carried out a GIA as part of their bicycle strategy process.^[284] A key finding was that there are considerable differences in bicycle use between different groups of the population and districts of Oslo. Notably, sexdisaggregated data showed that only one out of three cyclists are women. The strategy of the municipality especially highlights safety as a factor that will secure a more balanced cycling distribution across Oslo, with multiple benefits for equality, environment, land use, and climate. As a result of the GIA, gender dimensions are integrated into Oslo Municipality's Oslo bicycle strategy 2015-2025. The strategy focuses on increasing the populations' cycling to promote less space-demanding and more climate-friendly transport in the city.

Sweden

The Swedish draft strategy for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, states that gender equality should be integrated into all budget areas, and that climate is a cross-cutting area that is analysed and integrated into all budget appropriations. Each department in the Government Offices has gender equality- and climate coordinators that ensure that these issues are integrated into the work and the budget process.^[285] However, in this review it has not been possible to collect examples of how gender budgeting have been applied in the realm of climate policy. In the process of this review, some stakeholders have noted that the degree to which gender budgeting is implemented can vary across different government departments and agencies.^[286]

Sweden requires all ministries and committees of inquiry to analyse proposals from a gender perspective, as stipulated by the Committees Ordinance.^[287] However, in this review it has not been possible to access concrete examples of such analyses within climate policy and green transition.

At a municipal and regional level GIAs and gender analyses are conducted in specific sectors. A recent study finds that in their Regional Action Plan for Climate Adaptation, especially Norbotten and Västra Götaland emphasises social equality, including questions on gender in addition to class, income, Indigeneity, and age.^[288] Additionally, Umeå municipality includes gender equality as one of the goals in their Climate Contract,^[289] developed as part of the Viable Cities Network.^[290] The

^{283.}Interview with the Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment, Jan. 2024 284.Oslo Municipality (2014). Oslo bicycle strategy 2015 – 2025: How Oslo becomes a better bicycle city 285.Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects in Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.

^{286.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries 287.The Swedish Institute (SI) & The Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions (SALAR) (2019). Guide to

Gender Mainstreaming 288.Arora-Jonsson, S. & Wahlström, N. (2022) 'Unraveling the production of ignorance in climate policymaking: The imperative of a decolonial feminist intervention for transformation.

^{289.}Umeá Municipal (2022), Climate contract 2030 Between the municipality of Umeå and the authorities The Energy Agency, Vinnova, Formas, the Agency for Growth, the Swedish Transport Agency, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency and Viable Cities 290.Viable Cities (2024). Together for climate-neutral cities

Viable Cities network is a national platform and innovation initiative for climateneutral and sustainable cities. In their climate contract, the municipality states that Umeå should be a center for gender equal city planning.

4.4.3 Gender responsiveness in foreign- and international development policy

While this review focuses primarily on the domestic climate policy of the Nordic countries, another recent report, Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic Efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance (in the following, Climate Finance and Gender report) offers an evaluation of gender mainstreaming in climate projects and climate-related development policies. The scope of the report includes Denmark, Finland, Norway, and Sweden in the period from 2012 to 2021. It describes how gender considerations have been incorporated into climate finance and provides recommendations for enhancing gender mainstreaming in this area. The report is based on an analysis of key climate policy documents and strategies from the Nordic countries (except Iceland), focusing on their commitment to gender equality in the context of climate finance in development policy and projects. Assessing the policies and projects, the researchers apply the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC) Gender Equality Markers.

The Climate Finance and Gender report assesses several national UNFCCC submissions from the respective countries, including the Biennial Reports (BRs). The following is a summary of the analyses of BRs from the Climate Finance and Gender report. Since Iceland is not included in the Climate Finance and Gender report, a brief screening of Iceland's BRs has been added as part of this review inhand.

Biennial Reports

As part of the UNFCCC's transparency framework, Parties are required to submit biennial reports (BRs) to the UNFCCC every second year. The BRs are comprehensive reports prepared by annex II Parties (developed country Parties), hence the five Nordic countries. The purpose of the BRs is to monitor and report on progress in emission reduction efforts, as well as the provision of financial, technological, and capacity-building assistance to developing countries (non-annex I Parties), which are especially vulnerable to the adverse impacts of climate change. ^[291] The assessment of both the 4th BR (submitted in 2020) and the 5th BR (submitted in 2022), as presented in the Climate Finance and Gender report and as assessed in this review (Iceland), leads to the following conclusions.^[292]

^{291.} UNFCCC (n.d.). Parties & Observers ; **"Annex II** Parties consist of the OECD members of Annex I, but not the EIT Parties. They are required to provide financial resources to enable developing countries to undertake emissions reduction activities under the Convention and to help them adapt to adverse effects of climate change." (https://unfccc.int/parties-observers)

^{292.}Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance

In the fourth BR (BR4), **Denmark** mentions that SDG5 for Gender Equality is one of the priority SDGs targeted by the development cooperation strategy The World 2030. Denmark's fifth BR (BR5) includes project overviews, a few of which include mentions of gender equality. In its BR4 and BR5, Finland states that gender equality is promoted through the country's development policy alongside climate resilience and low-emission development. In both the BR4 and BR5, Sweden stresses the significance of gender justice in achieving the goals of the Paris Agreement and commits to integrating gender equality in climate development policy. Sweden reports on the level of gender-responsive measures in its climate finance information, and states that the reason for this is to be able to track purposes, encourage further gender mainstreaming, and inspire other actors to do likewise.^[293] **Norway** does not mention gender equality considerations in its climate finance reporting in BR4 or BR5.^[294] In **Iceland**'s BR5, the disproportionate impact of climate change on women is emphasised, and Iceland's role in promoting gender aspects in international climate discussions is highlighted.^[295] Gender is mentioned in relation to collaborations with organisations like UN Women and WEDO, and specific projects, as well as two specific programmes: The GRO Centre's training programs, including the GRO Gender Equality Studies and Training Program and the GEST Program focusing on educating and training on gender and climate change, aiming to enhance local capacity for gender-responsive climate strategies in countries like Uganda and Malawi.^[296]

Based on the conclusions drawn in the Climate Finance and Gender report, the following insights into the gender mainstreaming efforts in foreign – and international development policy in the area of climate can be summarised:

Sweden's adoption of the world's first feminist foreign policy in 2014 has catalysed a comprehensive integration of gender considerations within its foreign- and international development policy in relation to climate action, establishing a precedent for gender-responsive climate finance. According to the study, Sweden showed a high level of gender mainstreaming in its climate finance, although there has been a recent decline. **Finland**'s policies and strategies consistently emphasise capacity building, knowledge dissemination, and promoting women's participation and leadership in climate-related activities. This approach demonstrates Finland's dedication to addressing the gender-differentiated impacts of climate change and underscores the importance of gender considerations in enhancing the effectiveness of climate action. **Denmark**'s foreign- and international development climate policy is grounded in a legislative framework mandating the integration of gender considerations across all government planning and administration. However, despite this Denmark's explicit gender mainstreaming in foreign- and

^{293.}Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance

^{294.}Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance 295.The BR5 from Iceland, which is combined with its Eight National Communication (another UNFCCC submission),

has been screened as part in this current review. 296.UNFCCC (2023). Iceland. National Communication (NC). NC 8. Biennial Reports (BR). BR5.

international development policy in relation to climate change, particularly within strategies such as A Green and Sustainable World, has been somewhat limited. While acknowledging potential synergies between green transitions, climate adaptation, and gender equality, Denmark's strategies lack detailed plans for operationalising these principles in the context of foreign climate finance, indicating room for enhanced integration of gender considerations. Norway's strategic documents reflect a clear commitment to gender mainstreaming in its foreign- and international development climate policy, emphasising the importance of gender equality in climate action. According to the study, however, Norway reported the lowest levels of gender integration among the four Nordic countries.^[297] In Norway's recently launched Action Plan for Women's Rights and Gender Equality in Foreign and Development Policy (2023–2030),^[298] the need for gender mainstreaming in climate policy is emphasised, recognising that climate change impacts people differently based on gender. The Action Plan highlights the urgency of gender mainstreaming in climate policies and financing mechanisms and the priority to ensure women's participation in climate-related negotiations and decision-making processes. Although this reflects a proactive attitude toward embedding gender considerations in climate policy in foreign- and international development, non-governmental stakeholders highlight a concerning lack of emphasis and concrete actions regarding the integration of gender aspects into Norway's domestic climate policy initiatives.^[299] As described in chapter 4.4.3, studies indicate that there is also space for improvement is also identified in terms of gender mainstreaming foreign - and international development policy. Iceland collaborates with international women's organisations on international training programmes, focusing on capacity building for gender-responsive climate strategies in development countries as mentioned in the above.

One of the primary insights from the study behind the Climate Finance and Gender report is the observation that while there is a general commitment in these Nordic countries to address climate change and gender as cross-cutting issues, the approach often lacks depth. Gender mainstreaming in climate projects frequently appears to be a 'box-ticking' exercise, where gender considerations are mentioned or briefly included but not integrated. The study notes that about 60% of Nordic climate finance in recent years does not prioritise gender as a significant policy objective. One of the researchers behind the report participated in the focus group informing this review and argued that the climate projects and climate-related development policies of the Nordic countries were not aiming for a truly transformative or intersectional approaches in gender mainstreaming.^[300]

^{297.} Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in

 ^{292.} Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2023), A just world is an equal world. Action plan for women's rights and gender equality in Norway's foreign and development policy (2023-2030)
 299. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries (15.12.2023).

³⁰⁰Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries

The Climate Finance and Gender report concludes that there are significant inconsistencies in the application of gender mainstreaming across climate finance. ^[301] For example, while gender equality is a stated fundamental value, the actual implementation in climate-related activities often fails to address the root causes of systemic gender biases and unequal power relations effectively. The gender mainstreaming in climate policies often lacks clarity and commitment to specific gender-related goals or initiatives within climate action.

Moreover, the report emphasises the need for enhanced transparency in reporting on gender mainstreaming and recommends adopting systematic approaches to ensure that gender mainstreaming becomes an integral and effective part of climate finance strategies.^[302] Finally, the report concludes that there is a need for more consistent gender mainstreaming across all types of climate finance and projects, with a focus on viewing women not just as victims of climate change but as agents of change, and by that aligning with priority area A in the UNFCCC GAP, which encourages an understanding of "the role of women as agents of change and on opportunities for women".^[303] The conclusions in the Climate Finance and Gender-report calls for a shift from the current practice of merely acknowledging gender issues to actively incorporating gender transformative strategies in climate projects.^[304]

4.4.4 Implementation of the BPfA

The national 'Beijing +25' review reports are part of global efforts to evaluate progress toward the goals set by the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (BPfA), adopted in 1995. These reports, submitted by member states in 2019, are relevant when reviewing UN member states' efforts in implementing the UNFCCC GAP as the reports provide a comprehensive overview of progress and challenges in gender equality and women's empowerment, including in the context of climate action.^[305]

In Section One of the UN Women's questionnaire guiding the national review report, countries must outline their top five priorities for accelerating progress for women and girls over the next five years regarding laws, policies, and programmes. Out of a list of 17 priorities that the countries can choose, two focus on gender equality in climate policies and green transition, namely "Strengthening women's participation in ensuring environmental sustainability" and "Gender-responsive disaster risk prevention, reduction and resilience building". None of the five Nordic countries have selected these options among their top five priorities. Rather, common proposed priorities across the Nordic countries in 2020-2025 comprise

^{301.}Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance 302.Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in

Climate-related development finance and Gender: Lessons from Noraic errorts to integrate gender equality in 303.UNFCCC Gender Action Plan (n.d.)

^{304.}Inka Consult (2023). Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance 305.UN Women (n.d.). CSW64 preparations.

central gender equality issues such as eliminating gender-based violence, eliminating the gender pay gap, and promoting equality and non-discrimination. ^[306] This shows that the Nordic countries have many important priorities in accelerating progress for women and girls. Furthermore, while gender equality in environmental sustainability does not in itself constitute a top priority selected above predominant gender equality issues in the Nordic, it cannot thereby be concluded that gender mainstreaming of environmental sustainability is not prioritised.

In Section Two, countries are asked to detail their progress in integrating gender perspectives into environmental conservation, disaster risk reduction, climate resilience, and mitigation policies. Specifically, the countries are asked the two following questions "What actions has your country taken in the last five years to integrate gender perspectives and concerns into environmental policies? and "what actions has your country taken in the last five years to integrate gender perspectives into policies and programmes for disaster risk reduction, climate resilience and mitigation?" By examining the answers to such questions in the national review reports, focusing on certain sections, information on how gender perspectives have been integrated into climate policies and actions can be identified. In the following, the content of the national reports dealing with climaterelevant questions is summarised.

Denmark

In Denmark's approach to integrating gender perspectives into environmental policies, there has been a focus on "Strengthened evidence and/or raised awareness about gender-specific environmental and health hazards." According to the Danish review report, this prioritisation includes no climate-related initiatives. In integrating gender perspectives into disaster risk reduction, climate resilience, and mitigation policies, the focus has been on supporting women's participation and leadership, particularly those affected by disasters, and on strengthening the evidence base and awareness about the unique vulnerabilities of women and girls to environmental impacts. These prioritised areas aim to enhance the resilience and mitigation efforts through inclusive policies and programs, addressing the specific needs and challenges faced by women and girls in disaster situations.^[307]

Finland

Finland's actions to integrate gender perspectives into environmental policies and programs have focused on supporting women's participation in environmental management, raising awareness about gender-specific environmental hazards, promoting education in STEM fields related to the environment, ensuring women's equal opportunities in the green economy, and monitoring the impact of

^{306.}UN Women (n.d.). Expert Group Meeting: Beijing +25: Current context, emerging issues and prospects for gender equality and women's rights.

^{307.}Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national review report Beijing+25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995)

environmental policies on women and girls. The Ministry of the Environment's equality plan (2018-2021) and Finland's participation in the Equal by 30 campaigns exemplify these efforts, aiming to enhance gender equality in the energy sector and incorporate equality assessments in law drafting and strategic planning. Incorporating gender perspectives into climate policy and disaster risk management, Finland has focused on promoting women's leadership in these areas and strengthening gender-responsive legislation. Alongside assessing the equality impact of its 2030 Climate Policy Plan, Finland has highlighted its commitment to enhancing women's roles in disaster risk reduction and climate resilience, as well as implementing laws that address the vulnerability of women in disasters.^[308]

Iceland

Iceland's approach includes gender-responsive budgeting, promoting women's participation in environmental governance, and ensuring gender considerations in disaster management. The report emphasises Iceland's policies and legislative frameworks supporting gender equality, alongside its efforts in international cooperation and national implementation of gender-focused actions. Climate is not directly mentioned within the report aside from a section on the Agenda 2030 on Sustainable Development and in the list of 'Civil Society Initiatives' including several climate-related projects. In the section "Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development" it is noted that Iceland contributes to global SDG efforts, particularly in gender equality, sustainable energy, and environmental conservation. ^[309]

Norway

Norway highlights its active role in promoting gender concerns in international climate negotiations, especially in adaptation to climate change. Emphasis is placed on the importance of involving women in climate action due to their vulnerability to climate impacts. Additionally, initiatives to promote equality in farming are detailed, with specific measures to support women farmers and those involved in reindeer herding.^[310]

Sweden

Sweden demonstrates in the report that it has taken multiple steps to incorporate gender perspectives into its environmental and climate policies. Activities include ensuring that Formas, a government research council, integrates gender equality in its research funding and operations. Such efforts are part of Sweden's broader commitment to mainstreaming gender in government agencies' operations. In the realm of international climate negotiations, Sweden has emphasised the inclusion

³⁰⁸Finnish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national-level review: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).
309Jcelandic Government, Prime Minister's Office (2019). Iceland's report on Beijing +25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).
310.Norwegian Ministry of Culture (2019). Beijing +25: The situation of women and girls in Norway: Development, progress and measures 2014–2019.

of gender concerns, notably through its support for the Gender Action Plan at COP23 and promoting women's influence in climate change decisions at COP24. Furthermore, Sweden has sought to integrate gender equality in climate and environmental work on an international scale, evidenced by its influence during its chairmanship of the Nordic Environment Finance Cooperation (NEFCO) and its support for the Climate & Clean Air Coalition (CCAC). Through these initiatives, Sweden aims to address the disproportionate impact of environmental degradation and climate change on women and children, enhancing their decisionmaking roles and improving their health and living conditions.^[311]

Overall, the national review reports reveal varying degrees of commitment and specific strategies for integrating gender perspectives into environmental and climate policies. **Denmark** appears to have a narrower focus, emphasising awareness of gender-specific environmental hazards without direct initiatives for climate change. **Finland** showcases a comprehensive approach by supporting women's participation in environmental management and emphasising gender equality in the green economy and climate policies. Iceland, while promoting gender-responsive budgeting and participation in environmental governance, lacks direct mention of climate action in its report. **Norway** highlights its role in international climate negotiations and points to an awareness of women's vulnerabilities to climate impacts. Sweden demonstrates a proactive stance in incorporating gender equality into environmental and climate policies through research funding and international negotiations. It could be contended that the Beijing +25 review reports from all five countries tend to categorise women predominantly as a vulnerable group, leaving out initiatives and reflections that recognise women's roles as agents of change. This perspective contrasts sharply with one of the goals outlined in the UNFCCC GAP, which emphasises the necessity to enhance our understanding of the critical role women play as agents of change and the opportunities available to them (as stated in A.4 of the UNFCCC GAP).^[312]

4.4.5 Gender-responsiveness in selected key climate policy documents

In the following section, selected climate policy documents from each country are screened for gender-responsive measures. The selected climate policy documents include:

• National climate action plans: The climate action plans are official government documents outlining each Nordic country's strategy and roadmap to achieve their respective climate mitigation targets. These plans serve as comprehensive policy documents that provide detailed information on how the nations intend to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, transition to renewable energy sources, and address various aspects of climate change.

 ^{311.} Government Offices of Sweden, Ministry of Employment, Division for Gender Equality (2019). Sweden's report on Beijing +25.
 312. UNFCCC (2020). Enhanced Lima work programme on gender and its gender action plan. Decision 3/CP.25.

While the specific format and content may vary from country to country, these climate action plans typically include measures, policies, and sectorspecific strategies to combat climate change, making them vital tools for guiding and tracking progress toward environmental sustainability and climate neutrality goals. The assessment of the climate action plans is based on the findings presented in the 2020-report by Norion, "How Climate How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries".^[313]

Long-term low-emission strategies (UNFCCC submission): In accordance with Article 4 of the Paris Agreement, all the Nordic countries have submitted long-term low-emission strategies to the UNFCCC in the recent period from 2020-2021. Following Article 4, paragraph 19, these strategies should aim for "just transitions to net zero emissions by mid-century".^[314]

In addition to these two types of climate policy documents, the country-specific sections in some cases also include other supplementing climate-relevant documents and/or regional or municipal cases identified or highlighted by contributors during this review. These additional documents have not been collected systematically across the five countries but have been suggested by contributors to the review.

4.4.6 Denmark

The Climate Action Plan (2020)

Gender is not explicitly addressed in the current Danish climate action plan.^[315] The climate action plan does, however, refer to a principle within the climate law stipulating that decarbonisation measures should not compromise the strength of the welfare state or social stability. It emphasises the importance of maintaining "social balance", which encompasses ensuring social coherence, including equal opportunities for citizens living in urban and rural areas during the green transition. It aims to safeguard livelihoods for those working in the oil and gas sector, prevent an increase in inequality due to the green transition, and mitigate carbon leakage. No indicators related to social balance and gender equality are proposed for monitoring the climate policies and action plans. As the climate action plan is not a legislative bill, the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities has no direct obligation to conduct a GIA. Any bill proposals in the sector action plans will, however, be subject to relevancy testing, as described in <u>Chapter 4.3.1</u>. Since social balance does not seem to refer to gender equality, among other considerations, and no gender impact assessment has been performed on the plan, it is considered gender blind.

^{313.} Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context 314. UNFECC (n.d.) Long-term Strategies Portal 315. Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities (2020). Climate Action plan 2020.

^{316.} Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

Long-term low-emission strategy (2020)

Denmark's long-term low-emission strategy (2020) does, on the other hand, make an explicit connection between climate adaptation and gender equality.^[317] It acknowledges that efforts towards a green transition and climate adaptation can align well with achieving other SDGs, particularly SDG 5, focusing on gender equality. The strategy further suggests that investments in areas crucial for women's empowerment, such as education, sexual and reproductive health, and rights, not only contribute to gender equality but also support broader climate and environmental goals. For instance, educating women and girls can lead to more informed and active participation in political and economic life; however, there is no elaboration on why and how this is essential for the green transition. The strategy emphasises the importance of the green transition not leading to job losses or increased inequality by creating new job opportunities, particularly in green sectors, and distributing the benefits of this transition more evenly across society, i.e. avoiding "unequal redistribution". The strategy also emphasises a "socially just green transition" but lacks more specific measures indicating gender mainstreaming initiatives. However, this review finds the strategy to be genderresponsive since it explicitly highlights the potential benefits of taking gender equality into account in climate policy making.

4.4.7 Finland

The Climate Action Plan (2017)

As mentioned in 4.4.2 the Finnish Climate Action Plan, Government Report on Medium-term Climate Change Policy Plan for 2030: Towards Climate-Smart Dayto-Day Living, Ministry of Environment (2017) included a GIA to ensure that climate decisions and measures promote gender equality and avoid discrimination.^[318] The document acknowledges that the Finnish labour market is highly gendersegregated and that climate objectives and measures might have a different impact on male- and female-dominated sectors. It further indicates that political participation, consumption patterns and attitudes toward climate change might be gendered. The GIA shows that gendered differences appear in climate-relevant areas such as mobility practices, eating habits, and how information campaigns are received. These gendered differences should ideally be considered when designing and implementing climate policies.^[319] All in all, the Climate Action Plan is considered gender responsive.

Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities (2020). Climate Programme 2020, Denmark's Mid-century, Long-term Low Greenhouse Gas Emission Development Strategy
 Finnish Ministry of the Environment (2017). Government Report on Medium-term Climate Change Policy Plan for 2030 Towards Climate-Smart Day-to-Day Living
 Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context; Ministry of the Environment (2017). Government Report on Medium-term Climate Change Policy Plan for 2030. Towards Climate-Smart Day-to-Day Living

for 2030- To-wards Climate-Smart Day-to-Day Living

The long-term low-emission strategy (2020)

Finland's long-term low-emission strategy (2020) does not explicitly include gender aspects.^[320] It prioritises minimising emission reduction costs nationwide without a clear focus on regional justice, social justice, or gender equality. The strategy highlights the government's obligation to align climate action with human rights obligations and efforts to reduce inequality. However, this is more of a general statement rather than pointing to specific actions or policies geared towards gender equality or gender mainstreaming. Thus, the strategy document is not considered gender responsive, but comes across as gender blind.

4.4.8 Iceland

The Climate Action Plan (2020)

The Icelandic Climate Action Plan acknowledges that climate change and climate actions will have a significant impact on the Icelandic society that may vary across societal groups such as gender, income, sector, inabilities etc.^[321] The plan strives for equality, and all climate actions must be socially just and be aligned with the SDGs. Iceland has further initiated welfare monitoring to supplement economic growth measures to capture social and environmental development.^[322] In the climate action plan, it is stated that Iceland is working towards gender mainstreaming the plan, with reference to a paragraph in the plan that does not mention gender equality explicitly but states that the plan will be "assessed in terms of its impact on different income groups and analysed in terms of costs and benefits, including the macroeconomic impacts of actions. It is important to ensure that climate action supports efforts to increase equality and equal rights".^[323] In June 2022, the GIA of the Climate Action Plan was published. The result from this GIA is presented in 4.4.2. It reveals differing impacts of climate initiatives on men and women, particularly in mobility, and underlines the importance of integrating gender considerations into climate policies to ensure equitable benefits, as transportation preferences and needs vary significantly between genders due to societal norms and structures. Thus, the climate action plan can now be considered gender responsive as it explicitly addresses gender and gender mainstreaming intentions and has been gender impact assessed since.

Long-term low-emission strategy (2021)

Iceland's long-term low-emission strategy (2021) lacks specific expressions of gender aspects. It emphasises the impact of climate action on different income groups and the importance of a just transition but does not explicitly address gender equality or gender mainstreaming. It states that the National Climate

^{320.}Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment (2020). Finland's long-term low greenhouse gas

emission development strategy

^{221.} Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources (2020). Climate Action Plan
322. Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources (2020). Climate Action Plan; Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context
323. Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources (2020). Climate Action Plan

Action Plan will be assessed regarding its impact on different income groups, as referred to in the above section.^[324] However, the strategy cannot be considered rather gender responsive.

4.4.9 Norway

The Climate Action Plan (2020)

Norway's climate action plan includes the SDGs, including SDG5.^[325] How climate actions impact gender is, however, not further discussed. It is stated that any climate action must be balanced with the other SDGs, and climate action must not negatively affect low-income or vulnerable groups or negatively affect employment.^[326] Studies reviewing policy documents conclude that Norwegian climate policies are gender-blind, and the link between gender and climate is absent in Norwegian policymaking.^[327] The Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment points out that the lack of actions taken to carry out gender mainstreaming of the climate action plan is due to the lack of knowledge about how climate impacts and challenges gender equality.

White paper on energy

Gender dimensions are briefly mentioned in the white paper on energy, Energi til arbeid (2020-2021), in relation to the transition of the oil workforce.^[328] This workforce is highly educated and in demand, and it is in this context that women are mentioned. For example, the oil company Equinor, partly owned by the Norwegian state, is ambitious to have 1/3 of apprentices be women. Gender is not mentioned in relation to other sectors financially dependent on the oil sector nor in the white paper in general. The white paper mentions SDG 8 and SDG 9, focusing on sustained, inclusive, and sustainable economic growth and innovation, respectively. However, inclusion is not mentioned. Rather, the energy sector contributes to society through employment and economic growth.

Referring to The Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate (NVE), a Norwegian climate researcher points out the following;

"Most relevant governance institutions - in the context of climate and energy policy – do not really work with gender except gender equality plans for recruitment and for retaining staff - which everyone has because it's compulsory. But that doesn't mean they see gender as relevant in everything else they do, which is paramount in other sectors in Norway. I would assume you would find the same in other countries." (Researcher, CICERO)

^{324.} Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources (2021). On the Path to Climate Neutrality -Iceland's Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategy 325.Norwegian Government (2020). Climate Action Plan 2021-2030

^{326.}Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context

^{327.} Eggebø, H. et al. (2023). Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North'

^{328.}Norwegian Ministry of Energy (2021) Energy for work - long-term value creation from Norwegian energy resources.

On a local level, in the strategy of the county municipality Viken, The road to a sustainable Viken – regional planning strategy 2020-2024, Viken has formulated six priority areas for sustainability that, to various extents, integrate an equality perspective – or vice versa. Priority 1 and 2, 'Life quality, welfare, and equal opportunities' and 'Sustainable and just economic system' integrate a focus on green transition and are both linked to SDG 5 and 16, promoting gender equality and inclusive societies, respectively. Priority 4, 5 and 6 on 'Reducing climate emissions and energy transition', 'Integrated urban and community development' and 'Environment, ecosystem and biodiversity', respectively, focus on SDG 16.^[329]

Long-term low-emission strategy (2020)

Norway's long-term low-emission strategy (2020) does not specifically include gender aspects. While it recognises the importance of a just and equitable lowemission development pathway through the Paris Agreement, there is no direct inclusion of or detailed strategy for integrating gender considerations.^[330] This leaves us with the conclusion that the strategy is rather gender blind.

In Norway's Eighth National Communication to the UNFCCC for 2022 on national circumstances, policies and measures related to climate change, gender is mentioned once in relation to the global SDG process.^[331] Gender is here mentioned as part of the reporting on 'Just Transition' and refers to the abovementioned Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act adopted in 2017.^[332] What is understood by 'just transition' and how this should be ensured is elaborated in a report by the Norwegian Climate Committee for 2050. One of the committee's recommendations is, among other things, the following: "Measures for equitable distribution and for limiting economic inequality are primarily taken care of by other policy areas, but that the distribution effects of climate measures are nevertheless assessed more systematically in political processes and the choice of instruments".[333]

4.4.10 Sweden

The Climate Action Plan (2019 and 2023)

The Climate Action Plan (2019) refer to the SDGs, stating that Sweden will take a leading position in the sustainable transition and that this transition, of which the climate neutrality objective is part, must be based on broad societal participation. $^{[334]}$ Climate actions must not take place at the expense of the other SDG's. Rather, the SDGs demonstrate how the different areas are interlinked, and the Swedish government aims at coherence. The transition strives to be controlled, high societal

^{329.}OECD (2020). A territorial approach to the Sustainable Development Goals in Viken, Norway.

^{330.}Norwegian Government (2020). Norway's long-term low-emission strategy for 2050 331. Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment (2023). Norway's Eighth National Communication Under the

Framework Convention on Climate Change

^{332.}UNFCCC (2022). Update of Norway's nationally determined contribution

^{333.}Norwegian Ministry of Climate and the Environment (2023). Climate Committee 2050: Transition to low emissions - Choice of path for climate policy towards 2050 334.Swedish Government (2019). (2019). A unified policy for the climate - climate policy action plan.

costs are to be avoided, and differences across income groups and urban/rural areas are considered. In the draft strategy of gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, recommendations to the government to promote equal representation in climate action plans are included.

In the Government's new climate action plan adopted in December 2023, it is stated that gender equality and climate efforts reinforce each other and that climate efforts should strengthen gender equality and vice versa.^[335] It is stated that it is difficult to foresee the cumulative aspects of the climate action plan on gender equality, but themes that are included in which gender equality is seen as specifically important include public transport, the labour market, and STEM. The strategy clearly states that a gender equality perspective should be included in the implementation of the action plan and that Sweden should continue to work for gender equality in the implementation and negotiations of the Paris Agreement. In preparing backing documents for the new climate action plan, the suggestions were subject to a gender analysis.^[336]

Sweden's Integrated Energy and Climate Plan (2020)

Sweden's Integrated Energy and Climate Plan submitted to the EU has been subject to an academic analysis.^[337] The plan contains a separate section on gender mainstreaming in the document and reflects Sweden's long-standing adherence to principles of gender equality.^[338] The document recognises the underrepresentation of women in climate policy; however, it does not propose corrective measures. As pointed out by the researchers, the document employs language that portrays women as vulnerable entities and custodians of local knowledge, neglecting underlying power imbalances and perpetuating a historical trend of using women as placeholders in a patriarchal structure.^[339] The analysis concludes that there is an overt focus on positioning Sweden as a forerunner of gender inequality internationally, but the Integrated Energy and Climate Plan fails to focus on the intra-country gender dynamics. As feminist scholars have indicated, the impression that gender equality is an objective that has already been achieved undermines the need to pursue gender politics in Sweden.^[340] While the plan can be considered gender-responsive in terms of dedicating a section to gender equality, this critique raised by Swedish scholars reflects that Sweden is far ahead in advancing gender mainstreaming with increased vigilance from nongovernmental stakeholders and experts, calling out the gaps in the performance of gender mainstreaming by policymakers. This is advantageous for further advancing gender mainstreaming and achieving not just gender responsiveness but gender

^{335.}Swedish Government (2023). The government's climate action plan – all the way to net zero 336.Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic

Countries. 337. Hultman, M., Anshelm, J., & Kall, A. S. (2021). To ask the question - to dare change: Birgitta Hambraeus and Birgitta Dahl in Swedish energy and environmental policy 1971-1991; Rönnblom, M. (2002). A room of one's own?

Women's organizing meets established politics. 338.Swedish Ministry of Infrastructure (2020). Sweden's Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan 339.Michael, K. & Hultman, M. (2023). Sweden's Integrated Energy and Climate Plan: An analysis

^{340.}Hultman, M., Anshelm, J., & Kall, A. S. (2021). To ask the question - to dare change: Birgitta Hambraeus and Birgitta Dahl in Swedish energy and environmental policy 1971-1991; Rönnblom, M. (2002). A room of one's own? Women's organizing meets established politics.

transformative policies that challenge problematic gendered norms, structures, and perceptions, such as the widespread and one-sided framing of women as vulnerable entities. The risk of citing this representation of women instead of challenging it - is observed across all Nordic countries, as stated in <u>section 4.4.4</u>, where the Biennial Reports are screened.

Long-term low-emission strategy (2020)

The Swedish long-term low-emission strategy (2020) includes a specific section on gender equality and climate change, demonstrating a more proactive approach to gender mainstreaming. It is stated in the section that the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency has submitted a proposal for further gender mainstreaming in implementing the Paris Agreement, referring to the gender mainstreaming strategy mentioned in previous chapters. The long-term low-emission strategy acknowledges the importance of considering distributional and regional effects and points explicitly to increasing gender equality. It also suggests that fostering gender equality is not only an end goal in itself but also a means to facilitate the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. The strategy draws attention to the "distributional effects" - how the costs and benefits of the green transition are distributed among different groups in society – and points to the need to consider how different households across various regions might be affected differently by transitioning to a low-emission society. The document thus indicates an underlying understanding that green transition initiatives and climate policies that consider gender differences and aim to promote social cohesion are more likely to be effective.^[341] Thus, the strategy can be considered gender responsive.

4.4.11 Summary of Priority area D: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership

This chapter has assessed how the Nordic countries have implemented genderresponsiveness in climate policies, in accordance with the goals of priority area D of the UNFCCC GAP. The chapter thus looked at how the countries have gender mainstreamed their climate policy frameworks, specifically highlighting the involvement of gender experts, the application of GIAs, and the practice of gender budgeting. In order to do so, selected policy documents were examined, including national climate action plans, long-term low-emission strategies, and other climate policy documents that were brought to the attention of the reviewers.

Given the comprehensive nature of this chapter, which encompasses a wide array of data and findings, the summary is correspondingly detailed and extensive, aiming to provide a thorough overview of the gender-responsive implementation of climate policies in the Nordic countries.

^{341.} Swedish Ministry of the Environment (2020). Sweden's long-term strategy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions

In '<u>4.4.1 Involvement of gender experts</u>', the varying degrees of gender expert involvement in climate policy across the Nordic countries are assessed. Sweden, Iceland, and Finland have shown coordinated and systematic efforts to support collaboration between gender equality departments and climate-relevant ministries while also demonstrating varying degrees of proactiveness in terms of consulting experts. Iceland, for instance, has a strong collaboration with researchers from the University of Iceland and integrates academic projects on gender mainstreaming and budgeting into policy assessment. Finland exemplifies proactive stakeholder consultation in climate policy, inviting public input on gender and climate interlinkages, which informed its GIA for the National Climate and Energy Strategy. Despite this, Finnish non-governmental experts desire more proactive and consistent stakeholder involvement. In addition, challenges in engaging relevant experts in gender mainstreaming in climate policy have been raised by a non-governmental stakeholder, emphasising the need for greater communication, transparency, and a proactive approach - from both policymakers and stakeholders - to ensure inclusiveness and effectiveness of gender mainstreaming in climate policies.

The rest of this summary encompasses individual country reviews with the outcomes from reviews specific to each country regarding GIAs, gender budgeting practices, and document screenings.

In **Denmark**, in accordance with the legislation, the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities have carried out relevance testing of all 63 legislative proposals put forward in the period 2005/2006 to 2021/2022. Only 2% of the bills proposed by the ministry were considered to have gender impacts to be further assessed in a GIA. Notably, the Danish Climate Law was considered to have no gender impact and a GIA was therefore not conducted. One proposal from the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities – concerning the establishment of a hydrogen infrastructure in Denmark – was subject to a GIA. Several ministries, including the Ministry of Transport and the Ministry of Environment, have not performed any GIAs since 2016/2017.

Screening the national climate action plan and the long-term low-emission strategy submitted to the UNFCCC, the review finds the following results. The Danish Climate Action Plan of 2020, which has not been subject to a GIA, does not directly address gender issues but focuses on ensuring social balance during the green transition, aiming to protect livelihoods and prevent increased inequality, without including specific indicators for gender equality. Thus, the Climate Action Plan come across as rather gender-blind.

Conversely, Denmark's 2020 long-term low-emission strategy explicitly links climate adaptation to gender equality, recognising that efforts toward a green transition can support achieving gender equality (SDG 5). It advocates for investments in women's empowerment, such as education and health, as beneficial for broader climate goals. While the strategy lacks detailed gender mainstreaming measures it can be considered rather gender-responsive. In terms of international development policy, Denmark's efforts emphasise gender equality, particularly through its development cooperation strategy, "The World 2030," targeting SDG5. However, detailed plans for integrating gender into foreign climate finance appear limited. In the recent the Biennial Reports (BRs) Denmark mentions gender equality projects but lack comprehensive integration strategies.

Finland incorporates gender budgeting across most ministries, with an emphasis on reporting expected gender equality impacts. A notable GIA was conducted on the Finnish Climate and Energy Strategy in 2021, revealing that proposed policy measures would impact male-dominated sectors positively but negatively affect female-dominated fields within the services sector. This GIA was conducted to align with the Government Action Plan for Gender Equality 2020-2023.

Screening the national climate action plan and the long-term low-emission strategy submitted to the UNFCCC, the review finds the following results. Finland's Climate Action Plan of 2017 integrates results from a GIA. Recognising the gender-segregated labour market, the plan acknowledges the potential varying impacts of climate measures on different sectors and highlights gender differences in political participation, consumption patterns, and responses to climate change, such as mobility practices and eating habits. The plan emphasises the importance of considering these gendered differences in climate policy design and implementation, which makes the plan gender-responsive.

Conversely, Finland's 2020 long-term low-emission strategy does not explicitly address gender aspects, focusing instead on minimising emissions reduction costs without a specific emphasis on gender equality. Although it mentions the government's responsibility to align climate action with human rights and efforts to reduce inequality, it lacks detailed actions or policies targeting gender equality or mainstreaming. Therefore, this strategy cannot be considered gender responsive.

Moving to Finland's international climate policies, the country showcases a strong commitment to gender equality in climate policies, focusing on women's participation in environmental management and the green economy. Its national strategies stress capacity building and knowledge dissemination to address the gender-differentiated impacts of climate change. Finland's BRs reflect this dedication through the promotion of gender equality in development policies and climate resilience planning.

Iceland mandates gender budgeting at the governmental level, applying it across all ministries and agencies. In the government's five-year plan on gender budgeting, the importance of integrating gender perspectives in environmental, transportation, and rural development policies is specifically mentioned. The City of Reykjavík has implemented gender budgeting across all departments, and a GIA was conducted on the city's 2021 Climate Strategy. At the national level, at GIA was conducted on Iceland's Climate Action Plan from 2021, analysing the gendered impacts of climate measures, particularly in mobility, revealing differences in how

men and women use bike lanes and walking paths, influenced by income levels. The Climate Action Plan emphasises the importance of ensuring that climate change actions are socially just and aligned with the SDGs, with a specific focus on equality across various societal groups, including gender, income, and sector. The mention of gender equality is indirect, referring instead to an assessment of impacts on different income groups and the overall goal of supporting equality and equal rights. Previously, in 2014, a GIA of Iceland's previous climate action plan highlighted the gendered aspects of job creation in the green transition and differing carbon footprints between men and women. Furthermore, the Icelandic government's reports on gender aspects across ministries emphasise the interlinkages between issues of climate and gender equality, advocating for inclusive and fair practices in the green transition. A notable project by the Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources focuses on the gendered impacts of textile consumption, aiming to promote sustainability and social responsibility in the fashion industry. The 2021 long-term low-emission strategy in Iceland does not specifically articulate gender aspects, focusing more on the impacts of climate action on different income groups and the need for a just transition. It lacks explicit mentions of gender equality or gender mainstreaming, making it less clear in terms of gender responsiveness.

In the context of international climate policy, Iceland focuses on gender-responsive budgeting and international cooperation for gender-responsive climate strategies. Its recent BR emphasise the disproportionate impact of climate change on women and the country's role in promoting gender aspects in international discussions. Iceland collaborates with organisations like UN Women and WEDO and runs training programs aimed at enhancing gender-responsive climate strategies in developing countries.

In reviewing **Norway**'s efforts, no concrete examples of GIAs in domestic climate policies were found. However, the Ministry of Climate and Environment is exploring the distributional effects of climate policy, including gender impacts. At the local level, Oslo Municipality conducted a GIA as part of its bicycle strategy, finding significant differences in bicycle use between genders.

Screening the national climate action plan and the long-term low-emission strategy submitted to the UNFCCC, the review finds the following results. Norway's climate action plan of 2020 addresses the SDGs, including SDG 5 on gender equality, but does not delve into specifics about how climate actions impact gender. It emphasises that climate action should be balanced with other SDGs and not negatively affect low-income or vulnerable groups or employment. The 2020-2021 white paper on energy briefly mentions gender in the context of the oil workforce transition, highlighting Equinor's goal for female apprenticeship, but does not extend gender considerations to other sectors or the wider energy policy.

Norway's long-term low-emission strategy of 2020 does not specifically include gender aspects. A detailed review of Norwegian policy documents conducted by

academic researchers in 2023 suggests that Norwegian climate policies, in general, do not explicitly address the link between gender and climate change, with a noted absence of gender mainstreaming in climate policymaking.

Norway's Eighth National Communication to the UNFCCC for 2022 does mention gender once in relation to "just transition" under the global SDG process. This suggests an acknowledgement of gendered differences in this context, however, concrete examples of gender integration in climate action are lacking. A focus on gender perspectives appears more pronounced in local strategies than in national policies. Viken county's regional planning strategy for 2020-2024 includes sustainability priorities that integrate an equality perspective, with specific links to SDG 5 on gender equality.

Moving the foreign- and international development policy in the area of climate in Norway, its strategic documents and BRs highlight a commitment to gender mainstreaming in foreign- and international development policy in relation to climate, emphasising women's vulnerability to climate impacts and the importance of involving women to enhance gender equality in climate action. Despite this, the level of gender mainstreaming in climate finance reporting is considered the lowest among the reviewed Nordic countries.

Sweden's draft strategy for gender mainstreaming of the Paris Agreement emphasises integrating gender equality into all budget areas, including climate. However, this review has not been able to identify concrete examples of gender budgeting in climate policy. Efforts, particularly in Norbotten, Västra Götaland, and Umeå municipality, show a pronounced focus on incorporating gender equality into climate adaptation plans and urban planning, e.g. by conducting GIAs and gender analyses with a focus on social equality.

Screening the national climate action plan and the long-term low-emission strategy submitted to the UNFCCC, the review finds the following results. Sweden's Climate Action Plans of 2019 and 2023 emphasise the country's commitment to ensuring that the efforts towards climate neutrality do not compromise other SDGs. The plans highlight the interconnectedness of various areas and aim for a coherent approach that avoids high societal costs and considers differences across income groups and urban/rural divides. The 2023 plan notably integrates gender equality into climate efforts, and notably acknowledge the mutual reinforcement between gender equality and climate action. It specifies the importance of a gender equality perspective in areas such as public transport, the labor market, and STEM fields, and underscores Sweden's ongoing commitment to gender equality in the context of the Paris Agreement. The plan was prepared with a gender analysis, reflecting comprehensive gender mainstreaming efforts and rendering the plan as gender responsive.

The Swedish long-term low-emission strategy of 2020 is more explicit in its approach to gender mainstreaming, including a specific section on gender equality

and climate change. It outlines proposals for integrating gender equality into the implementation of the Paris Agreement and acknowledges the importance of considering distributional and regional effects of the green transition on gender equality. The strategy suggests that promoting gender equality is both an end goal and a means to facilitate greenhouse gas emission reduction, highlighting the need to consider how the transition impacts different households across regions. This approach indicates an understanding that climate policies and initiatives that incorporate gender differences and aim for social cohesion are more likely to succeed, marking the strategy as gender responsive.

Sweden's Integrated Energy and Climate Plan, submitted to the EU in 2020, includes a dedicated section on gender mainstreaming, reflecting the country's long-standing commitment to gender equality. However, an academic analysis of the plan criticises it for portraying women primarily as vulnerable and as custodians of local knowledge, thereby perpetuating patriarchal structures without addressing power imbalances or intra-country gender dynamics. While the plan in itself could be considered gender-responsive in terms of section dedicated to gender equality, this critique raised indicates that gender mainstreaming in Sweden has increased vigilance from non-governmental stakeholders and experts, calling out the gaps in the performance of gender mainstreaming. With that said, the critique should be taken into account by policymakers as it can serve as a foundation for improving the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP goals.

Regarding the foreign- and international development climate policy of Sweden, the country is known for adopting the world's first feminist foreign policy in 2014 and taking the lead in integrating gender considerations within its international climate policy.^[342] The country's climate finance shows a high level of gender mainstreaming, with efforts to track and encourage further gender mainstreaming, although there has been a noted decline in recent years. Sweden's BRs also testify to the conviction that a gender-just transition is crucial for achieving the Paris Agreement goals.

4.5 Priority area E: Monitoring and reporting

Priority area E of the UNFCCC GAP focuses on the monitoring and reporting mechanisms for gender mainstreaming in climate-related efforts. Clear routines for data collection, analysis, and monitoring are essential to strengthen accountability and meet national and international reporting requirements. Reporting mechanisms also foster the possibility of sharing knowledge and experiences among countries. Ultimately, this priority area aims to enhance transparency, accountability, and effectiveness in gender-responsive climate policies and actions.

^{342.}Expert Group for Aid Studies (2023). More Than a Label, Less Than a Revolution: Sweden's Feminist Foreign Policy.

In line with this, this section provides examples of relevant monitoring and reporting mechanisms internationally and examples of national monitoring- and reporting activities related to the UNFCCC GAP.

The Commission on the Status of Women (CSW) reviews the implementation of the BPfA every fifth year.^[343] The United Nations Regional Commissions, in cooperation with UN Women, coordinate the review process, and for this the Parties must submit national review reports. The most recent reports from 2019 marked the 25th anniversary of the BPfA (Beijing+25), during which member states were invited to review their progress and submit national review reports.^[344] The review reports (2019) consist of 40 questions through which the countries must report on their progress towards gender equality. Among other things, the countries must report on their priorities, achievements, and challenges for the prior five years, as well as the five coming years. This monitoring- and reporting mechanism encourages the countries to develop and maintain national data collection and analysis structures, thus enhancing accountability. As elaborated in chapter 4.4, two questions relate directly to environmental- and climate policies, namely what actions the countries have taken in the last five years to integrate gender perspectives and concerns into environmental policies and programmes for disaster risk reduction, climate resilience and mitigation. The countries must also report on their actions in the past five years to "recognize, reduce and/or redistribute unpaid care and domestic work and promote work-family conciliation" - an aspect assessed in chapter 4.2 on gender equality in 'the green sector'. The UNFCCC GAP and its priority areas and activities are not explicitly referred to in the 40 questions on which the Parties must report. Nonetheless, the national review reports can be considered one example of an international monitoring- and reporting mechanism of gender mainstreaming in climate policies.

In the national review reports, the countries also report on whether they have defined indicators for monitoring the progress of the SDGs. Reporting on the SDGs implementation is otherwise a voluntary reporting process, i.e. The Voluntary National Reviews (VNRs), which is part of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development review mechanisms, where countries are encouraged to conduct regular reviews of their progress towards the SDGs.^[345]

The VNRs are integral to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, designed for countries to conduct self-assessments of their progress towards achieving the SDGs. These reviews are encouraged to be inclusive, covering progress at both national and sub-national levels, and are meant to be country-led and countrydriven. The VNRs involve multiple stakeholders and focus on sharing successes, challenges, and lessons learned to accelerate the implementation of the 2030

^{343.}United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (n.d). Monitoring and reviews.

 ^{344.}UN WOMEN (2020). CSW64 preparations
 345.United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2022). Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform: Voluntary National Reviews.

Agenda.^[346] They also aim to strengthen government policies and institutions and foster support and partnerships across various stakeholders. The High-level Political Forum (HLPF) under the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) serves as the platform where these reviews are presented, facilitating a global exchange of insights and best practices.

According to the country profiles drawn from the Sustainable Development Report from 2023, Denmark has 197 indicators, Finland has 42, Sweden has 65, and Norway has no indicators but rather online reporting on SDG indicators. The report also shows that Denmark, Finland, Norway, and Sweden carried out VNRs in 2016/17 and 2020/2021. The report provides no information on Icelandic indicators or VNR.^[347]

This review has not identified any recent cross-Nordic evaluation or review on gender mainstreaming in Nordic countries in general. In 2014, the NCM commissioned reviews of the equality assessment work carried out in the Nordics at state and municipal levels, respectively.^[348] The state-level review shows that Finland, Iceland, Norway, and Sweden have integrated gender-responsive measures and efforts into overarching policy frameworks across various sectors. Denmark's approach tends to be more practice-oriented and sector-specific, dispersed across departments rather than forming part of a comprehensive policy framework. Although the review originates from 2014, its conclusion remains consistent with the findings in chapter 4.3 regarding Priority area C on coherence. Based on the 2014 review, it is recommended that the countries establish requirements for the collection of sex-disaggregated data to be used in reporting on results, carry out gender analyses, and disseminate results and impact of gender mainstreaming to ensure political support for gender equality efforts.^[349]

The Nordic countries have adopted various approaches to monitor and evaluate gender mainstreaming, aside from the UNFCCC reporting mechanisms, which commit all Parties to report on the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP in the spring of 2024.

Denmark

The Ministry of Digital Government and Equality monitors the public gender equality efforts. Furthermore, the Danish Institute for Human Rights evaluates and monitors gender equality in Denmark and has a mandate to bring cases of a principal nature or cases of public interest to the Equal Treatment Board.

^{346.}United Nations (UN) (n.d.). High-Level Political Forumon Sustainable Development. Voluntary National Reviews. 347.Sustainable Development Report (2023). Country Profiles; Sachs, J.D. et. Al. (2023). Implementing the SDG Stimulus. Sustainable Development Report 2023.

^{348.}Oxford Research (2014). Mapping of good practice and effects in the public authorities' work with equality assessment in selected service areas - at municipal level; Oxford Research (2014). Mapping of good practice and effects in the public authorities' work with equality assessment in selected service areas - at state level.
349.Nordic Co-operation (2015). Equality assessment in the work of state authorities – Results and recommendations from a cross-Nordic survey.

In alignment with the Act on Gender Equality, public institutions must report on their gender equality efforts every third year. The reports are published online on the webpage Gender Equality in Denmark, where the overall results are compiled for the state, the regions, and the municipalities, respectively.^[350] The institutions must report on personnel and public core services. The most recent gender equality reports from 2023 show that in the state, 33% of institutions have set goals for gender equality in their core services, and 58% have incorporated a gender equality perspective and sex-disaggregated data when preparing analyses, evaluations, user surveys etc.^[351] 60% of the regions have set goals for gender equality in their core services, and 100% of the regions have incorporated a gender equality perspective and utilised sex-disaggregated data when preparing analyses, evaluations, user surveys etc.^[352] For municipalities, the numbers are 54% and 60%, respectively.^[353]

Ministry of Digital Government and Equality also monitors how many legislative proposals have been screened for gender impact, and further gender impact is assessed at the end of a parliamentary year. This is reported back to the Gender Equality Committee in the Danish Parliament (Folketinget). The Danish NGO KVINFO undertakes an unofficial monitoring role and regular checks up on this process, including a recent assessment of the implementation of the obligation to screen for gender relevance (and, if considered relevant, conduct GIAs).^[354]

Finland

The mandatory Gender Equality Plans (GEPs), supported by guidelines from the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare, require periodic reviews to assess their efficacy. The Gender Equality Unit and the Ombudsman for Equality provide essential support and oversight for these gender mainstreaming endeavours across aovernment entities. Finland's new Climate Act, effective since July 1, 2022, emphasises the importance of climate change policy planning and monitoring. Finland thus displays a relatively structured framework for monitoring.

Iceland

As the only Nordic country, Iceland has mandatory gender budgeting underpinned by five-year plans and overseen by the Directorate of Equality. This centralised monitoring, combined with the involvement of a steering committee led by the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs and the task of gender equality representatives in all ministries to oversee the gender mainstreaming activities, demonstrate a relatively strong framework of monitoring. The requirement for ministries to account for the gender impact of budget proposals and annual progress reports on gender equality goals adds layers of transparency and

^{350.}Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Review of Equality.

^{351.} Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Equality in the state 352. Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Equality in the regions

^{353.}Danish Ministry of digital government and gender equality (2023). Equality in the municipalities 354.KVINFO (2023). Equality assessment of legislative proposal.

accountability. Iceland has furthermore initiated welfare monitoring to capture social and environmental development, indicating a move towards considering gender aspects in climate work.

Norway

This review has not identified processes of monitoring, reporting, and accounting aside from the UNFCCC submissions. Norway's Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act delineates responsibilities for both public and private employers to conduct regular assessments and reports on equality efforts. The Ministry of Culture and Equality, along with the Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud and the Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs, facilitates guidance, monitoring, and the formulation of national action plans to support these activities.

Sweden

Sweden has established a broad set of bodies and mechanisms dedicated to overseeing gender mainstreaming efforts across various sectors, including climate policy. The Swedish Gender Equality Agency is pivotal in the implementation, coordination, and evaluation of gender mainstreaming practices. This agency, along with the Gender Mainstreaming in Government Agencies (GMGA) network, plays a significant role in advancing gender equality within governmental operations. However, the gender mainstreaming strategy by the Environmental Protection Agency put emphasis on the need for robust controlling and follow-up mechanisms to monitor and evaluate gender mainstreaming efforts effectively:

"Routines combined with statistics form the basis for reliable and quality-assured monitoring and reporting on gender mainstreaming in climate work. Clear routines for collection, analysis, and monitoring strengthen Sweden's ability to meet national and international reporting requirements and can also be shared with other countries to enhance knowledge dissemination and experience exchange. Sweden regularly reports its efforts to limit climate changes and for climate adaptation according to internationally agreed reporting guidelines under the Climate Convention, the Kyoto Protocol, and the Paris Agreement. At the EU level, Sweden, along with other member countries, contributes to the EU's reporting under the Climate Convention (EU 2018/1999), where gender equality is included at a general level (Euro-Lex, 2020)."^[355]

In Sweden, this review has identified a wide range of academic studies critically evaluating Sweden's gender mainstreaming efforts, employing feminist approaches to highlight the complexities and challenges in integrating gender into climate policymaking. These studies underscore the importance of a decolonial

^{355.}Swedish Environmental Protection Agency (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects at Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement.

feminist intervention to transform climate policy by addressing the production of ignorance and the inclusion of intersectionality.^[356]

4.5.1 Summary on Priority area E: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership

Priority area E is dedicated to enhancing the mechanisms for monitoring and reporting on gender mainstreaming within climate-related initiatives. It emphasises the development of clear procedures for data collection, analysis, and monitoring to improve accountability and fulfil both national and international reporting obligations. This approach is also seen as a way to facilitate knowledge and experience exchange among countries, aiming to increase transparency, accountability, and the effectiveness of gender-responsive climate policies.

A 2014 review commissioned by the NCM examined gender mainstreaming practices in the Nordic countries, revealing varied approaches to applying genderresponsive measures into policy frameworks. Denmark, for example, focuses on a more practice-oriented, sector-specific approach, whereas other countries incorporate gender-responsive efforts into overarching policy frameworks. Recommendations from this 2014 review include establishing requirements for sexdisaggregated data collection, conducting gender analyses, and disseminating the results to support gender equality efforts.

The Nordic countries have implemented diverse strategies for monitoring and evaluating gender mainstreaming in addition to adhering to the UNFCCC reporting requirements set for 2024. Denmark employs the Act on Gender Equality to mandate public authorities to integrate gender equality into their operations, including legislative assessments and setting gender balance targets with a threeyear reporting cycle. Challenges exist in the process of identifying the relevance of performing GIAs on bill proposals a process tracked by KVINFO. The lack of specific gender mainstreaming targets and gender equality indicators for climate policies suggests a need for further integration. Public institutions report their gender equality efforts every third year, with recent reports indicating varying degrees of goal setting and incorporating a gender equality perspective in their operations. Finland has mandatory GEPs that require periodic evaluations, supported by the Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. The Gender Equality Unit and the Ombudsman for Equality oversee these efforts. The new Climate Act highlights the significance of climate policy monitoring, suggesting a structured approach to gender mainstreaming monitoring. Iceland stands out with mandatory gender budgeting, supervised by the Directorate of Equality and involving a comprehensive monitoring framework. This approach includes annual progress reports on gender equality goals and integrates gender considerations into climate work. Norway

^{356.} Arora-Jonsson, S. & Wahlström, N. (2022). 'Unraveling the production of ignorance in climate policymaking: The imperative of a decolonial feminist intervention for transformation.' ; Singleton, B. et al. (2022). Intersectionality and climate policy-making: The inclusion of social difference by three Swedish government agencies

lacks specific processes for monitoring, reporting, and accounting beyond UNFCCC submissions. The Equality and Anti-Discrimination Act outlines responsibilities for conducting regular equality assessments, with support from various governmental bodies. **Sweden** has established a comprehensive network for gender mainstreaming oversight across sectors, including climate policy. The Swedish Gender Equality Agency and the GMGA network are central to these efforts. The Environmental Protection Agency's strategy highlights the need for more effective monitoring and reporting mechanisms.

Having charted the course of integrating gender equality into climate policy across the Nordic countries through the lens of the UNFCCC GAP's priority areas, the following chapter (5) outlines the gaps and barriers that persist in the process of implementing the UNFCCC GAP. Chapter 5, thus, sets the stage for a deeper understanding of the obstacles that must be overcome to realise the full potential of gender-responsive climate policy and action.

5. Gaps and barriers

The following sections present identified gaps and barriers challenging the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP across the Nordic countries. To maintain consistency with the UNFCCC GAP's framework, the identified gaps and barriers have been categorised in accordance with the five priority areas. However, these gaps and barriers are not isolated to the distinct priority areas as segmented in the report's chapters. Rather, they are interlinked, reflecting the complexity of the issues involved. Additionally, the national approaches and progress levels in implementing the UNFCCC GAP vary across the Nordic countries, which means that the significance, relevance and applicability of the identified gaps and barriers vary for each nation.

5.1 Priority Area A: Capacity Building, knowledge management and communication

Domestic under-prioritisation

While the Nordic region is a frontrunner in both gender equality and climate policies, policymakers risk overlooking the relevance of integrating gender perspectives into domestic climate policy. This is particularly notable in Denmark and Norway. Across all five countries, interviewed stakeholders express that the specific priority of focusing on gender in climate policy and action often comes across as limited, pointing to space for improvement in terms of both integrating gender equality in climate policy and communicating on the gender mainstreaming efforts made. One of the National Gender & Climate Change Focal Points of a Nordic country observes that gender equality in climate issues is often perceived as an auxiliary concern rather than a fundamental aspect of a just green transition. Resource allocation, political will, and prioritisation of gender aspects amidst other political priorities pose a significant barrier.

The international position of the Nordic countries as frontrunners in gender equality can be argued to perpetuate this domestic under-prioritisation, as the gendered aspects of climate policies domestically are considered less relevant than those in the Global South. As one stakeholder says: *"A big problem in the green transition is that people [in the Nordic countries] feel that we have gender equality already, so we do not need to take that into account [in climate policies]."* ^[357]

^{357.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries.

Another barrier in this regard is that the policy areas of both gender and climate policy are politicised domains within the five Nordic countries – not in terms of whether gender equality and green, just transition is imperative, but in terms of what measures are needed to promote and realising it. A Danish stakeholder articulates that since reaching a political consensus on climate policies can already be challenging, integrating a gender equality perspective risks slowing down progress.^[358]

These barriers hinder the recognition of the importance and significance of gender mainstreaming domestic climate policies and impedes the effective implementation of the UNFCCC GAP.

Inadequate utilisation of data and lack of gender analyses

Insufficient utilisation of data poses a barrier to demonstrating the importance and relevance of gender mainstreaming climate policies to policymakers, including conducting gender analyses. While the argument of "lack of data" is encountered in this review, the actual barrier seems to be the underutilisation of existing data, and thereby also the lack of resources allocated for looking into, gathering, and applying existing data. Although not exhaustive in capturing all gender dimensions of climate policies, an abundance of Nordic data relevant to gender mainstreaming in climate policies already exists, awaiting collection and analysis. The underutilisation of data stems from inadequacies in political prioritisation, resource allocation, knowledge dissemination and communication, resulting in a lack of awareness. This lack of knowledge hampers the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP, as policymakers fail to grasp its significance and the potential benefits, as well as how to effectively integrate it.

"In my experience, the issue is not lack of information. The issue is not knowing where to find that information. As long as doing a gender analysis is not a requirement, it will get overlooked because of a lack of time or resources. Information could be easy to find through online search or through colleagues, but who will do the research?" (Ministerial Adviser in the Ministry of Environment in Finland)^[359]

Lack of gender mainstreaming tools and training for climate policymaking

Although tools and training for gender mainstreaming are accessible to public authorities and policymakers in certain countries, there is a noticeable scarcity or lack of resources specifically tailored for the gender mainstreaming of climate policies. The endeavour to integrate gender perspectives into climate policy can be

^{358.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries.

^{359.}Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries.

argued to face specific obstacles because the incorporation of gender equality has traditionally been seen as pertinent primarily within culturally feminised policy areas such as social affairs and healthcare, policy areas highlighted relevant in the Danish strategy for gender mainstreaming in contrast to technical fields such as construction.^[360] Regarding domestic climate policy, this obstacle is perpetuated by the fact that the concept of gender mainstreaming has traditionally been performed in the realm of international development policy and programming. Thus, this review finds that gender mainstreaming in the field of climate policy – especially domestic climate policy – needs more support in terms of both political will, knowledge dissemination, guiding resources and training.

In some instances, research centres and NGOs have taken on the role of disseminating information on the gendered impacts of climate change and policies – in a Nordic context, along with offering policy recommendations. However, these efforts are not necessarily integrated into the institutional mechanisms supporting the UNFCCC GAP, as can be said to be the case in Norway and Denmark.

Differences in gender mainstreaming terminology can challenge cross-Nordic dialogue

This review reveals significant inconsistencies in gender mainstreaming terminology and concepts across the Nordic countries, with each nation adopting different terms and interpretations, for instance, in the concepts of gender impact assessments and gender analysis. If the gender mainstreaming concepts are clearly defined and communicated within the countries, these discrepancies do not necessarily affect internal efforts within each country. However, they can challenge communication and exchange across the Nordic countries as well as cross-Nordic evaluations and reviews, as for instance Gender Impact Assessment is one thing in one country and another in another country.

5.2 Priority area B: Gender balance, participation, and women's leadership

Risk of overlooking the importance of gender balance in STEM

The UNFCCC GAP does not explicitly address the importance of gender imbalances in STEM fields. However, in implementing priority area B focusing on gender balance, participation, and women's leadership, it is crucial to go beyond merely increasing the numerical representation of women in international climate negotiations, delegations, and UNFCCC processes. The underrepresentation of women in STEM fields and, by extension, in green jobs poses a significant barrier to achieving gender equality in the Nordic countries' green transition. This disparity

^{360.}Danish Ministry of Gender Equality and the Church (now Digital Government and Equality) (2013). Gender impact assessments of legislative proposals.

not only reflects existing gender imbalances in education and employment but also risks perpetuating these inequalities as the green transition progresses. Traditionally, gender representation and inclusion in STEM have been the responsibility of ministries and agencies overseeing education, business, and gender equality. Ministries and agencies focusing on climate and environment, however, may not directly engage in these initiatives. In addressing the gender imbalance in STEM fields, it is important to note that studies emphasise the importance of challenging and changing the existing structures to be more inclusive, rather than expecting women to conform to pre-existing, male-dominated frameworks, thereby failing to question any problematic gender norms, and by that falling into what could be referred to as a 'fixing-the-women-not-the-structures'-approach.^[361]

Techno-framing of climate policies and green transition

Climate change is frequently portrayed as a technological challenge. This calls for expertise primarily found in the male-dominated STEM fields, overshadowing the social dimensions of climate change and the contributions of professionals from non-STEM backgrounds. In other words, focusing exclusively on STEM risks sidelining the social dimensions of climate change and the contributions of women and non-STEM professionals in climate action. Furthermore, the absence of specific measures acknowledging the significance of unpaid care and domestic work in the green transition poses a risk of exacerbating gender inequality, as women in the Nordic countries continue to bear the burden of unpaid domestic work.

5.3 Priority area C: Coherence

Limited coordination and coherence in gender equality work

In Denmark and Norway, the absence of inter-ministerial working groups and/or agencies with gender expertise hinders the translation of the UNFCCC GAP into national governance and the coordination of gender mainstreaming of climate policies across relevant ministries, offices, and public institutions. Additionally, the limited allocation of specific resources, such as funding and personnel crucial for gender mainstreaming, further impedes its effective implementation. This challenge is not just confined to financial resources but also extends to the lack of dedicated personnel tasked with driving the gender mainstreaming agenda. The lack of coordination and resources is fundamentally a question of political will and prioritisation and can be strengthened in all of the Nordic countries.

^{361.} Sand, Jimmy (2022). Climate, Gender and Consumption: A research overview of gender perspectives on sustainable lifestyles; Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK) (2022). Gender norms a challenge for the green transition.

Absence of comprehensive strategies targeting the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP

A notable gap in the Nordic implementation of the UNFCCC GAP is the general absence of dedicated national strategies for implementing the specific GAP priority areas and activities. Sweden stands out for its draft strategy aimed at gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, which is based on a national translation of the UNFCCC GAP into a Swedish context. However, such targeted approaches remain rare, highlighting a widespread barrier to fully implementing the UNFCCC GAP. The importance of a focused strategy and/or action plan for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, including objectives and indicators, is also desirable in order to ensure the foundation for systematic monitoring and evaluations, which is lacking today.

Limited or lacking integration of gender equality in just transition

A gap in the coherence of implementing the UNFCCC GAP in the Nordic countries is the inconsistent integration of gender equality into the concept of a 'just transition' or 'socially balanced' climate policy. There is a tendency to treat just transition as primarily a socio-economic issue rather than one that directly encompasses gender aspects, thus overlooking the specific gendered impacts of climate policy. For example, in climate policy documents from both Denmark and Norway, 'just transition' or 'social balance' is emphasised without specifically addressing gender considerations. Consequently, the concepts and ambitions of the just transition are observed to lack gender responsiveness.

Limited systematic synergy between implementing UNFCCC GAP and the SDGs

Another observed gap relates to the systematic implementation of the Agenda 2030 SDGs, particularly SDG 5 on gender equality, alongside the SDGs related to climate objectives, particularly SDG 13. While Denmark's approach to SDG implementation involves screening new regulations for their impact on SDGs, this strategy does not explicitly prioritise gender-focused actions within the climate domain. The review points to room for improvement in explicitly integrating gender equality considerations into SDG implementation efforts, ensuring that gender perspectives are adequately incorporated into climate policy as directed by the UNFCCC GAP.

5.4 Priority area D: Gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation

Limited gender expertise and expert consultation

Both governmental and non-governmental stakeholders argue that gender experts are sometimes either not consulted or invited too late in the policymaking process, or their contributions are not included in the final strategies, policies, etc. Moreover, in Denmark and Norway, there seems to be limited collaboration between public authorities developing domestic climate policy and gender equality agencies and organisations. For instance, a researcher from CICERO reports that "CICERO's knowledge on gender dimensions is not in high demand, and it is difficult to get financial resources for that work".

Two inter-governmental gender experts participating in the workshop and focus groups note that time constraints in policymaking processes often hinder the inclusion of all relevant parties and partners.^[362] A senior advisor in a Danish Ministry argues that because gender expertise is not directly present among climate policymakers, who mostly are experts in climate issues, integrating the gender perspective or even finding external experts can become an extra burden in addition to the major core tasks.^[363] In line with this, the coordinator of gender mainstreaming in the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency argues that due to time constraints in policymaking processes, there is not enough time to build trust or bring all relevant parties to the table.^[364]

Gaps and limitations in stated goals in documents and gender mainstreaming efforts

The extent to which gender is mainstreamed into key climate policy documents, such as National Climate Action Plans and Long-term Low-emission Strategies, varies among the Nordic countries. In some cases, climate policy documents come across as gender-blind, while other examples within the same country showcase efforts towards gender mainstreaming in climate policy. In other cases, climate policy documents such as the Danish Long-term- Low-emission strategy demonstrate gender responsiveness while minimal gender mainstreaming activities are observed within the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, with few GIAs conducted and no instances of gender budgeting.

 ^{362.} Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries.
 363. Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic

Countries. 364.Online cross-Nordic focus group (15.12.2023). Gender Mainstreaming the Green Transition in the Nordic Countries.

5.5 Priority area E: Monitoring and reporting

Limited and irregular monitoring- and reporting mechanisms

A noteworthy gap in successfully implementing the UNFCCC GAP is the lack of a systematic evaluation framework for the GAP, which means that there is a lack of clear structures for the processes of monitoring and reporting national (incl. regional and local) progress. The process of monitoring progress towards gender equality within environmental and climate policies is challenged by limited and irregular international reporting and monitoring mechanisms.

Despite requirements for countries to report – every fifth year – on their efforts towards gender equality in environmental and climate policies, the reporting mechanism of the BPfA does not compel the formulation of specific goals or indicators for monitoring the gender-climate nexus. In addition, the VNRs also provide a platform for countries to present their gender mainstreaming efforts concerning green transition. However, the level of detail in these reporting frameworks on climate policies and actions varies significantly, highlighting a substantial gap in establishing precise indicators for monitoring the impact of climate policies on gender equality. Although the Biennial Reports to the UNFCCC include references to gender equality, the lack of mandated goals or indicators for this specific intersection further emphasises the deficiency in monitoring mechanisms.

This absence of specific mechanisms dedicated to evaluating the effectiveness of gender-responsive measures in climate policies indicates a broader issue within the international framework for addressing the gender-climate nexus, highlighting a significant area for improvement in achieving a comprehensive and consistent understanding and integration of gender considerations within climate policy and action.

6. Best practices

This chapter presents an overview of best practice examples for implementing the UNFCCC GAP in the Nordic countries on national and local levels. The overview consists of examples already presented throughout the review, as well as additional best practice cases encountered as part of the assessment process.

6.1 National level

Mandatory Gender budgeting at state level (IS)

In Iceland, gender budgeting has been mandatory at the state level since 2015. The legislation is directed by the Public Finance Act, and a gender budgeting steering committee led by the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs oversees the gender budgeting implementation. Gender experts/representatives within each ministry cooperate with inter-ministerial steering groups that are responsible for implementing gender budgeting within each ministry.

On its website, The Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs provides information on and training in gender budgeting, including a short video explainer focusing on gender budgeting in relation to the reduction of pollution in Icelandic with English subtitles. For further details, see the Iceland-section <u>chapter 4.4.2</u>.

Advanced programme for gender mainstreaming in government agencies (SE)

The Swedish Gender Equality has launched a new programme for gender mainstreaming in government agencies (GMGA+), focusing on developing and implementing a model for systematic knowledge exchange and sharing of best practices in relation to gender mainstreaming and gender budgeting in the public sector.^[365] In 2024, the new cohort of government agencies includes a director general for the sectors working with green transitions and environment. See <u>chapter 4.3.5</u> for further description.

Gender mainstreaming training (FI)

The Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health and the Finnish Institute of Health and Welfare provide training material in gender mainstreaming through the governmental digital learning platform eOppiva.^[366] The Ministry also maintains

366.eOppiva, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health and Institute of Health and Welfare (2020). Gender equality and equality – Why and How?

^{365.}Swedish Gender Equality Agency (2020.) Gender mainstreaming in government agencies.

the website Promoting Gender Equality, offering guidance and a checklist for gender mainstreaming.^[367] See <u>chapter 4.2.3</u> for further information.

Inclusion of external gender experts (SE)

The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency has invited researchers with expertise in climate, environment, gender, and democracy to facilitate open lectures. For further information, see section in sub-chapter <u>4.1.3</u>.

Inclusive stakeholder involvement processes (FI)

In relation to making a new national Climate and Energy Strategy, the Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment hosted an open public consultation on the interlinkage between gender and climate policies for all interested stakeholders.^[368] Subsequently, the national Climate and Energy Strategy was subject to a gender impact assessment carried out by an external consultant. For further info, see <u>chapter 4.4.1</u>.

Draft Strategy for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement (SE)

In 2021, the Swedish government mandated the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency to formulate a strategy for integrating gender equality into Sweden's implementation of the Paris Agreement. The strategy includes various focus areas such as capacity development, knowledge dissemination, and equal representation in climate change mitigation and adaptation efforts. The strategy is thus a national translation of the is the UNFCCC GAP. For further info, see <u>chapter 4.3.5</u>.

Project: Gender and consumption (IS)

In 2020-2023, the Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resource in collaboration with the Environment Agency of Iceland, the Consumer Agency, the Red Cross, the company Aftur, and Iceland University of the Arts, launched a project focusing on circular economy and textile waste. By integrating gender perspectives into waste prevention measures, the project also sought to promote green employment opportunities, address wage inequality, and enhance working conditions in the textile industry.^[369]

^{367.}Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare (n.d.). Equality checklist for authorities 368.Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K. et al (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic

context 369.Icelandic Prime Minister's Office (2019). Proposal for Parliamentary Resolution on a Gender Equality Action Programme for the period of 2020–2023

6.2 Local and municipal level

Gender budgeting (IS)

Reykjavík City has implemented gender budgeting across all departments. Gender budgeting as well as all gender mainstreaming work is facilitated by a Gender Budgeting Project Manager. Written instructions and video guides for Gender Budgeting as well as gender analyses are available online.^[370] All new projects are subjected to a gender analysis carried out by City staff. See chapter 4.4.3 for further details.

Gender equality in climate strategy (SE)

Umeå municipality has formulated a gender equality goal in their "Climate contract".^[371] This contract is developed as part of the municipality's participation in the Viable Cities Network.^[372]

Collaboration on increased gender balance in the STEM fields (DK)

Region Midtiylland has initiated efforts targeting the gender imbalance in specifically the care sector and the STEM fields.^[373] The aim of the initiative is to enhance diversity and bolster the workforce and is thus not explicitly linked to promoting gender equality in the green transition. However, engagement in STEM education and professional environments inherently leads to a greater number of women influencing areen transition initiatives and projects. The initiative involves collaborating with educational institutions to encourage and support underrepresented genders to pursue professions within this field. The set goal is a minimum representation of 10% women.

Iceland School of Energy (IS)

Iceland School of Energy (ISE) at Reykjavik University has for a decade been committed to countering the gender imbalance in their educational programmes. One initiative is the Women in Energy Scholarship, which supports female students by covering one-third of the tuition for master's programs.^[374] ISE has been very successive in countering the gender imbalance, with a 66% of female enrolments in 2023, compared to 34% in 2018.^[375]

^{370.}Reykjavík City (n.d.). Gender Budgeting

 ^{370.} Reykjavik City (n.a.). Gender Budgeting
 371. Umeå Municipality (2022), Climate contract 2030 Between the municipality of Umeå and the authorities The Energy Agency, Vinnova, Formas, the Agency for Growth, the Swedish Transport Agency, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency and Viable Cities
 372. Paging Contral, hudred (2021). Chart of Contract Cont

^{373.}Region Central Jutland (2021), Strategy for sustainability 2030

Iceland School of Energy, Reykjavik University (n.d.).
 Iceland School of Energy, Reykjavik University (2023). Iceland's Women's Strike: Empowering Energy Equality.

Gender analyses as part of bicycle strategy process (NO)

Oslo municipality has carried out a gender analyses as part of their bicycle strategy process. As a result of that analyses, gender dimensions are integrated into Oslo Municipality's Oslo bicycle strategy 2015-2025.^[376]

Collaboration with the University, including students conducting gender analyses (IS)

The Government Offices of Iceland and the City of Reykjavík have an agreement with the University of Iceland about students carrying out projects and theses on gender mainstreaming- and budgeting in relation to national and local policies and initiatives. The initiative is led by Dr. Finnborg Salome Steinþórsdóttir since 2016. See <u>chapter 4.4.1</u> for further details.

Knowledge hub on climate and gender (IS)

The City of Reykjavík has launched a Knowledge Hub on Climate Change.^[377] The Knowledge Hub offers knowledge on gendered aspects of climate change and climate policies, tools, and best practices from across the Nordics, and the purpose is to render this information accessible to local communities, government authorities, and public institutions in the policy development and planning towards just, green transition. See <u>chapter 4.1.3</u> for further details.

6.3 Civil society

Advocacy and monitoring of gender mainstreaming the green transition (DK + NO)

Both KVINFO (DK), Kilden Genderresearch (NO) and CONCORD (SE) have published numerous papers and reports on gender equality in the green transition and in climate policy making. Furthermore, these organisations have hosted events, seminars and conferences inviting policy makers and ministers from relevant ministries.

KVINFO has reviewed the gender equality assessments of legislative proposals in all Danish ministries, including Ministry of Climate, Energy, and Utilities and the Ministry of Environment and Food. This is an effective strategy in reminding the government of its responsibility as well as the importance of gender mainstreaming in climate policies.

Especially in countries where gender mainstreaming is less institutionalised, pressure from the civil society is important in pushing the agenda. For further info, see <u>chapter 4.1.5</u>.

^{376.}Oslo Municipality (2014), Oslo bicycle strategy 2015 – 2025 377.Reykjavík City (n.d.). Climate Change Knowledge Hub

7. Conclusions

By adopting the UN's Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender and its Gender Action Plan in 2019, the Nordic countries committed to advancing and promoting gender-responsive climate policy and action and gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement. These objectives are outlined in Gender Action Plan under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change's Gender Action Plan (UNFCCC GAP).^[378] Since, the adaptation of the UNFCCC GAP, the Nordic countries have made significant strides in promoting gender equality in relation to green transition, namely in 2022 at the 66th session of the Commission on the Status of Women. The Nordic Council of Ministers then formulated commitments to promote feminist action for climate justice, including ensuring inclusive green jobs, gender mainstreaming in climate policy in a structured way e.g. by utilising sex-disaggregated data in relation to climate action, conducting gender analyses and implementing gender budgeting for climate policy design- and measures.^[379] Despite this, and while the Nordic countries are pioneering within both gender equality and climate action, this review finds significant differences in the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP across Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway and Sweden.

In relation to Priority area A of the UNFCCC GAP, focusing on **capacity building**, knowledge management, and communication, the review shows that there are limited resources and training targeting knowledge- and capacity building in terms of gender mainstreaming in climate policies. While training and tools on gender mainstreaming in general are available to policymakers in all countries to a varying degree, only Iceland has examples of gender mainstreaming resources and training relating directly to climate policies- and action. In terms of knowledge, the review shows that although some stakeholders argue that data on the gendered impacts of climate policies and climate change is missing, the actual issue is the lack of prioritisation and utilisation of existing sex-disaggregated data. In continuation of this, the review observes limited knowledge and an under-prioritisation of gender mainstreaming in domestic climate policies, especially in Denmark and Norway. Notably, Norway's Ministry of Climate and Environment acknowledges the need for enhanced insights into how gender equality is relevant to domestic climate policy. On a cross-Nordic level, the Nordic Council of Ministers has facilitated a range of events, talks, publications, and, recently, an online knowledge hub, disseminating knowledge about the interlinkages between gender equality and green transition, including estimated gendered impacts of climate policies in a Nordic context.

^{378.}UNFCCC (2020). Enhanced Lima work programme on gender and its gender action plan. Decision 3/CP.25.
379.Nordic Council of Ministers (2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice

In Priority area B, focusing on gender balance, participation, and women's leadership, the review shows that in terms of equal representation, all five countries have reached formal gender equality within the ratio of 40:60 in international delegations, highlighting the Nordic countries' adoption of proactive measures as policies or gender quotas, with Norway pioneering with gender quota legislation and Iceland, and recently also Denmark, following its example. Furthermore, in the Nordic countries measures to involve Indigenous Peoples, the Sámi, in climate policymaking have been taken, especially in Finland, which has appointed a Sámi Climate Change Council. All Nordic countries are actively addressing the gender imbalance in the STEM field; however, challenges remain, with women holding less than one-third of the green jobs in the Nordic countries on average. Another aspect of the challenge with equal representation is the current technological framing of climate policies- and action, neglecting essential non-STEM perspectives, e.g. on the social sector and unpaid domestic work. This points to the need for broader engagement and inclusion in climate policy work, acknowledging and involving contributions beyond the STEM fields.

In terms of ensuring **coherence**, legislative framework, and institutional mechanisms as part of Priority area C, all five countries have legislative frameworks and policies promoting and enhancing gender equality through gender mainstreaming. However, the review shows significant national differences in terms of institutional mechanisms ensuring collaboration and support across ministries, departments, and other relevant public authorities in relation to gender mainstreaming of climate policies. While all countries have at least one central entity coordinating and supporting gender equality efforts, Finland, Iceland, and Sweden demonstrate strong coherence in their gender mainstreaming efforts, having established collaborative measures across ministries and institutions, such as inter-departmental working groups, and coordinators and/or experts with responsibilities of supporting gender mainstreaming within the respective ministry or agency. Aside from such coordinating measures supporting gender mainstreaming, legislative framework mandating for instance gender budgeting (IS) or gender relevance testing of all proposed bills to decide if a gender impact assessment should be conducted (DK), furthermore facilitate gender mainstreaming and by that aids the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. Furthermore, aligning with the UNFCCC GAP, all the Nordic countries have implemented the role of the UNFCCC National Gender and Climate Change Focal Point, which is placed in the respective ministries or governmental agencies promoting, supporting, or coordinating environment- and/or climate policies domestically or internationally. Nonetheless, the review identifies an overall need to allocate resources, financially and human, for tasks dedicated to driving the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. A notable gap in the Nordic implementation of the UNFCCC GAP is also the general absence of dedicated national strategies or plans for implementing the specific activities of the GAP priority areas. As the only country, Sweden has translated the UNFCCC GAP into a Swedish context and

formulated a draft strategy for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement. Finland has however highlighted climate change as one priority area in the Government's Gender Action Plan, and the Icelandic government similarly addressed gender mainstreaming in climate policy explicitly in its Proposal for Parliament Resolution on the recent Gender Equality Action Programme for the period of 2020-2023.

Priority Area D focuses on the **gender-responsive implementation** of climate policies, and means of implementation such as GIAs, gender budgeting- and analyses, and involvement of experts. Sweden, Iceland, and Finland demonstrate relatively proactive approaches in terms of involving gender experts in climate policymaking, with systematic efforts to facilitate collaboration between intergovernmental gender equality departments and climate-relevant ministries, alongside consulting non-governmental gender experts. The climate-relevant ministries of Finland, Iceland, and Sweden have involved gender experts in processes of policy making, e.g. through open consultations, round tables, collaborations, and lectures, respectively. For instance, the Icelandic government has strong collaboration with academia in integrating gender equality in climate policy, and Finland exemplifies proactive and diverse stakeholder consultation in climate policy. However, across the Nordic region proactive engagement of relevant experts could be improved to ensure inclusiveness and effectiveness of gender mainstreaming in climate policies.

Gender-responsive strategies in climate policy varies significantly among Nordic countries, reflecting a spectrum of commitment and implementation levels. In **Denmark** only one out of 63 legislative bills proposed by the Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities being considered relevant to gender equality, and therefore subject to a gender impact assessment. Denmark's national Climate Action Plan (2020) has undergone a relevance testing to evaluate the need for a gender impact assessment, but this was considered irrelevant. The plan focuses on social balance without integrating gender aspects, and thus come across as gender blind. However, Denmark's Long-term Low-emission Strategy (2020), submitted to the UNFCCC, takes a more gender-responsive stance by linking climate adaptation to gender equality. Finland demonstrates a stronger commitment to the strategy of gender mainstreaming, with gender budgeting across ministries, gender impact assessments of both its Climate Action Plan (2017) and Climate and Energy Strategy (2021). By that Finland leaves the impression of prioritising genderresponsiveness in climate policies. However, Finland's Long-term Low-emission Strategy (2020) lacks a specific focus on gender. Iceland mandates gender budgeting across the government offices and has conducted gender impact assessments in 2017 and 2022 on its previous and current Climate Action Plans (2014 and 2020) as well as other climate policies. Like Finland, Iceland's Long-term Low-emission Strategy (2021), however lacks specific expressions of gender aspects, though referring to the planned impact assessment of the national climate action plan. All the Nordic countries except Norway mentions gender

equality to various extents in their recent Biennial Reports (UNFCCC submissions). Norway demonstrates a more limited approach in gender mainstreaming in climate policies, with no concrete examples of gender impact assessments and lacking or limited gender responsiveness, in especially domestic climate policies. Norway does, however, refer to SDG5 in its Climate Action Plan and a white paper on energy, focusing on the transition of the Norwegian oil workforce. Sweden stands out for its explicit commitment to integrating gender equality into climate policy and action, with its draft strategy on gender mainstreaming of climate policy (2021) supplementing the Climate Action Plan from 2019. A gender analysis was conducted in the preparation of the recent Climate Action Plan (2023) and the Long-term Low-emission strategy (2020) is reviewed as gender-responsive. Sweden's Integrated Energy and Climate Plan (2020) is gender-responsive and dedicates a section to gender mainstreaming. However, the document has been subject of academic research and is critiqued for portraying women in a somewhat vulnerable and traditional role without addressing power imbalances or proposing corrective measures. This critique highlights a need for more transformative policies that challenge gender norms and structures, while at the same time reflecting gender mainstreaming as a norm in Sweden, as it is not the relevance or importance of gender mainstreaming in climate policy which is discussed, but the level and quality of results, i.e. how gender-responsiveness it is, which is being evaluated and critiqued.

Assessing Priority area E, on mechanisms for **monitoring and reporting** on gender mainstreaming within climate-related initiatives, shows national processes for monitoring gender mainstreaming in general, but not for the UNFCCC GAP particularly. However, as part of the UNFCCC reporting mechanism, the Parties must report on the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP in spring 2024. The review recommends enhancing effective mechanisms of monitoring and reporting on the systematic gender mainstreaming in the national implementation of the Paris Agreement.

The current review reveals important strides made in the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. Especially Finland, Iceland, and Sweden demonstrate structured and comprehensive approaches to gender mainstreaming in both domestic and international climate policy, reflecting a more advanced stage of UNFCCC GAP implementation. These countries' practices offer valuable insights and models for reaching gender-responsive climate policy. The review, however, also identifies remaining challenges across the Nordic region. In Denmark and Norway, the reviewers observe space for improvement in gender mainstreaming in especially domestic climate policy.

By prioritising capacity building, the utilisation of existing sex-disaggregated data, and enhancing coherence in relevant policy frameworks, the Nordic countries can improve their implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. Promoting gender equality as a fundamental aspect of a just green transition, rather than an auxiliary concern, will further solidify the Nordic countries' role as pioneers in gender equality, and in reaching the Nordic 2030-vision of being the most sustainable region in the world. Strengthening the efforts to more systematically implementing the UNFCCC GAP will also set a global precedent for integrated and inclusive environmental governance, driving forward the dual goals of gender equality and climate mitigation, adaptation, and resilience, in accordance with both the Paris Agreement, the Sustainable Development Goals and UNFCCC GAP.

8. Recommendations

The following recommendations are aimed at advancing the development and implementation of gender-responsive climate policy in the Nordic countries. The recommendations are divided into the target levels of the Nordic cooperation, national governments, and municipal and local government, respectively.

8.1 The Nordic Co-operation

- **Develop indicators and targets** aligned with UNFCCC Gender Action Plan for each of the focus areas outlined in the Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice and follow up by regularly evaluating the implementation process in the Nordic region.
- Establish a mechanism for regular collection of resources and best practices from Nordic countries, for instance every two years, demonstrating or supporting the implementation of the UNFCCC GAP. Translate existing relevant guides, tools, and other resources presented in this review from local languages to other Nordic languages and/or English for broader accessibility. These resources may be made available on the recently launched Knowledge Hub on Gender Equality and Green Transition, which, moreover, should be broadly promoted among stakeholders and policymakers at all levels across the Nordic countries.
- Facilitate high-level cross-Nordic events, conferences, roundtables etc. with relevant Nordic ministers within both climate- and gender equality agendas to bring attention to the commitment and relevance of gender mainstreaming in climate policy- and action, and to discuss the Nordic experiences, efforts, challenges, and best practices in implementing the UNFCCC GAP.
- Commission projects aimed at
 - **collecting and analysing Nordic case examples** demonstrating how gender mainstreaming efforts within the green transition supports the efficiency in reaching climate goals, and develop a case catalogue that showcases "the business case" on gender mainstreaming in climate policy through data and inspiring examples.
 - **investigating and documenting the consequences of climate change and resilience** from an intersectional gender perspective within the Nordic region.

• Integrate gender equality considerations into the application process for commissioned projects within the field of climate policy and green transition by setting up requirements for gender-responsive initiatives related to e.g. project team, project activities or objectives, as well as impact assessments and evaluations.

8.2 National governmental level

- **Develop national strategies for implementing the UNFCCC GAP**, i.e. for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement, including the translation and formulation of activities, targets, and indicators within each of the five priority areas of the GAP. The strategy should include:
 - Clear allocation of responsibilities and resources for implementation
 - Guidelines to integrate gender equality into climate policy documents, such as individual sections in UNFCCC submissions and National Climate Action Plans. This involves systematically specifying how gender equality is embedded in the concept of 'just transition' in both a domestic and international climate policy context.
 - Activities aimed at fostering more gender balance within STEM education and professions.
 - Measures to enhance accountability, transparency, and monitoring of gender mainstreaming in climate policy.
- Establish inter-ministerial working groups and appoint coordinators with high-level support and allocated resources (time and budget) for their work of gender mainstreaming in climate policy, specifically implementing the UNFCCC GAP in a national context, i.e., in both domestic and international climate policy contexts.
- Ensure systematic and inclusive involvement and collaboration with external gender experts, including both inter-governmental- and non-governmental experts such as the Gender Equality Department and NGO's, researchers, etc. in all phases of implementing the UNFCCC GAP, from knowledge building, to conducting analyses and assessments, to monitoring.
- Facilitate knowledge sharing events, e.g. conferences, to engage relevant stakeholders, including those who can share knowledge and best practices, such as researchers, organisations, or regional, municipal, or other Nordic policymakers. Topics could include the relevance of integrating gender equality into domestic climate policy through concrete measures taken in Iceland, Sweden, or Finland.

The recommendations presented in the next section targeted regional and local levels, is largely also relevant and important to consider at a national governance level.

8.3 Regional and local levels

- Allocate time and resources to gather and utilise existing data in gender analysis and/or gender impact assessments within specific, delineated areas of climate policy, such as for instance infrastructural planning, to identify gender-specific concerns or impacts. To know more about gender analyses, see chapter 3.1 and 4.1.5.
- Integrate gender equality indicators and targets into existing frameworks and networks focused on regional and municipal commitments and reporting on implementing the Paris Agreement and Agenda 2030. Examples include Viable Cities (NO), DK2020 (DK), Nordic Transition Partnership for Climate Neutral Cities 2030 (NTP), C40 (global) or the Smart City program.
- Enhance knowledge sharing across regions and municipalities within and across the Nordic countries, for instance through networks like those mentioned above.
- **Provide training programmes, courses and/or workshops for staff** to enhance their level of knowledge and competences in gender mainstreaming the green transition on regional and/or municipal level.

9. List of references

Altinget

(2020), Kvinfo: The Climate Crisis Reveals the Unpleasant Truth About Our Habits. [*Kvinfo: Klimakrisen afslører den ubehagelige sandhed om vores vaner*] <u>https://www.altinget.dk/udvikling/artikel/kvinfo-klimakrisen-</u> <u>afsloerer-konsekvenserne-af-manglende-ligestilling</u>

(2020), Kvinfo: We Must Discuss Gender and Equality When Addressing the Climate Crisis. *[Kvinfo: Vi skal tale køn og ligestilling, når vi taler om klimakrise]* <u>https://www.altinget.dk/udvikling/artikel/kvinfo-</u> <u>klimaindsatsen-skal-favne-bredere</u>

Arora-Jonsson, S. & Wahlström, N. (2022). 'Unraveling the production of ignorance in climate policymaking: The imperative of a decolonial feminist intervention for transformation.' *Elsevier*. Department of Urban and Rural Development, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences: Uppsala Sweden.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1462901123002137

Association of Finnish Municipalities [Kuntaliitto] (n.d.). Gender equality and equality. *[Tasa-arvo ja yhdenvertaisuus]*. <u>https://www.kuntaliitto.fi/kunnat-sukupuolten-tasa-arvon-ja-yhdenvertaisuuden-edistajina</u>

Cedergren, E., Tapia, C., Sánches Gassen, N., Lundgren, A. (2022). 'Just Green Transition – key concepts and implications in the Nordic Region'. <u>https://pub.nordregio.org/wp-2022-2-just-green-transition-key-concepts-and-implications-in-the-nordics/#</u>

Centre for Research on Gender Equality (CORE). Our Research. <u>https://www.samfunnsforskning.no/core/english/</u>

Christensen, H. R., & Hvidt Breengaard, M. (2011). 'Mainstreaming gender, diversity and citizenship: Concepts and methodologies.' (1. oplag.). Number 4. Koordination for Kønsforskning Copenhagen University.

<u>https://koensforskning.soc.ku.dk/projekter/afsluttede-</u> <u>projekter/femcit/Mainstreaming Gender Diversity and Citizenship Concepts an</u> <u>d Methodologies.pdf</u>

Concord Sweden (n.d.) About us. <u>https://concord.se</u>

Council of Europe (n.d.), Council of Europe standards and institutional setting. <u>https://www.coe.int/en/web/genderequality/council-of-europe-standards-and-institutional-setting</u> Council of Europe, Equality Division, Directorate General of Human Rights (2004). Gender mainstreaming – Conceptual framework, methodology, and presentation of good practices.

https://rm.coe.int/CoERMPublicCommonSearchServices/DisplayDCTMContent? documentId=0900001680595887

County Administrative Board of Gotland (n.d.) Gender Equality [Jämställdhet]. <u>https://www.lansstyrelsen.se/gotland/om-oss/other-</u> languages/english/society/social-sustainability/gender-equality.html

County Administrative Board of Kalmar County [Länsstyrelsen Kalmar län] (n.d.). Basic education Gender mainstreaming [Basutbildning Jämställdhetsintegrering]. https://www.lansstyrelsen.se/kalmar/samhalle/socialhallbarhet/jamstalldhet/basutbildning-jamstalldhetsintegrering.html

Danbolt, I. (2023) Bridging the Green Jobs Divide: Nordic gender barriers and opportunities in the spotlight. <u>https://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?</u> <u>pid=diva2%3A1807475&dswid=4688</u>

Danish Business Authority [*Erhvervsstyrelsen*] (2022). Target figures and policy for the gender composition of management and for reporting on this. [*Måltal og politik for den kønsmæssige sammensætning af ledelsen og for rapportering herom*] <u>https://erhvervsstyrelsen.dk/vejledning-maltal-og-politikker-den-konsmaessige-</u> <u>sammensaetning-af-ledelsen-og-afrapportering-herom</u>

Danish Employers' Association, the Main Organization of the Trade Unions, the National Association of Municipalities, Danish Regions, & the Danish Agency for Employment and Skills (2023). A better gender balance through cultural change [En bedre kønsbalance gennem kulturforandring]

<u>https://www.kl.dk/media/w0bpurwf/en-bedre-koensbalance-gennem-</u> <u>kulturforandring.pdf</u>

Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities

(2000). Notice of the Climate Act. https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/lta/2021/2580

(2020). Climate Programme 2020, Denmark's Mid-century, Long-term Low Greenhouse Gas Emission Development Strategy. <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ClimateProgramme2020-Denmarks-LTS-under-the%20ParisAgreement December2020 .pdf</u>

(2020). Climate Action plan 2020. https://kefm.dk/Media/F/5/Klimahandlingsplan%202020a.pdf

Danish Ministry of Digital Government and Gender equality

(2000). Act on the equality of women and men. https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/lta/2000/388 (2023) Notification to the Danish Parliament's Gender Equality Committee regarding the gender equality assessment of legislative proposal 2022/23. [Orientering til Folketingets Ligestillingsudvalg om ligestillingsvurdering af lovforslag 2022/23]. <u>https://digmin.dk/Media/638233712956330350/Ligestillingsvurderinger%2</u> <u>Oi%20lovprogrammet%202022-23%20(PDF).pdf</u>

(2023). Gender balance in management—Joint public catalogue of inspiration to promote an equal gender composition among senior management levels. *[Kønsbalance i ledelse].* <u>https://digmin.dk/Media/638386731319094801/Bilag%202.%20Inspiration</u> <u>skatalog_Kønsbalance%20i%20Iedelse.pdf</u>

(2023). Review of Equality. *[Ligestillingsredegørelser]* https://www.ligestillingidanmark.dk/lidk/ligestillingsredegoerelser

(2023). Equality in the state. *[Ligestilling i staten]* <u>https://www.ligestillingidanmark.dk/lidk/ligestilling-i-staten</u>

(2023). Equality in the regions. *[Ligestilling i regionerne]* <u>https://www.ligestillingidanmark.dk/lidk/ligestilling-i-regionerne</u>

(2023). Equality in the municipalities. *[Ligestilling I kommunerne]*. <u>https://www.ligestillingidanmark.dk/lidk/ligestilling-i-kommunerne</u>

Danish Ministry of Equality and the Church (2013). Strategy for equality assessment in the public sector. *[Strategi for ligestillingsvurdering i det offentlige*] <u>https://www.ft.dk/samling/20121/almdel/liu/bilag/48/1217239.pdf</u>

Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national review report Beijing+25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995). <u>https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Section</u> <u>s/CSW/64/National-reviews/Denmark.pdf</u>

Danish Parliament

(2023) Committee on Equality. Review/ perspective and action plan for equality 2023.

https://www.ft.dk/samling/20222/almdel/liu/bilag/24/2668164.pdf

(2022). L 8 Proposal for legislation on a law amendment of the Gas Supply Act, the Energinet Act, and the Electricity Supply Act. [L 8 Forslag til lov om ændring af lov om gasforsyning, lov om Energinet og lov om elforsyning]. <u>https://www.ft.dk/samling/20222/lovforslag/L8/index.htm</u> Danish Prime Minister's Office (2023). Overview of subject areas taken charge of by Greenland's home rule (I and II) respectively Greenland Self-Government (III). [Oversigt over sagsområder, der er overtaget af Grønlands hjemmestyre (I og II) henholdsvis Grønlands Selvstyre (III)]. <u>https://www.stm.dk/media/12119/groversigt-over-sagsomraader.pdf</u>

Directorate of Equality Iceland [Jafnréttisstofa]

(2020). Report of the Office for Equality on committees, councils and boards organized by the ministries in 2018-2019. [Skýrsla jafnréttisstofu um nefndir, ráð og stjórnir á vegum ráðuneytanna árin 2018-2019]. <u>https://www.jafnretti.is/static/files/Skyrslur/skyrsla-jafnrettisstofu-umnefndir-rad-og-stjornir-2018-2019.pdf</u>

(2021). Equality Plans Guidelines for companies and institutions. <u>https://www.jafnretti.is/static/files/English_gogn_a_ensku_sidu/-lok-</u> <u>equality-plans-guidelines-.pdf</u>

(n.d.). Equality in municipalities. [*Jafnrétti í sveitarfélögum*] <u>https://www.jafnretti.is/is/samfelag-og-</u> <u>vinnumarkadur/sveitastjornarmal/jafnretti-i-sveitarfelogum-1</u>

Eggebø, H., Lundberg, Aa. K. & Teigen, M. (2023). 'Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North'. Social Politics, 30(1), 164–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sp/jxac032</u>

Elamson, S. & Barnholt Klepper, K. (2021). Gender equality in the Nordic energy sector. Nordic Energy Research (NER).

https://www.nordicenergy.org/publications/gender-equality-in-the-nordic-energysector/

eOppiva, Ministry of Social Affairs and Health and Institute of Health and Welfare (2020), Gender equality and equality – Why and How? *[Sukupuolten tasa-arvo ja yhdenvertaisuus – Miksi ja Miten?]*

<u>https://www.eoppiva.fi/koulutukset/sukupuolten-tasa-arvo-ja-yhdenvertaisuus-</u> <u>miksi-ja-miten/</u>

European Charter for Equality (n.d.). Manual on Gender Equality for Finnish municipalities. <u>https://charter-equality.eu/exemple-de-bonnes-pratiques/manuel-on-gender-equality-for-finnish-municipalities.html</u>

European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE)

(2017). Environment and climate change. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-</u> mainstreaming/policy-areas/environment-and-climate-change? <u>language content entity=en</u>

(2016). Gender in Environment and Climate Change. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/publications-resources/publications/gender-</u> <u>environment-and-climate-change</u> (2019), Gender Analysis, <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-</u> mainstreaming/tools-methods/gender-analysis

(2022). Gender Equality in Academia and Research - GEAR tool. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/toolkits/gear/what-gender-</u> <u>equality-plan-gep?language_content_entity=en</u>

(2022). Gender-responsive evaluation for an environmental and sustainable future for all (GREENA). <u>https://eige.europa.eu/about/projects/gender-responsive-evaluation-</u> <u>environmental-and-sustainable-future-all-greena?</u> <u>language_content_entity=en</u>

(2022). Sweden - Legislative and policy framework. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/countries/sweden?</u> <u>language_content_entity=en</u>

(2023). Collection of good practices on Gender Mainstreaming in the European Green Deal. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/about/projects/collection-</u> <u>good-practices-gender-mainstreaming-european-green-deal?</u> <u>language content entity=en</u>

(2023). The pathway to progress: strengthening effective structures for gender equality and gender mainstreaming in the EU. <u>https://eige.europa.eu/publications-resources/publications/pathway-</u> <u>progress-strengthening-effective-structures-gender-equality-and-gender-</u> <u>mainstreaming-eu?language_content_entity=en</u>

(n.d.). Gender mainstreaming, <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-</u> mainstreaming?language content entity=en

(n.d.), Gender Mainstreaming Cycle, <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-</u> mainstreaming/policy-cycle?language_content_entity=en

(n.d.), Policy areas, <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/policy-areas</u>

Expert Group for Aid Studies. *[Expertgruppen för biståndsanalys (EBA)]* (2023). More Than a Label, Less Than a Revolution: Sweden's Feminist Foreign Policy. <u>https://eba.se/rapporter/more-than-a-label-less-than-a-revolution-swedens-feminist-foreign-policy/20624/</u>

Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare [Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos]

(2023). Functional equality and equality plans have been drawn up in more and more municipalities - however, they are still missing in several municipalities. [Yhä useammassa kunnassa on tehty toiminnalliset yhdenvertaisuus- ja tasa-arvosuunnitelmat useasta kunnasta ne kuitenkin vielä puuttuvat]. <u>https://thl.fi/-/yha-useammassa-kunnassa-on-tehty-toiminnalliset-yhdenvertaisuus-ja-tasa-arvosuunnitelmat-useasta-kunnasta-ne-kuitenkin-viela-puuttuvat</u>

(n.d.). Assessment of gender effects. [Sukupuolivaikutusten arviointi]. <u>https://thl.fi/aiheet/sukupuolten-tasa-arvo/tasa-arvon-</u> <u>edistaminen/sukupuolivaikutusten-arviointi</u>

(n.d.). Equality checklist for authorities. [Tasa-arvon tarkistuslista viranomaiselle]. <u>https://thl.fi/aiheet/sukupuolten-tasa-arvo/tasa-arvon-edistaminen/tarkistuslista-viranomaiselle</u>

(n.d.). Equality planning. [Tasa-arvosuunnittelu]. <u>https://thl.fi/aiheet/sukupuolten-tasa-arvo/tasa-arvon-edistaminen/tasa-arvosuunnittelu</u>.

Finnish Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment

(2022), Carbon Neutral Finland 2035 – National Climate and Energy Strategy.

https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/164321/TEM_2 022_53.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

(2021), Gender Impact Assessment of the Finnish Climate and Energy Strategy.

https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/163440/TEM_2 021_52.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

(2020). Finland's long-term low greenhouse gas emission development strategy.

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/LTS Finland Oct2020.pdf

Finnish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2019). Comprehensive national-level review: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).

https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Section s/CSW/64/National-reviews/Finland.pdf

Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health

(2013). Gender Glasses in Use–A handbook to support gender equality work at Finnish ministries.

<u>https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/74721/rep_me</u> mo201312_genderglasses.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

(2016). The Finnish Act on Equality between Women and Men 2025. https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/75131/Act on %20Equality between women and men 2015 FINAL.pdf?sequence=1 (2017) Father, take some Daddy time! <u>https://stm.fi/en/-/isa-kayta-perhevapaita-ota-isaaikaa-#</u>

(2021). Making Finland a global leader in gender equality. Government action plan for gender equality 2020–2023.

https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/162844/STM_2 021_10_J.pdf?

sequence=1&isAllowed=y#:~:text=The%20Action%20Plan%20for%20Gen
der%20Equality%20contains%20about%2050%20measures,gender%20e
quality%20within%20the%20European

(n.d.). Gender mainstreaming. <u>https://stm.fi/en/gender-equality/mainstreaming</u>

Finnish Ministry of the Environment

(2023). Government appointed Sámi Climate Council. [Statsrådet har tillsatt det samiska klimatrådet]. <u>https://valtioneuvosto.fi/sv/-/1410903/statsradet-har-tillsatt-det-</u>

<u>samiska-klimatradet?languageId=en_US</u>

(2017). Government Report on Medium-term Climate Change Policy Plan for 2030 Towards Climate-Smart Day-to-Day Living. <u>https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/bitstream/handle/10024/80769/YMre 2</u> <u>1en_2017.pdf?se-</u>

Finnish Ombudsman for Equality

(2013). The Directive on Gender Quota for Boards of Listed Companies (TAS 59/2013, issued on February 15, 2013). *[Listayhtiöiden hallitusten sukupuolikiintiö -direktiivi (TAS 59/2013, annettu 15.2.2013)]* <u>https://tasa-arvo.fi/-/listayhtioiden-hallitusten-sukupuolikiintio-direktiivi-tas-59-2013-annettu-15-2-2013-</u>)

(2023). Ombudsman for Equality [Tasa-arvovaltuutettu]. <u>https://tasa-arvo.fi/en/front-page</u>

Gender Climate Tracker (n.d.). Women's participation party delegations. <u>https://genderclimatetracker.org/womens-participation-party-delegations</u>

Government Offices of Sweden

(2015). Gender Mainstreaming Manual, Gender Equality in Public Services. https://www.government.se/legal-documents/2007/04/sou-200715/

(2019). A unified policy for the climate - climate policy action plan. [En samlad politik för klimatet – klimatpolitisk handlingsplan]. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/rattsliga-</u> <u>dokument/proposition/2019/12/prop.-20192065</u> (2021) Participant in the development program GMGA 2020-2025. [Deltagare i utvecklingsprogrammet JiM 2020-2025] <u>https://www.regeringen.se/regeringens-politik/jamstalldhet/deltagare-i-jim/</u>

(2021). Gender mainstreaming in the government offices of Sweden 2021-2025. [Jämställdhetsintegrering i Regeringskansliet 2021–2025]. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/regeringsuppdrag/2021/08/jamstalldhetsinteg</u> <u>rering-i-regeringskansliet-20212025/</u>

(2023) The government's climate action plan – all the way to net zero. [Regeringens klimathandlingsplan – hela vägen till nettonoll]. <u>https://www.regeringen.se/contentassets/990c26a040184c46acc66f89af3</u> <u>4437f/232405900webb.pdf</u>

(n.d.). BUDGe for Gender Equality – a Swedish tool for gender budgeting. https://www.government.se/contentassets/5f2e26dd77084ac08f6dc721ac d81c37/budge-for-gender--equality/

Government Offices of Sweden (n.d.) Gender equality policy in Sweden – a Government for Gender Equality.

https://www.government.se/contentassets/efcc5a15ef154522a872d8e46ad69148/g ender-equality-policy-in-sweden-240229.pdf

Government Offices of Sweden, Ministry of Employment, Division for Gender Equality (2019). *Sweden's report on Beijing +25*.

https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments/Section s/CSW/64/National-reviews/Sweden.pdf

Hallgrímsdóttir, B. (2022), A just and fair transition to carbon neutrality Gender equality aspects in environmental and climate issues, Student Innovation Fund [Nýsköpunarsjóður námsmanna]. <u>https://reykjavik.is/sites/default/files/2023-03/A-just-and-fair-transition-to-carbon-neutrality_Brynhildur-Hallgrimsdottir_2022.pdf</u>

Hultman, M., Anshelm, J., & Kall, A. S. (2021). To ask the question - to dare change: Birgitta Hambraeus and Birgitta Dahl in Swedish energy and environmental policy 1971-1991 [Att ställa frågan-att våga omställning: Birgitta Hambraeus och Birgitta Dahl i den svenska energi-och miljöpolitiken 1971-1991]. Lund: Arkiv förlag. <u>https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1590209&dswid=4383</u>

Iceland School of Energy, Reykjavik University

(2023). Iceland's Women's Strike: Empowering Energy Equality. <u>https://en.ru.is/ise/about/news-</u>and-events/iceland_s-women_s-strikeempowering-energy-equality

(n.d.). Scholarships. <u>https://en.ru.is/ise/why-ise/scholarships/#tab1</u>

Icelandic Government

(2015). Act No. 123/2015. <u>https://www.government.is/library/01-</u> <u>Ministries/Ministry-of-Finance/Public%20finance%20act.pdf</u>

(2019). Act on Equal Treatment on the Labour Market, No. 86/2018. <u>https://www.government.is/publications/legislation/lex/2019/07/03/Act-on-Equal-Treatment-on-the-Labour-Market-No.-86-2018/</u>

(2019). Iceland's report on Beijing +25: Twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995).

https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/Headquarters/Attachments /Sections/CSW/64/National-reviews/Iceland.pdf

(2019). The Gender Equality Action Plan 2020-2023

(2020). Act No 85 of 25 June 2018 on Equal Treatment irrespective of Race and Ethnic Origin.

https://www.government.is/publications/legislation/lex/2020/08/07/Act-No-85-of-25-June-2018-on-Equal-Treatment-irrespective-of-Race-and-Ethnic-Origin/

(2021). Act on Equal Status and Equal Rights Irrespective of Gender. <u>https://www.government.is/publications/legislation/lex/2021/04/16/Act-on-Equal-Status-and-Equal-Rights-Irrespective-of-Gender/</u>

(2021). Act on the Administration of Matters Concerning Equality No. 151/2020.

https://www.government.is/publications/legislation/lex/2021/04/16/Acton-the-Administration-of-Matters-Concerning-Equality/

(2021). The Government Offices Gender Equality Plan. <u>https://www.government.is/topics/human-rights-and-</u> <u>equality/equality/the-government-offices-gender-equality-plan/</u>

(2022). Mapping gender perspective Status Report 2022 https://www.stjornarradid.is/library/02-Rit--skyrslur-ogskrar/ Kortlagning kynjasjonarmida vefur.pdf

(n.d.). Analytical framework for equality assessment. <u>https://www.stjornarradid.is/verkefni/efnahagsmal-og-opinber-</u> <u>fjarmal/kynjud-fjarlagagerd/greiningarrammi-fyrir-jafnrettismat/</u>

(n.d.). Gender budgeting - How? https://www.government.is/topics/economic-affairs-and-publicfinances/gender-budgeting/gender-budgeting-how/ (n.d.). Implementation of gender budgeting. <u>https://www.government.is/topics/economic-affairs-and-public-finances/gender-budgeting/gender-budgeting-how/</u>

Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources

(2014). Climate issues and their gender implications. <u>https://www.stjornarradid.is/media/fjarmalaraduneyti-</u> <u>media/media/rit2014/UAR-Lokaskyrsla-2014.pdf</u>

(2020). Iceland's 2020 Climate Action Plan. <u>https://www.government.is/library/01-Ministries/Ministry-for-The-</u> <u>Environment/201004%20Umhverfisraduneytid%20Adgerdaaaetlun%20E</u> <u>N%20V2.pdf</u>

(2021). On the Path to Climate Neutrality - Iceland's Long-Term Low Emission Development Strategy. <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/Iceland_LTS1_2021.pdf</u>

Icelandic Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs

(2019). Five-year plan for gender budgeting 2019-2023 [Fimm ára áætlun um kynjaða fjárlagagerð 2019-2023] <u>https://www.stjornarradid.is/library/02-Rit--skyrslur-og-</u> <u>skrar/FJR fimm ara aætlun 8.3 .pdf</u>

Icelandic Prime Minister's Office

(2019). Proposal for Parliamentary Resolution on a Gender Equality Action Programme for the period of 2020–2023. <u>https://www.government.is/library/01-Ministries/Prime-Ministrers-</u> <u>Office/Gender%20Equality%20Action%20Programme%20for%20the%2</u> <u>Operiod%20of%20202023.pdf</u>

(2019). Act on Gender Autonomy No 80 /2019 as amended by Act No. 159/2019, No. 152/2020 and No. 154/2020. <u>https://www.government.is/library/04-</u> <u>Legislation/Act%20on%20Gender%20Autonomy%20No%2080_2019.pdf</u>

Inka Consult (2023), Climate Finance and Gender: Lessons from Nordic efforts to integrate gender equality in Climate-related development finance. <u>https://actalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/Gender-and-climate-finance-ACT-INKA-report-03.12.23.pdf</u>

International Labour Organization (ILO). (2016) What is a green job? <u>https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/green-jobs/news/WCMS_220248/lang--</u><u>en/index.htm</u> Kilden (2016). The secret behind Norway's gender quota success. <u>https://kjonnsforskning.no/en/2016/10/secret-behind-norways-gender-quota-success</u>

Kristeligt Dagblad (2021), KVINFO's Director: There Is a Connection Between Gender and the Climate Struggle *[Kvinfos direktør: der er en sammenhæng mellem køn og klimakampen]*. <u>https://www.kristeligt-dagblad.dk/liv-og-sjael/kvinfos-</u> <u>direktoer-der-er-en-sammenhaeng-mellem-koen-og-klimakampen</u>

KVINFO

(2022), "Climate change affects globally, but it does not affect equally" [Klimaforandringerne rammer globalt, men de rammer ikke lige]. Instagram. 8th of June, 2022. <u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CejPlaXs5Bm/</u>

(2022), Historic Agreement on Gender Equality in Climate Policy Sets an Ambitious Course – Also for Denmark [Historisk FN-aftale om ligestilling i klimapolitik sætter en ambitiøs kurs – også for Danmark]. <u>https://kvinfo.dk/2022/04/21/historisk-fn-aftale-om-ligestilling-i-klimapolitik/</u>

(2022), "It is estimated that 9 million people worldwide die each year as a result of pollution". [Det estimeres at 9 millioner mennesker på verdensplan dør hvert år som følge af forurening]. Instagram. 15th of July, 2022. <u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CgCZz_0o1H/</u>

(2022), "The more women, the greater the consumption of renewable energy". [Jo flere kvinder, jo større forbrug af vedvarende energi]. Instagram. 18th of July, 2022. <u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CgKJODVOwav/</u>

(2022), "The population is committed to the green transition, but the tasks are distributed unevenly when it comes to gender." [Befolkningen er engagerede i den grønne omstilling, men arbejdsopgaverne er skævt fordelt]. Instagram. 11th of July, 2022. https://www.instagram.com/p/Cf4F8Euuuky/

(2023). Equality assessment of legislative proposal. [Ligestillingsvurdering af lovforslag: analysenotat] <u>https://kvinfo.dk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2023/02/Ligestillingsvurdering-af-</u> <u>lovforslag_KVINFO_Februar-2023.pdf</u>

(2023), "Remember equality in the climate negotiations". [Husk ligestilling i klimaforhandlingerne] Instagram. 12th of September, 2023. <u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CxGAsapNODB/?img_index=1</u> (2023), "More equal representation of men and women in decision-making will contribute positively to the green transition". [Mere ligelig repræsentation af mænd og kvinder i beslutninger vil kunne bidrage positivt til den grønne omstilling]. Instagram. 13th of September, 2023. <u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CxInSxEsf24/?img_index=1</u>

(2023), "How do we get more girls and women into green jobs? And is it even important?" [Hvordan får vi flere piger og kvinder i grønne jobs?] Instagram. 14th of September, 2023. <u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CxLlkT1sde5/?img_index=1</u>

(2023), "How can politicians think equality into the green transition?" [Hvordan kan politikerne tænke ligestilling ind i den grønne omstilling?] Instagram. 15th of September,

2023.<u>https://www.instagram.com/p/CxNCceMtzQK/?img_index=1</u>

(2023) Note: Gender equality and the green transition in Denmark. [Note: ligestilling og grøn omstilling i Danmark]. <u>https://kvinfo.dk/wpcontent/uploads/2023/09/Ligestilling-og-groen-omstilling_KVINFO-</u> <u>August-2023.pdf</u>

(n.d.) Climate and Gender. <u>https://kvinfo.dk/klima-og-koen/</u>

Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., Fischer-Bogason, R., Factor, G., Winther Engelsbak, L. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in a Nordic context. Nordic Council of Ministers. <u>https://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?</u> <u>pid=diva2%3A1631634&dswid=3711</u>

Law data [Lovdata] (2022). Chapter 4. Active equality efforts. https://lovdata.no/dokument/NLE/lov/2017-06-16-51/KAPITTEL 4#KAPITTEL 4

Magnusdottir, Gunnhildur Lily, and Annica Kronsell (2021) Gender, Intersectionality and Climate Institutions in Industrialised States (Edition 1). 1st ed. Vol. 1. Routledge

Måwe, I. (2019). *Equal pay in the Nordic countries – the law and policy strategies.* Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK). <u>https://nikk.no/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/NIKK Equal Pay in the Nordic Countries.pdf</u>

Nordic Council of Ministers

(2015). Equality assessment in the work of state authorities – Results and recommendations from a cross-Nordic survey.<u>http://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:808179/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>

(2019). Our vision 2030. <u>https://www.norden.org/da/declaration/vores-vision-2030</u>

(2020), Nordic Council of Ministers policy for mainstreaming sustainable development, gender equality, and a child rights and youth perspective, <u>https://pub.norden.org/politiknord2020-719/politiknord2020-719.pdf</u>

(2020), The Nordic road towards Beijing +25. <u>https://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1396786&dswid=6278</u>

(2021). Nordic Council of Ministers guidance for mainstreaming

(2022). Commitment by the Nordic Council of Ministers under Generation Equality's Action Coalition: Feminist Action for Climate Justice. <u>https://norden.diva-</u>

portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1644700/FULLTEXT02.pdf

(2022). Program for the Nordic Pavilion at COP27. <u>https://www.norden.org/en/information/program-nordic-pavilion-cop27</u>

(2022). COP27: Nordic Region wants a gender-equal climate transition. <u>https://www.norden.org/en/news/cop27-nordic-region-wants-gender-equal-climate-transition</u>

(2022). How climate transition in the Nordic Region will be made genderequal. <u>https://www.norden.org/en/news/how-climate-transition-nordic-</u> <u>region-will-be-made-gender-equal</u>

(2023). Statistics: Education. <u>https://www.norden.org/en/statistics/education</u>

(n.d.). Nordic Knowledge Hub: A Green and Gender Equal Nordic Region -How it works in practice. <u>https://pub.norden.org/genderclimate/</u>

Nordic Information on Gender (NIKK) (2022). Gender norms a challenge for the green transition. <u>https://nikk.no/en/gender-norms-a-challenge-for-the-green-transition/</u>

Norwegian Association of Local and Regional Authorities (2023). Looking for municipalities that want to develop work with equality and diversity in the municipalities. [Søker kommuner som vil utvikle arbeidet med likestilling og mangfold i kommunene]. <u>https://www.ks.no/fagomrader/demokrati-og-</u> <u>styring/likestilling-og-diskriminering/soker-kommuner-som-vil-utvikle-arbeidet-</u> <u>med-likestilling-og-mangfold-i-kommunene/</u>

Norwegian Centre for Equality [Likestillingssenteret]

(n.d.). About us. <u>https://likestillingssenteret.no/english/</u>

(n.d). Welcome to KUN Centre for Equality and Diversity. <u>https://www.kun.no/english.html</u>

Norwegian Cyclists' Association (2022), The bicycle assessment 2022. [Sykkelundersøkelsen 2022].

Resultatrapport for Oslo, <u>https://syklistforeningen.no/wp-</u> content/uploads/2022/09/Oslo-Kommunerapport-v.6-Sykkelundersokelsen-2022.pdf Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs. [Barne-, ungdomsog familiedirektoratet (BUFDIR)]. (n.d.). Activity- and reporting obligations for public authorities. [Aktivitets- og redegjørelsesplikt (ARP) for offentlige myndigheter].

<u>https://www.bufdir.no/fagstotte/produkter/aktivitets_og_redegjorelsesplikt_for_of</u> <u>fentlige_myndigheter/</u>

Norwegian Equality and Anti-Discrimination Ombud [Likestillings- og diskrimineringsombudet]

(n.d.). Strengthened obligation to equality in the public sector. [Styrket likestillingsplikt for offentlig sector]. <u>https://www.ldo.no/ombudet-og-samfunnet/arrangement/styrket-likestillingsplikt-for-offentlig-sektor-hvilke-krav-stilles-til-deg-som-leder/</u>

(n.d.) The activity- and reporting obligation. [Aktivitets- og redegjørelsesplikten]. <u>https://www.ldo.no/ombudet-og-</u> <u>samfunnet/ombudets-arbeid/aktivitets--og-rapporteringsplikten/</u>

Norwegian Government

(2016). The investigation instruction. [Utredningsinstruksen]. https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/instruks-om-utredning-avstatlige-tiltak-utredningsinstruksen/id2476518/

(2018). Report on Convention no. 169 concerning Indigenous and tribal peoples – 2008. <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/tema/urfolk-og-</u> <u>minoriteter/urfolkryddemappe/report-on-convention-no-169-concerning-</u> <u>i/id548646/</u>

(2020). Norway's long-term low-emission strategy for 2050. <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/LTS1 Norway Oct2020.pdf</u>

(2020). Climate Action Plan 2021-2030: https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/a78ecf5ad2344fa5ae4a394412ef8975/nnno/pdfs/stm202020210013000dddpdfs.pdf

Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment

(2023). Climate Committee 2050: Transition to low emissions - Choice of path for climate policy towards 2050. [Omstilling til lavutslipp: Veivalg for klimapolitikken mot 2050].

https://files.nettsteder.regjeringen.no/wpuploads01/sites/479/2023/10/Kli mautvalget-2050.pdf

(2023), Norway's Eighth National Communication Under the Framework Convention on Climate Change <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/T-</u> <u>1582%20E%20Norways%20eighth%20national%20communication.pdf</u> Norwegian Ministry of Culture (2019). The situation of women and girls in Norway: Development, progress and measures 2014–2019 Beijing +25.

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/25232a6ce3a64c2b88d97d3f3a665241/1 95795-beijing-engelsk-web.pdf

Norwegian Ministry of Culture and Equality (2023). Gender Equality. [Likestilling mellom kjønna]. <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/tema/likestilling-og-mangfold/likestilling-og-inkludering/likestilling-mellom-kjonna/id670481/</u>

Norwegian Ministry of Energy (2021) Energy for work - long-term value creation from Norwegian energy resources. [Energi til arbeid – langsiktig verdiskaping fra norske energiressurser]. <u>https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/meld.-st.-36-</u> 20202021/id2860081/

Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs (2023), A just world is an equal world. Action plan for women's rights and gender equality in Norway's foreign and development policy (2023-2030)

https://www.regjeringen.no/contentassets/807b40290fe54663ae1bca5fafae1218/n o/pdfs/kvinners-rettigheter-og-kjonnslikestilling.pdf

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)

(2020). A territorial approach to the Sustainable Development Goals in Viken, Norway. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/urban-rural-and-regional-</u> <u>development/a-territorial-approach-to-the-sustainable-development-</u> <u>goals-in-viken-norway_dc1b182d-en</u>

(2023). Toolkit for Mainstreaming and Implementing Gender Equality 2023. <u>https://www.oecd.org/publications/toolkit-for-mainstreaming-and-implementing-gender-equality-2023-3ddef555-</u> <u>en.htm#:~:text=The%20Toolkit%20for%20Mainstreaming%20and,Gender</u> %20Equality%20in%20Public%20Life.

Oslo Municipality (2014), Oslo bicycle strategy – How Olso becomes a better bicycle city [Oslo sykkelstrategi 2015 – 2025 Slik skal Oslo bli en bedre sykkelby] <u>https://www.oslo.kommune.no/getfile.php/13482720-</u>

<u>1687954950/Tjenester%20og%20tilbud/Gate%2C%20transport%20og%20parkeri</u>ng/Sykkel/Sykkelstrategier%20og%20dokumenter/Oslos%20sykkelstrategi%2020 <u>15-2025.pdf</u>

Oxford Research

(2014). Mapping of good practice and effects in the public authorities' work with equality assessment in selected service areas - at municipal level. Ministry for Children, Equality, Integration and Social Affairs, Equality

Department.<u>https://bm.dk/media/17113/kortlaegning_af_ligestillingsvurde</u> ring_i_kommunale_myndigheder_2014.pdf (2014). Mapping of good practice and effects in the public authorities' work with equality assessment in selected service areas - at state level. Ministry for Children, Equality, Integration and Social Affairs, Equality Department. <u>https://www.nikk.no/wp-content/uploads/1-Kortl--gning-afligestillingsvurdering-i-statslige-myndigheders-arbejde.pdf</u>

Real Dania (2022), DK2020. <u>https://www.realdania.org/whatwedo/grants-and-projects/dk2020</u>

Reform (n.d.) Focusing on men. <u>https://reform.no/about-reform-resource-center-</u><u>for-men/</u>

Region Central Jutland (2021), Strategy for sustainability 2030. [Strategi for bæredygtighed 2023]. <u>https://www.rm.dk/siteassets/om-</u> <u>os/organisation/baredygtighed/strategi/rm---strategi-for-</u> <u>baredygtighed_enkeltsidet_tilgangelig.pdf</u>

Reuters (2022). EU sets board quotas for women by mid-2026, lawmakers say. <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/eu-set-introduce-quota-women-company-</u> <u>boards-boost-equality-2022-06-07/</u>

Reykjavík City

(n.d.). Climate Change Knowledge Hub. <u>https://reykjavik.is/en/climate-change-tool-kit</u>

(n.d.). GB analysis of city services. <u>https://reykjavik.is/en/gender-budgeting/service-analysis</u>

(n.d.). Gender Budgeting. <u>https://reykjavik.is/kynjud-fjarhags-og-</u> starfsaaetlun

Rönnblom, M. (2002). A room of one's own? Women's organizing meets established politics. [Ett eget rum? Kvinnors organisering möter etablerad politik]. Doctoral dissertation, Umeå University)

Sámi Parliament [Sámediggi] (n.d). Decision making. https://samediggi.fi/en/decision-making/

Saami Council & Sámi Parliament of Norway [Sámiráðði & Sámediggi] (2023). Climate Change in Sápmi – an overview and a Path Forward. <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5dfb35a66f00d54ab0729b75/t/6436b8105</u> <u>bfc4f6b09b76f36/1681307700687/Sámi+Climate+Report-12042023.pdf</u>

Sachs, J.D., Lafortune, G., Fuller, G., Drumm, E. (2023). Implementing the SDG Stimulus. Sustainable Development Report 2023. Dublin: Dublin University Press, 2023. 10.25546/102924 Sand, J. (2022). Climate, Gender, and Consumption: A research overview of gender perspectives on sustainable lifestyles. Nordic Council of Ministers. <u>https://norden.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?</u> <u>pid=diva2%3A1700810&dswid=2290</u>

Sand, J. (2022). Gender perspective on green jobs in the Nordic region - A collection of results from NIKK 2020–2022. <u>https://pub.norden.org/nord2023-011/#128089</u>

Simonsson, A. (2022). Vocational education and training in the Nordic countries – Knowledge and interventions to combat gender segregation (TemaNord 2022:503). Nordic Council of Ministers. <u>https://pub.norden.org/temanord2022-521</u>

Singleton, B. E., Rask, N., Magnusdottir, G. L., & Kronsell, A. (2022). Intersectionality and climate policy-making: The inclusion of social difference by three Swedish government agencies. Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space, 40(1), 180-200. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/23996544211005778</u>

Statistics Iceland (2019). Women and Men in Iceland 2019. <u>https://hagstofas3bucket.hagstofa.is/hagstofan/media/public/2019/bee89182-</u> <u>Oebe-4072-a164-cd7e13cee176.pdf</u>

Sustainable Development Report (2023). Country Profiles <u>https://dashboards.sdgindex.org/profiles/policy-efforts</u>.

SwedenBIO (2020). SwedenBIO's input to the research policy proposition. [SwedenBIOs inspel till den forskningspolitiska propositionen]. https://swedenbio.se/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/SwedenBIOs-inspel-till-Fol.pdf

Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions

(2019). Guide to gender mainstreaming. https://si.se/app/uploads/2019/06/guide-to-gendermainstreaming_digital-folder_eng.pdf

(2023). Guidance on gender mainstreaming. [Vägledning jämställdhetsintegrering].

https://skr.se/skr/demokratiledningstyrning/manskligarattigheterjamlikhet /jamstalldhet/jamstalldhetsintegrering/vagledningjamstalldhetsintegrerin g.15833.html

Swedish Environmental Protection Agency [Naturvårdsverket] (2021). Draft strategy – considering and integrating gender equality aspects into Sweden's implementation of The Paris Agreement. [Förslag till strategi för att beakta och integrera jämställdhetsaspekter vid Sveriges genomförande av Parisavtalet]. <u>https://www.naturvardsverket.se/contentassets/4af3e08b3c2a4f3580ce7641e1416</u> <u>97a/forslag-strategi-beakta-och-integrera-jamstalldhetsaspekter-vid-verigesgenomforande-av-parisavtalet.pdf</u> Swedish Gender Equality Agency [Jämställhets myndigheten]

(2021), Strengthened Equality through GMGA+. [Stärkt jämställdhet genom JIM+]. <u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/media/mhobcxhl/starkt-</u> jamstalldhet-genom-jimplus-delredovisning.pdf

(2022). Online training on gender mainstreaming. [Webbutbildning om jämställdhetsintegrering]. <u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/vara-utbildningar/webbutbildning-om-jamstalldhetsintegrering/</u>

(2023). Guidance - support for planning, organizing and following up the work with equity integration [Vägledning – stöd för att planera, organisera och följa upp arbetet med jämställdhetsintegrering]. <u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/ska-du-jobba-med-</u> jamstalldhet/planera-organisera-och-folj-upp-vagledning-forjamstalldhetsintegrering-i-myndigheter/

(2023). Sub-goal 1: even distribution of power and influence. <u>https://swedishgenderequalityagency.se/gender-equality-in-sweden/sub-goal-1-even-distribution-of-power-and-influence/</u>.

(2024). Swedish Gender Equality Agency. <u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/swedish-gender-equality-agency/</u>

(2024) Support and coordination of equality work [Stöd och samordning av jämställdhetsarbete]. <u>https://jamstalldhetsmyndigheten.se/om-jamstalldhetsmyndigheten/stod-och-samordning/</u>

(n.d.) Gender Equality Policy in Sweden. <u>https://swedishgenderequalityagency.se/gender-equality-in-sweden/</u>

(n.d.). Government agencies and higher education institutions. https://swedishgenderequalityagency.se/gender-equality-insweden/gender-mainstreaming/government-agencies-and-highereducation-institutions/

(2020) Gender mainstreaming in government agencies. https://www.government.se/articles/2020/04/gender-mainstreaming-ingovernment-

<u>agencies/#:~:text=Evaluation%20finds%20that%20GMGA%20is%20yield</u> <u>ing%20results&text=The%20evaluation%2C%20presented%20in%20the</u>, <u>equality%20among%20their%20target%20groups</u>.

Swedish Ministry of Infrastructure (2020), Sweden's Integrated National Energy and Climate Plan. <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2020-</u> 03/se final necp main en 0.pdf Swedish Ministry of the Environment (2020). Sweden's long-term strategy for reducing greenhouse gas emissions.

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/LTS1_Sweden.pdf

Swedish Parliament [Riksdagen] (2022). Act (2022:66) on consultation in matters concerning the Sámi people. [Lag (2022:66) om konsultation i frågor som rör det samiska folket]. <u>https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/dokument-och-</u> <u>lagar/dokument/svensk-forfattningssamling/lag-202266-om-konsultation-i-fragorsom-ror-det_sfs-2022-66/</u>

The Research Council of Norway (2022). Equality Action Plan. <u>https://www.forskningsradet.no/siteassets/publikasjoner/2022/equality-action-plan-for-the-research-council-of-norway.pdf</u>

Umeá Municipal (2022), Climate contract 2030 Between the municipality of Umeå and the authorities The Energy Agency, Vinnova, Formas, the Agency for Growth, the Swedish Transport Agency, the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency and Viable Cities

<u>https://www.umea.se/download/18.1e902c49184793096755835/1670585160940/Kli</u> <u>matkontrakt-Umea-2022.pdf</u>

United Nations (UN)

Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) (n.d). Monitoring and reviews. <u>https://unece.org/monitoring-and-review</u>

Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2022). Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform: Voluntary National Reviews. <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/vnrs/</u>

(n.d.). High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development. Voluntary National Reviews. <u>https://hlpf.un.org/vnrs</u>

UNFCCC (2012), Decision 23/CP.18 - Submission of Iceland.<u>https://unfccc.int/files/documentation/submissions and statemen</u> ts/application/pdf/cop_gender_iceland_08082013.pdf

UNFCCC (2020). Enhanced Lima work programme on gender and its gender action plan. Decision 3/CP.25. <u>https://unfccc.int/topics/gender/workstreams/the-enhanced-lima-work-</u>

<u>programme-on-gender</u>

UNFCCC, SBI (2022), Implementation of the activities contained in the gender action plan, areas for improvement and further work to be undertaken. <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/sbi2022_8.pdf</u>

UNFCCC (2022), Update of Norway's nationally determined contribution <u>https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-</u> <u>11/NDC%20Norway_second%20update.pdf</u> UNFCCC (2023), Decision 23/CP.18, Submission of Iceland to the UNFCCC, <u>https://unfccc.int/files/documentation/submissions and statements/appli</u> <u>cation/pdf/cop_gender_iceland_08082013.pdf</u>

UNFCCC (2023). Gender and climate change. Draft conclusions proposed by the Chair. Recommendation of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation. <u>https://unfccc.int/documents/635528</u>

UNFCCC (2023). Iceland. National Communication (NC). NC 8. Biennial Reports (BR). BR5. <u>https://unfccc.int/documents/628422</u>

UNFCCC (2023). Gender Action Plan - Decision 3/CP.25 and amendments agreed in Decisions 24/CP.27 and 15/CP.28. <u>https://unfccc.int/topics/gender/workstreams/the-gender-action-plan</u>

UNFCCC (2024). Parties Will Decide the Future of the Gender Agenda in the UN Climate Change Process This Year. <u>https://unfccc.int/news/parties-</u> <u>will-decide-the-future-of-the-gender-agenda-in-the-un-climate-change-</u> <u>process-this-year</u>

UNFCCC (n.d.) Introduction to Gender and Climate Change. <u>https://unfccc.int/gender</u>

UNFCCC (n.d.) Parties & Observers. <u>https://unfccc.int/parties-observers</u>

UNFCCC (n.d.) Long-term Strategies Portal. <u>https://unfccc.int/process/the-paris-agreement/long-term-strategies</u>

UNFCCC (n.d.) Decision -/CP.26. Gender and climate change. Advance unedited version.

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/cop26 auv 13%20gender an d climate change.pdf

UN CC:e-Learn (n.d.). Open Online Course on Gender and Environment. https://unccelearn.org/course/view.php?id=39&page=overview&lang=en

UNEP, ILO, IOE, and ITUC (2008). Green Jobs: Towards Decent Work in a Sustainable, Low-Carbon World.

https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/8825/UNEPGreenJobs r eport08.pdf?sequence=3&%3BisAllowed=

UN Women

(2014). Guidance note: Gender mainstreaming in development programming. <u>https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/gender-</u> <u>mainstreaming-issuesbrief-en-pdf.pdf</u>

(2015). Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, Beijing +5 Political Declaration and Outcome. <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-</u> <u>library/publications/2015/01/beijing-declaration</u> (2019). CSW64 preparations. <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/csw/csw64-</u> 2020/preparations

(2022), In focus: Sustainable Development Goal 5. <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/news-stories/in-focus/2022/08/in-focus-sustainable-development-goal-5</u>

(2022). CSW66 (2022). https://www.unwomen.org/en/csw/csw66-2022

(n.d.). The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/what-we-do/2030-agenda-for-</u> <u>sustainable-development</u>

(n.d.). Expert Group Meeting: Beijing +25: Current context, emerging issues
and prospects for gender equality and women's rights.
<u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/csw/csw64-2020/preparations#expert-group-meeting</u>

University of Agder (n.d.). Centre for Gender and Equality. <u>https://www.uia.no/en/centres-and-networks/centre-for-gender-and-equality</u>

University of Iceland (2022), C22:01 Impact of climate action Cost and benefit assessment. [C22:01 Áhrif aðgerða í loftslagsmálum Kostnaðar- og ábatamat]. <u>https://ioes.hi.is/sites/ioes.hi.is/files/2022-</u>

<u>07/A%C3%B0ger%C3%B0aa%CC%81%C3%A6tlun%20skilaeintak%201507_2022.</u> pdf

Viable Cities (2024). Together for climate-neutral cities. <u>https://viablecities.se/en/</u>

We Don't Have Time (2021). No climate policy is gender neutral. Here is why. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?</u> <u>v=y0AwfoCegZQ&ab_channel=WeDon%27tHaveTime</u>

Wilson, J., & Chu, E. (2019). The embodied politics of climate change: analysing the gendered division of environmental labour in the UK. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2019.1629170</u>

Women into Science and Engineering (WISE) (2017). Women In STEM Workforce 2017. <u>https://www.wisecampaign.org.uk/statistics/women-in-stem-workforce-</u>2017/

10. Appendix

10.1 Appendix A – Methodology and limitations

The following chapter describes the methods that have been utilized for this assessment. Overall, the assessment is based on desk studies, questionaries, and an online focus group.

10.1.1 Scope and terms

Climate Policy: In the assessment, climate policy is defined broadly as documents formulated by governments or institutions to address the mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. Defined by international frameworks like the Paris Agreement, climate policy involves national and global strategies to limit global warming to well below 2 degrees Celsius, emphasizing reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, renewable energy adoption, and climate resilience enhancement.

Green Transition: The shift towards low-carbon, sustainable practices, moving away from fossil fuel dependency. This transition is guided by goals set in the Paris Agreement to achieve a balance between anthropogenic emissions and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases in the second half of the century, promoting sustainable development and reducing emissions.

Climate work: In this assessment, climate work refers to the planning, formulation, practical application, and monitoring of climate policies, involving efforts across various sectors to mitigate climate impacts and adapt to changes.

Temporal scoping: The UNFCCC GAP adoption period stretches from 2017 to 2023, and we have therefore focused on sources and documents within this time span. However, older documents have been included to the extent they are considered relevant in terms of contributing to the review.

National level: The primary focus is the national level of implementation of the UNFCCC GAP, where we apply a more systematic approach to data collection across the five Nordic countries.

Regional and local levels: The assessment study's design and temporal constraints preclude a comprehensive, detailed examination at the regional and municipal levels across the Nordic countries. Our methodological approach for incorporating regional and local perspectives has largely been informed by the steering group and project team's existing network and knowledge. Consequently, rather than attempting an exhaustive outreach to every region and municipality in every country, we selectively engaged with regions and municipalities. This targeted

approach allowed us to gather insights from a sample of localities, acknowledging the limitations imposed by the study's scope and timeframe. For a detailed and systematic review of the gender mainstreaming efforts at regional and local levels, we recommend nationally delimited evaluations in the Nordic countries collecting more data on these levels, moreover, this data will be shared with the other Nordic countries. See recommendations.

Translation: Some quotes from interviews and citations from national policy documents have been translated from the original Nordic language into English by the review team. In these cases, this is disclaimed in the relevant footnote.

10.1.2 Assessment framework

This section details the methodology employed to adapt the UNFCCC GAP into a practical assessment framework for assessing gender mainstreaming efforts in climate work within the Nordic countries.

As mentioned, the absence of standardised evaluation framework and indicators associated with the UNFCCC GAP, adds a layer of complexity to the task of assessing the implementation in the Nordic region.^[380] Furthermore, adapting the UNFCCC GAP into a framework for an assessment in a Nordic, national context posed challenges, due to the GAPs design for supra-national application in a global climate policy context, as noted by Eggebø, Lundberg & Teigen (2023).^[381] Some of the activities within the priority areas in the UNFCCC GAP – including, for instance, most of priority area C, which is mainly to be implemented on an international level – call for a process of detailed translations into the context of national implementation.

As also pointed out by Eggebø, Lundberg & Teigen (2023) the UNFCCC GAP furthermore contains many indications of the Global South as the primary context of implementation, leaving the impression that gender mainstreaming climate initiatives are less relevant within the Global North:

"Elaborating on the relationship between gender and climate change, a key argument is that climate change has different impacts on women and men. This is emphasized as being particularly important in developing countries and for local communities and indigenous people. However, most of the proposed activities would occur at the supra-national level. Thus, in this document, gender perspectives in climate policy are represented as relevant in specific places, that is, the Global South, local communities, and indigenous communities, as well as at the supra-national level. The potential relevance of gender perspectives in the Global North's climate policy is not addressed." ^[382]

³⁸⁰UNFCCC, SBI (2022), Implementation of the activities contained in the gender action plan, areas for improvement and further work to be undertaken.

^{381.} Eggebø, H. et. al. (2023). Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North 382. Eggebø, H. et al. (2023). Gaps and Silences: Gender and Climate Policies in the Global North

These challenges necessitated a significant iterative process of translating the UNFCCC GAP into a methodological design guiding the data collection and reporting. For instance, this review has added a focus on the STEM fields, which are not explicitly a part of the UNFCCC GAP priority areas and activities. However, STEM fields are highly relevant in ensuring a gender-just green transition in the Nordics, firstly because the STEM fields make up the dominating sectors of the new green economy, and secondly because this sector is male-dominated.^[383]

Drawing on the comprehensive nature of the UNFCCC GAP, we deconstructed its components into overall themes and sub-themes and a long list of operational questions, guiding the inquiries, dialogues, interviews, and focus groups (part of an online workshop) in the data collection process. This process of translating the UNFCCC GAP was also guided by the task descriptions of the tender specifications by the NCM, resources on gender mainstreaming, such as EIGE's gender mainstreaming platform, the Swedish draft strategy for gender mainstreaming the implementation of the Paris Agreement (2023) as well as inputs from the Steering Group of NKL (NCM).

Rather than directly implementing the specific activities outlined in the UNFCCC GAP's five priority areas, we opted to use the priority areas as guiding themes and chapters in the report (part 2). Recognizing the overlap of activities across the priority areas, we distilled these into categories that serve as sub-titles/sections within each chapter in part 2 (representing a priority area), ensuring a cohesive and comprehensive analysis. This decision allowed for a more flexible and context-sensitive adaptation of the UNFCCC GAP's activities into sub-themes.

Based on the challenges and approach described in the above, it is important to note that this review is not a systematic evaluation based on a comprehensive framework of indicators. It is an assessment made on the basis of a more explorative and iterative process of gathering information and experiences concerning gender mainstreaming efforts in the domain of climate policy – and the lack of it – in the five Nordic countries. The findings of this assessment could, however, very well inform the development of a more systematic evaluation framework.

^{383.}Lander Svendsen, N., Weber, K., et al. (2022). How climate policies impact gender and vice versa in the Nordic countries

10.1.3 Desk study

Identification of relevant stakeholders, documents, and regional and local case examples

The assessment team, representing all five countries, first identified relevant stakeholders, research, national documents and local case examples relevant to the assessment. The contacts and documents were gathered in specific lists divided into countries. Relevant stakeholders were divided into three categories, namely governmental stakeholders (policymakers, civil servants), non-governmental stakeholders (experts, professionals, and activists within the area of just green transition and/or gender equality), and local and municipal stakeholders (policymakers and civil servants within local governments).

Literary review

The assessment study included a brief literary review based on existing research, publications, and evaluations on both Nordic and national contexts. The search-keywords in both google-search engine and academic data bases included: climate, gender, equality etc.

Policy document screening

The screening of climate policy documents focuses on Long-term low emission strategies and National Climate Action Plans. The screening of National Climate Action Plans is based on the one carried out by Norion in 2021. Additional and updated relevant document identified were also screened, although not collected systematically. Therefore, these documents are to be perceived as case examples.

The documents were first screened for keywords such as 'gender', 'equality', 'women' and 'just' both in English and national languages and then manually analysed for gender-responsiveness.

Some reservations apply to the approach of screening and assessing climate policy documents for gender-responsive indicators. The occurrence of the term "gender equality" in climate policy documents, such as strategies, is not necessarily a reflection of what is operational, meaning that the policy in its actual implementation may still no be gender-responsive, and might even be detrimental to gender equality. Conversely, it is also possible that documents that do not explicitly mention gender equality still include gender mainstreaming activities at some point in the policy cycle. Therefore, the results from such a document screening cannot stand alone but should be considered in relation to other gender mainstreaming activities identified in this review.

10.1.4 Recruitment

In the process of recruiting contributors to the data collection of the assessment study, we have personally reached out to app. **179** people across the five Nordic countries. **78** non-governmental experts (researchers, NGO's, consultants etc.), **56** national inter-governmental stakeholders (climate policy makers and gender experts) and **45** regional and local/municipal stakeholders across the Nordic countries have been contacted in the form of a workshop/focus group invitation and/or an email-inquiry (sometimes including interview invitation or email-questionnaire).

- In Denmark we reached out to 9 inter-governmental stakeholders, incl. representatives from the gender equality department, the ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, The Ministry of Environment, The Energy Agency.
- In Finland we reached out to 7 inter-governmental stakeholders, incl. Ministry of the Environment, Ministry of Economic Affairs and Employment and Ministry of Agriculture and forestry.
- In Iceland we reached out to 9 inter-governmental stakeholders, incl. Ministry of the environment, energy and climate, Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs, Directorate of Equality, Department of Climate Action at Ministry of Environment and Natural Resources and the Prime Minister's Office of Iceland.
- In Norway we reached out to 17 inter-governmental stakeholders, incl. representatives from the Ministry of Climate and Environment, the Norwegian Environment Agency, the Ministry of Petroleum and Energy, Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate (NVE), The Norwegian Directorate of Agriculture, Ministry of Transport, the ministry for Culture and Gender Equality, and the Sámi Parliament of Norway.
- In Iceland we reached out to 14 inter-governmental stakeholders, incl. the Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Sami Parliament Sweden, the Ministry of Climate and Enterprise, Swedish Environmental Equality Agency, Swedish Gender Equality Agency and Sweden's government agency for development cooperation.

In the summary of data collection activities detailed below, we specify the number of contributors involved in various events.

10.1.5 Participation

Out of 56 national inter-governmental stakeholders contacted, app. **9** have participated. Each country does, however, have representatives in the NKL project Steering Group who have been invited to share inputs for the study, invited for an initial project meeting, as well as for focus groups. Furthermore, they have been invited to comment on a draft version of the report and to a feedback meeting. It is worth noting that the Icelandic officials have expressed challenges in finding time and resources for contributing to the assessments, and consequently had to withdraw from the process.

The data gathering and participant recruitment efforts spanned the preparatory phase for COP28, including the conference itself and the follow-up debriefing period. During these times, many potential contributors were exceptionally occupied, presented significant challenges in engaging relevant contacts for the review.

E-mail questionnaires were sent out to **78** non-governmental experts. **Four** completed the questionnaire, while **17** contributed through participation in the focus group as part of an online cross-Nordic workshop (more on this event in the section below). The questionnaire focused on whether and to what extent the stakeholder, or the organization or agency they were representing, had been consulted in relation to policymaking regarding gender-just transition, or invited to participate in relevant events.

Out of **45** regional and local/municipal stakeholders contacted, **5** of them contributed to the assessment.

Local and municipal stakeholders were contacted about their knowledge on gender mainstreaming efforts in climate policies in their region or municipality. Some of the stakeholders answered an email-questionnaire, while others were interview via telephone. 3-4 stakeholders from each country were contacted, and at least one from each country has been participating to the assessment. **Three** local stakeholders participated in a focus group as part of the online cross-Nordic workshop.

10.1.6 Focus group workshop

We facilitated an online workshop consisting of plenary sessions and focus groups. Four focus groups, facilitated separately in break-out rooms, consisted of intergovernmental stakeholders, non-governmental stakeholders and local/regional stakeholders, respectively. The first session of the workshop focused on the UNFCCC GAP and on gender mainstreaming in general, setting the scene and ensuring that all participants were familiar with the topic. The aim of the workshop was to garner insights about the status of gender mainstreaming climate policies across the Nordic, as well as to identify barriers and enablers. The focus group questions were guided by the UNFCCC GAP assessment framework developed for the purpose of the assessment.

The focus group workshop was carried out on the 15th of December, 2023, and lasted two hours. It was facilitated on the digital platform Miro, allowing cocreating active engagement and easy data collection. A facilitator from the assessment/project team facilitated each focus group, and participants participated by writing responses on colour-coordinated post-its and discussing with each other. After each focus group session, central barriers and enablers were shared with the rest of the participants in a plenary session.

Invitations for the workshop event were shared on social media, open for participation for everyone app. 150 people received an invitation personally. Before the event, 60 participants had registered. App. 40 participants joined the workshop, however with varying degrees of activity. Among explicitly active participants there were 4 from Denmark, 3 from Finland, 3 from Iceland, 4 from Norway and 5 from Sweden. Aside from this, some active participants did not represent a country, including one participant from the Saami Council, and representatives from the NCM.

10.2 Appendix B – The UNFCCC GAP

This is a visualisation of the UNFCCC GAP made by Norion Consult, to provide an overview. Find the UNFCCC GAP w. amendments by following this link: <u>https://unfccc.int/documents/627886</u>.

Gender Action Plan (UNFCCC)

	GAP priority area	and acitivies	Outputs	Responsibility and level of
Capacity-building, knowledge management and communication	A1: Capacity Building for Policy Mainstreaming	Strengthen capacity-building offices for governments and other stakeholders in mainstreaming percent in formulating monitoring, implementing and inclusion including appropriate anotal dimate change policies, pains, strenges and actions including nationally determined contributions, national adoptation plans and national communications	Implementation of capacity-building for developing gender-responsive climate change policy	implementation
	A2: Clarify the Role of National Gender Focal Points	Discuss and clarify the role and the work of the national gender and dimain change focal ports, including through providing capacity-balding, tools and resources, thuring experience and best practices, workshop, howeldge enablings, peer to peer learning metroring and coaching	In-session workshop Recommendations on the role of the national gender and dimute change fixed point. Proteision of capacity-building opportunities, tools and resources that with the end tap to not their and tablean and the supportunities are as the national support	ACCU A UNIT MIX Left Scientific Cardination Ray and Accurate regulations: Cardination Ray and Accurate regulations: Cardination Ray and Accurate Ray and
	A3: Enhance Data Collection and Analysis	Enhance capacity-building for governments and other relevant stakeholders to callect, analyse and apply see disaggroupstand data and gender analysis in the context of dimate change, where applicable	Promotion of tools, guidelines and training	Lead: Relevant organisations. Contributors: Parties national, local
	A4: Strengthen Evidence Base	Severginen the exidence base and understanding of the differentiated impacts of climate change on men and women and her role of women a spectra of change and on opportunities for women	Monitories en: Eleveniene et anyone of es, Sonie offenerated region of definition integes. The test devices a quest of anyone of the submission of the subm	Partice, velocation of permitting, figure and the control of the c
A: Cap	A5: Innovative Communication Tools	Promote the use of social media, web resources and knowstive communication tools to effectively communicate to the public, in particular reaching out to women, on the implementation of the Lina work province of guidar and to genote action plan and on genote equality	Effective communication through social media, web resources and innovative communication tools	Lead: Parties, relevant International, organisations, secretariat regional, national
ice, omen's	B1: Capacity-Building for Women Delegates	Promote initiaties for capacity-building in leadership, negotiation and facilitation of negotiation for women delegates including your genomen, independent and women from local communities, inducing hypothym and management training to enhance women's participation in the UNFCCC process	Workshops, capacity-building initiatives, webinars	Lead: Parties. Contributor: relevant organisations, secretariat
B: Gender balance, participation and women's leadership	B2: Promote Travel Funds	Promote travel funds as a means of supporting the equal participation of women in all national delegations at UNECC session, as well as funds to support the participation of or gasar-onto Load in diligencous people's communities from developing countries, let all developed countries and small sland developing tables and encourse partners and released organizations to balan technological and an encourse partners and released organizations to balan technological and encourse partners and released organizations to balan technological and encourse partners and released organizations to balance technological and encourse partners and released organizations to balance technological and encourse partners and encourse partners and encourse and the partners and encourse and encourse partners and encourse and the encourse of the encourse and encourse partners and encourse and the encourse of the encourse of the encourse partners and encourse and the encourse of the encourse of the encourse of the encourse and the encourse of the encourse of the encourse of the encourse and the encourse of the encour	Mobilization of travel funds to increase women's participation in the UNFCCC process	Lead: Parties. Contributor: Relevant organisations, secretariat
B: Ge participa	B3: Collaborate with Local Communities and Indigenous Peoples	Unite the Local Communities and Indepenses Register Referen Facilitative Working Group to collaborate and co-host a delonge to discuss advancing the Independent and Independent solutions of Good communities and independence some and avegue of enhancing there effective participations in climate public and actions, to the extende that it is consistent with the workplan of the Local Communities and independence some and avegue and actions that work the independence of the Independence of the Indepen	Dialogue Dialogue report	International concentration and Network global autoence Construct ress. Network global autoence Construct ress. Network global autoence Construct ress. Network global autoence Construct ress. Secretariat
	C1: Gender Education for Members of Constituted Bodies	Ensure that members of constituted bodies are introduced to gender-related mandates and to the relevance of gender in the context of the two work in a consistent and systematic maniner	All new and existing members of constituted bodies are introduced to the importance of gender-responsiveness	Lead: Secretariat. Contributor: Relevant organisations
erence	C2: Exchange of Views and Best Practices	Facilitate the exchange of views and best practices of the Chains of constituted bodies on how to strengthen the integration of the gender prospective into their work, using into account the witherist sprots or process in integrating and ender perspective into constituted body processes referred to in paragraph 13(b) of this decision	Selection of topics for dialogue Compliation of good practices for integrating gender into the work of the constituted bodies Dialogue Dialogue report	Let Dar d'emperaturbait Catalant - Leucador
C: Coherence	C3: Strengthen Coordination with Other Entities	Strengthen contribution between the work on gender considerations of the subsidiary bodies under the Convertion and the Paris Agreement and other relevant United Nations entities and processes, in particular the 2000 Agreed for Subsiniable Development, as	In-session dialogue on Gender Day focused on one thematic area relevant to the Convention and the Paris Agreement to promote coherence reflecting multidimensional factors	Lead: Secretariat. Contributor: Parties, constituted bodies, relevant organisations
	C4: Encourage mandates to support action	Provinge Parties and referent UMPCCC conditional badies, in line with their respective mandeles, to support action and implementation of the enhanced LWPC and GAP	Inputs to the Standing Committee on Finance for preparing the draft guidance to the operating entities of the Financial Mechanism	Parties and constituted - International
ation	D1: Gender-Responsive Budgeting	Share experience and support capacity-building on gender budgeting, including on the integration of gender-responsive budgeting into national budgets to advance gender- responsive climate policies, plans, strategies and action; as appropriate	Submissions Expert group meeting to be delivered in a hybrid or withail format, without creating any precedent Gender Day theme	Terins, societing, related regulation — Description, signific, stational Last data regulations, controls of relation, sequence, stational,
implementation	D2: Financial and Technical Support	Balse exercess of the financial and storbical support available for promoting the storegramming of gender integration into climate policies, plans, transpires and action, as appropriate, including good practices to facilitate access the climate finance for genseroots women's organizations and indigenous peoples and local communities	Webinars, communication materials, in session workshops	Lead: Secretariat, parties. Contributor: Adaption Fund, Global Environment Facility, Green Climate Fund private settor, philotherpie financial international, other relevant organisations
means of imp	D3: Gender-Responsive Tech Solutions	Promote the deployment of gender-responsive technological solutions to address climate drange, including strengthening, protecting and preventing local, indepensive and traditionary fostering women's and girl's full protectional and leadership in science, technology, research and development.	Workshops, capacity-building initiatives, webinars	Lead: Parties, relevant organisations, constituted bodies. Contributor: Secretariat.
tation and	D4: Expertise and Information Consolidation	Deport the rollection and consolidation of information and expertise or gender and climate change in actors and thematic areas as well as identifying separts on gender and climate change, as needed, and enhance broakledge platforms on gender and climate change	Knowledge and expertise platforms on gender and climate change	Lead: Parties, relevant organisations. Contributor: Secretariat
implemen	D5: Engage Women's Groups	Engage women's groups and national women and gender institutions in the process of deathoping, implementing and updating chrame policies, plans, strategies and action, as appropriate, at all levels	Pagement of events by page of children dama on plane in which any bindrage part bightening annua which any	Parties, relevant organizations - Network Parties, relevant organizations - Degrand Parties, relevant organizations - Determinued, valued
D: Gender-responsive implementation and	D6: Lessons Learned	Exchange information on lessons learned among Parties that have integrated gender into national dimate policies, junc, strategies and active, a appropriate (e.g. Momation on result, tippers and main challenged), and out the active that brittle are taking to national gender in any updates therea, is appropriate	Submissions on lessons learned In-session workshop on lessons learned and actions taken in any updates Informal workshop report Workshops, dialogues, training expert meetings	hrite, vieweit specifikters Sternature, sature Leet Sendersk Construct Franzischer Network - Sternature Sternature - Sternature Leet Inderet Ingelanden, Construkt, - Kappen, sature
	D7: Sex-Disaggregated Data	Enhance the availability of rest-floatograppend data for pender availability and consideration multidimentional factors, to better inform pender-response climate policies, plans, strategies and action, as appropriate	Management and availability of sex-disaggregated data for gender analysis in national systems, as appropriate	Lead: Relevant organisations, parties - National
rting	E1: Monitoring Women in Leadership	Strengthen the monitoring and reporting on women in leadership positions within the UNPCCC process in the context of the gender composition report referred to in paragraph 15(b) of this decision and including through case studies	Inclusion of additional information in gender composition report	Secretariat - International
Monitoring and reporting	E2: Monitor Gender-Responsive Policies	Monitor and report on the implementation of pender responsive climate policies, plans, strategies and action, a appropriate, reported by Profile in regular reports and communications under the UNECCC process	Compilation and synthesis report	Secretariat International
	E3: Review of the GAP	Support the review of the Lima work programme on gender and its gender action plan	Submissions to the UNICC on Identifying propages in Implementing the gender action plan, categorized by deliverabilitying for each greek action plan activity, and further work to be undertailen Synthesis report on the submissions	Parties, relevant organisations International Secretariat - International
E: Mon	E4: Reporting support	Raise awareness of the support available to developing country Parties for reporting on the implementation of the gender action plan	Communication of such information on the gender web pages on the UNFCCC website	Lead: Secretariat. Contributor: Relevant organisations

10.3 Appendix C - List of stakeholders contacted and consulted

10.3.1 Contributors

Name	Position	Organisation
Aase Kristine Lundberg (NO)	Researcher	NordForsk
Alexander Andersson (DK)	Political advisor	KVINFO
Andersen Kristensen (DK)	Diversity Consultant	Central Denmark Region
Annika Carlsson Kanyama (SE)	Researcher	Stockholm University
Auður Önnu Magnúsdóttir (IS)	Executive director	The Icelandic Women's Rights Association (IWRA)
Emma Fryksmark (SE)	Gender Mainstreaming Coordinator	Swedish Environmental Protection Agency
Eva Hallström (SE)	Group leader, Region Värmland	The Swedish Environment Party
Eva Heiskanen (FI)	Researcher	University of Helsinki
Ewa Larsson (SE)	Spokes person	Gröna kvinnor / Green Women
Finnborg Salome Steinþórsdóttir (IS)	Adjunct Lecturer	Faculty of Political Science, University of Iceland
Freyja Barkardottir (IS)	Consultant	Ráður, Consultancy
Gabriela Ramirez (SE)	Communications and Digital Marketing Strategy Lead, Project Coordinator to Femin-ICT	Vitala Global Foundation, Impact Hub Stockholm
Gine Maltha Kampmann (DK)	Director	Equalis
Heta Heiskanen (FI)	Senior Specialist	Finnish Ministry of the Environment

Ida Petersen (DK)	Culture- and communications consultant in Sustainability and Energy	The Housing Company Zealand
Inkeri Tanhua (FI)	Researcher, Gender equality and diversity specialist	Equality Research Helsinki
Jimmy Sand (SE)	Researcher	The Swedish National secretariat for gender research, Göteborg University
Johanna Holmström		
Karina Standahl (NO)	Researcher	CICERO - Norwegian institute of Climate Research
Kavya Michael (SE)	Researcher	Chalmers University of Technology
Kirsti Kierulf (NO)	Director	Norwegian Association of Municipal Engineers
Lena Rainer (SE)	Consultant	Sweden's Energy Communities
Maja Farstad (NO)	Research Manager/Senior Researcher - PhD (Sociology)	Ruralis - Institute for Rura and Regional Research
Maja Rehnlund (SE)	Environmental coordinator	Swedish Energy Agency
Malin Gustavsson (FI)	Consultant	Ekvalita
Marianne Berger Marjanovic (NO)	Senior Advisor	Nordic Council of Ministers
Nanna Hoff (SE)	Architect SAR/MSA/Urban designer / Spational planner	U.D. URBAN DESIGN AB
Nina Lander Svendsen (DK)	Head of Section	The Danish Ministry of Environment
Petra Berg (FI)	Postdoctoral Researcher	Univerity of Vasaa
Rasmus Bo Sørensen (DK)	Consultant 160	Inka Consult

Seema Arora-Jonsson (SE)	Professor, Rural Development	Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences
Sigridur Finnbogadóttir (IS)	Gender Budgeting Project Manager	The City of Reykjavik
Solgun Furnes (NO)	Advisor and NGO	Renewables Norway and vice-chair in Kraftkvinnene
Susanna Bairoh (FI)	Researcher	TEK (Academic Engineers & Architects in Finland)
Tallulah Cherry (DK)	Consultant	Inka Consult
Tatjana Latinovic (IS)	President	The Icelandic Women's Rights Association (IWRA)
Tonje Johansen	Adviser Arctic and Environmental Unit	Saami Council
Vigdís Fríða Þorvaldsdóttir (IS)	Director of education	Landvern
-	Ministerial advisors	The Danish Department of Gender Equality (Ministry of Digital Government and Equality)
-	Ministerial advisors	The Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment

10.3.2 Steering Group

Name	Position	Organisation
Aaron Tuckey	Project Coordinator and Climate Analyst	Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, Climate Action Department
Anna Collins Falk (SE)	International Coordinator and Senior Advisor	Swedish Gender Equality Agency
Anna Maria Gran	Senior Adviser	Sustainable Environment and Green Tech in the Danish Ministry of Environment
Auður Ævarr Sveinsdóttir	Head of Division	Icelandic Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources
Jennifer Unelius	Climate Change Adviser	The Swedish Environmental Protection Agency
Marianne Berger Marjanovic	Senior Adviser	Nordic cultural policy and Nordic gender equality, The Nordic Council of Ministers' Secretary
Mikaela Thuresson	Project Officer	Gender Equality and LGBTI-rights at The Nordic Council of Ministers and The Nordic Council
Natalie Winger	Adviser	Norwegian Ministry of Climate and Environment
Saija Vuola	Ministerial Adviser	Ministry of the Environment of Finland
-	Ministerial Advisors	The Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities
	Ministerial advisors	The Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs

10.3.3 Project Group

Name	Position	Organisation
Katrine Weber	Consultant	Norion Consult
Sofie Malm Henriksen	Consultant	Norion Consult
Elvira Borgmann	Consultant	Norion Consult
Rikke Fischer-Bogason	Chief Consultant, Partner	Norion Consult
Karina Standal	Senior researcher	Norwegian Center for International Climate Research CICERO
Solveig Aamodt	Senior researcher	Norwegian Center for International Climate Research CICERO
Malin Gustavsson	Consultant, Gender equality expert	Ekvalita
Inkeri Tanhua	Researcher, Gender equality and diversity specialist	Equality Research Helsinki
Freyja Barkardóttir	Consultant, Gender equality expert	Ráður
Kavya Michael	Post Doc/Researcher	Chalmers University of Technology

About this publication

A review of the Nordic implementation of the UNFCCC Gender Action Plan

Katrine Weber, Sofie Malm Henriksen, Elvira Borgman, Freyja Barkardóttir, Karina Standal, Solveig Aamodt, Kavya Michael, Malin Gustavsson, Inkeri Tanhua

TemaNord 2024:521

ISBN 978-92-893-7867-3 (PDF) ISBN 978-92-893-7868-0 (ONLINE) http://dx.doi.org/10.6027/temanord2024-521

© Nordic Council of Ministers 2024

Cover photo: Depositphotos.com Published: 25/4/2024

Disclaimer

This publication was funded by the Nordic Council of Ministers. However, the content does not necessarily reflect the Nordic Council of Ministers' views, opinions, attitudes or recommendations.

Rights and permissions

This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license (CC BY 4.0) https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

Translations: If you translate this work, please include the following disclaimer: This translation was not produced by the Nordic Council of Ministers and should not be construed as official. The Nordic Council of Ministers cannot be held responsible for the translation or any errors in it.

Adaptations: If you adapt this work, please include the following disclaimer along with the attribution: This is an adaptation of an original work by the Nordic Council of Ministers. Responsibility for the views and opinions expressed in the adaptation rests solely with its author(s). The views and opinions in this adaptation have not been approved by the Nordic Council of Ministers.

Third-party content: The Nordic Council of Ministers does not necessarily own every single part of this work. The Nordic Council of Ministers cannot, therefore, guarantee that the reuse of third-party content does not infringe the copyright of the third party. If you wish to reuse any third-party content, you bear the risks associated with any such rights violations. You are responsible for determining

whether there is a need to obtain permission for the use of third-party content, and if so, for obtaining the relevant permission from the copyright holder. Examples of third-party content may include, but are not limited to, tables, figures or images.

Photo rights (further permission required for reuse):

Any queries regarding rights and licences should be addressed to: Nordic Council of Ministers/Publication Unit Ved Stranden 18 DK-1061 Copenhagen Denmark pub@norden.org

Nordic co-operation

Nordic co-operation is one of the world's most extensive forms of regional collaboration, involving Denmark, Finland, Iceland, Norway, Sweden, and the Faroe Islands, Greenland and Åland.

Nordic co-operation has firm traditions in politics, economics and culture and plays an important role in European and international forums. The Nordic community strives for a strong Nordic Region in a strong Europe.

Nordic co-operation promotes regional interests and values in a global world. The values shared by the Nordic countries help make the region one of the most innovative and competitive in the world.

The Nordic Council of Ministers Nordens Hus Ved Stranden 18 DK-1061 Copenhagen pub@norden.org

Read more Nordic publications on <u>www.norden.org/publications</u>